BIBLIOTECA DI TESTI E STUDI / 1223

۲

orizzonti sostenibili / 1

The series "Orizzonti sostenibili" aims to deepen the themes of disciplines that are transversely placed within the context of social sciences, providing operational and methodological considerations for scholars and updated reviews of the treated areas for educational use.

It also aims to address topics such as sustainability, educational processes, social and intercultural policies, ageing and new tourisms that will be studied in function of different disciplinary perspectives such as psychology, geography, political science and history.

()

Director: Guido Amoretti, University of Genoa

Scientific Committee and Referee: Bochicchio Franco, University of Genoa; Caffarena Fabio, University of Genoa; Carboni Daniela, University of Sassari; Cristaldi Flavia, University La Sapienza; Figus Alessandro, International Management Institute, Moldova; Fiorucci Massimiliano, University Roma Tre; Formosa Marvin, University of Malta, Malta; Guerci Antonio, UNESCO Chair; Horboviy Artur, NGO Clepsydra, Ucraina; Marengo Marina, University of Siena; Spulber Diana, University of Genoa; Tereshkina Tatyana, Saint Petersburg State University of Industrial Technologies and Design, Russian Federation; Varani Nicoletta, University of Genoa.

۲

All the published volumes are subjected to peer review.

()

The series is published under the auspices of the Department of Educational Sciences, University of Genoa (www.disfor.unige.it).

I lettori che desiderano informazioni sui volumi pubblicati dalla casa editrice possono rivolgersi direttamente a:

Carocci editore

Corso Vittorio Emanuele II, 229 00186 Roma telefono 06 / 42 81 84 17 fax 06 / 42 74 79 31

Siamo su: www.carocci.it www.facebook.com/caroccieditore www.twitter.com/caroccieditore

()

Active Ageing

۲

From Wisdom to Lifelong Learning

Edited by Guido Amoretti, Diana Spulber and Nicoletta Varani

۲

۲



Carocci editore



Commission cannot be held responsible for any use which may be made of the information contained therein.

This book has been printed with financing of TEMPUS project "Centre for the Third Age Education", CTAE, 544517-TEMPUS-1-2013-1-IT-TEMPUS-JPHES, 2013-4597/01/01 Università di Genova DISFOR. Dipartimento di Scienze della Formazione



 $(\mathbf{\Phi})$

Co-funded by the Tempus Programme of the European Union







1ª edizione, dicembre 2017 © copyright 2017 by Carocci editore S.p.A., Roma

Realizzazione editoriale: Studio Agostini, Roma

Finito di stampare nel dicembre 2017 da Grafiche VD srl, Città di Castello (PG)

ISBN 978-88-430-9045-7

Riproduzione vietata ai sensi di legge (art. 171 della legge 22 aprile 1941, n. 633)

Senza regolare autorizzazione, è vietato riprodurre questo volume anche parzialmente e con qualsiasi mezzo, compresa la fotocopia, anche per uso interno o didattico.

(�)

Table of Contents

۲

	Acronyms	9
	Foreword by <i>Luigi Ferrannini</i>	II
	The Framework by <i>Guido Amoretti, Diana Spulber, Nicoletta Varani</i>	17
	Section 1 Value of Ageing and Challenge of the Third Age	
Ι.	The Concept of Ageing through Time in the World by <i>Antonio Guerci</i>	27
2.	Elderly People in Africa: Between Stereotypes and Reality by <i>Guido Amoretti</i>	31
3.	The Extreme Geographical North and the Wise-Elder Image. A Reflection Comes from Scandinavian Literature by <i>Simone De Andreis</i>	38
4.	Active Ageing Between Possibility and Necessity by <i>Marco Schiavetta</i>	46
5.	Third Age European Perspective: Which Policies? by <i>Alessandro Figus</i>	52

۲

۲

TABLE OF CONTENTS

6.	Ageing: Which Future Opportunities. Geopolitical Aspects of EU Financing by <i>Diana Spulber</i>	65
7.	Some Aspects of Social Work with Older People by <i>Irina Sikorskaya</i>	77
	Section 11 Quality of Life and Lifelong Learning	
8.	Poverty, Health and Welfare: Snap-Shot on Elderly's Conditions in Sub-Saharan African Countries by <i>Nicoletta Varani</i>	85
9.	Growing Old in Brazil: Geoanthropological View on Increase of Life Expectancy in the Population by <i>Enrico Bernardini</i>	100
10.	The Impact of Inequality Factors on Frailty Conditions Among Older Population by <i>Stefano Poli</i>	110
11.	Building Sustainable Learning: the Age-Friendly University (AFU) and Engagement of Older Adults for a Better Future by <i>Rob Mark</i>	118
12.	Ageing-Friendly Economy and Labour Market for Seniors in Ukraine by <i>Alina Khaletska</i>	127
13.	Physiological Basis of Storage Longevity in the Sport of Elite Athletes of Various Specialisations by <i>Gaik Aleksanyants, Svetlana Pogodina</i>	135

TABLE OF CONTENTS

۲

14.	Education of the Third Generation Makes a Person Necessary for Society by <i>Mutallim Rahimov</i>	141
15.	The Travails of the University of the Third Age Movement: a Cri- tical Commentary by <i>Marvin Formosa</i>	146
	Section III Third Age and Activity: Hypothesis and Experiences	
16.	University of the Third Age, Italian Framework by <i>Chiara Moscatelli</i>	163
17.	University of the Third Age Genoa Experience by <i>Francesco Surdich, Monica Sbrana</i>	173
18.	Specifics of Senior Education in Slovakia by <i>Drahomíra Gracová, Erik Selecký</i>	178
19.	Issues and Problems of Adult Learning in Ukraine by <i>Artur Horbovyy</i>	185
20.	Social Integration of Ukrainian Ageing People by <i>Anna Chechel, Ievgeniia Dragomirova</i>	192
21.	Training-Needs Assessment as a Basis for Creation of Study Pro- grammes for Third Age Persons by <i>Diana Spulber, Tatiana Tereshkina, Svetlana Tereschenko</i>	201
22.	Centre for Third Age Education in vRSUS: First Experience by <i>Anna Kara, Elena Kuznetcova</i>	214
23.	Peculiarities of Management of Labour Potential in Third Age Individuals by <i>Galina Gagarinskaia, Irina Kuznetcova, Diana Spulber</i>	222

۲

۲

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Closing Remarks by *Guido Amoretti, Diana Spulber, Nicoletta Varani*

References

Acronyms

AAL	Active and Assisted Living Joint Programme
ADL	Activities of Daily Living
AFRAN	African Research on Ageing Network
AFU	Age-Friendly University
AONTAS	The (Irish) National Adult Learning Organisation
AU	African Union
AUSER	Associazione per l'invecchiamento attivo (Association for the Ac-
	tive Ageing)
CLL	Centre Lifelong Learning
DCU	Dublin City University
EASI	Employment and Social Innovation Programme
EHEA	European Higher Education Area
EIT	European Institute of Innovation and Technology
ESIF	European Structural and Investment Funds
FEDERUNI	Federazione italiana tra le Università della Terza Età (Italian Feder-
	ation among University of the Third Age)
FIPEC	Federazione italiana per l'educazione continua (Italian Federation
	for Lifelong Learning)
IADL	Instrumental Activities of Daily Living
IBGE	Instituto Brasileiro de Geografia e Estatística (Institute of Geogra-
	phy and Statistics)
ICT	Information and Communication Technologies
IGLP	Intergenerational Learning Programme
ILO	International Labour Organisation
IMI	Innovative Medicines Initiative
ISTAT	Istituto nazionale di statistica (National Institute of Statistics)
JPND	Joint Programme Neurodegenerative Disease
MIPAA	Madrid International Plan of Action on Ageing
MYBL	More Years, Better Lives Joint Programme
NCDS	Non-communicable Diseases
OPAS	Organização Pan-Americana da Saúde (Pan-American Health Or-
	ganisation)

ACRONYMS

SSA	Sub-Saharan Africa
UNECE	United Nations Economic Commission for Europe
UNIEDA	Unione italiana educazione degli adulti (Italian Union of Adult
	Education)
UNITE	Università della Terza Età (Third Age University of Genoa)
UNITRE	Università della Terza Età (University of the Third Age)
UTA or U3A	University of the Third Age

Foreword

 $(\mathbf{0})$

Luigi Ferrannini

Old age is a long winter, which should be filled with life that never ends. You need care, but also an image that redeems old age fragility and loss.

Trabucchi (2016)

According to the definition of the World Health Organization, active ageing is «the process of optimizing opportunities for health, participation and security in order to enhance the quality of life as people age» (WHO, 2002). The ageing of the population represents both "a triumph and a challenge" for the society and combines two aspects of the problem: the improvement of the living conditions and the necessity of adapting the processes of care and assistance.

What kind of ageing are we talking about? what "old" means? In addition, new phenomena are changing and making the scenario more complex: the significant increase of the percentage of ultra-centenarians in the world (FIG. I), especially in some countries (e.g. 4.8 in Japan and 4.1 in Italy every 10,000 people in 2015; FIG. 2), along with cultural and ethnic changes (for instance, the long-term effects of massive immigration) and the economic crisis (severely affecting the elderly) within our societies.

This scenario raises the need for a new vision of the "third age", including relevant changes to frame the following challenges: cultural aspects, health aspects, psychosocial aspects, policies on education, on labour, on retirement, on health care and on other basic social services, on urban planning and accessibility, among others. In short, it is necessary to make a quality leap, building future policies, as well as policies shaping the future, avoiding these challenges become fragile and inappropriate justifications of the failures about the employment, the economy, and, consequently, about the political governance.

Europe pays high importance to the theme of active ageing of the population, having proclaimed 2012 the "European Year for Active Ageing and Solidarity between Generations". One of the results of the measures adopted has been the construction of the index "active ageing" to measure the ability of the elderly to be fully realized in terms of employment, social and cultural participation, maintenance of the autonomy. The index uses several indica-

LUIGI FERRANNINI

۲





Source: UNDESA, 2015.

FIGURE 2

Number of people aged 100 and over in thousands and percentages (per 10,000 people)



Note: These five countries had the most centenarians in 2015. *Source*: UNDESA, 2015.

tors, such as the rate of employment, voluntary work, political participation, physical activity, access to health services, economic security. The extent to which external environment is conducive to active ageing of the elderly (including life expectancy, psychological well-being, the use of technologies, the degree of connectivity) is also evaluated.

FOREWORD

۲

How is Italy investing in these necessary transformations? In view of these data, policies for active ageing in Italy seem to be almost completely absent, being simply reducible to the gradual transition to retirement and the extension of working lives. Similarly, the panorama of policies for the elderly involvement in social life is rather weak, showing how the concept of active ageing in Italy is almost solely described as labour market participation and delegating other spheres (social, cultural, political) to the free initiative of more or less organized individuals or groups.

In this regard, the Foundation "Italia Longeva" (Bernabei, 2012) has proposed 5 rules as actions to good ageing:

1. Avoid everything that can compromise our future health, e.g. "we are what we eat, and thus we need to pay maximum attention to proper nutrition".

2. Smoking, alcohol and drugs have more devastating effects in long-term than in short term and hence should be eliminated, while physical activity is the most effective "pill", but also affections, especially if constant and long-term, "make" people long-lived.

3. Reach the most possible (how/when feasible) economic security (e.g. insurance and supplementary pensions), which ensures health, opportunity to purchase quality food, but also access to appropriate and effective care.

4. Homes too should be planned for the future: services for home automation, such as automatic controls for appliances, lights, gas, water, can not only give us greater security but also guarantee an important financial saving.

5. Technology joins the control of our health: sweaters that constantly make check-ups, intelligent household appliances, tablets and smartphones will be the key to always stay in contact with a competent reference centre or with families (especially if you live alone). They will make us autonomous in many domestic activities and will allow us to take advantage of important home services, if necessary.

The arising question is how all these issues should be linked in a rigorous and critical way to a wider and deeper vision of risk and protective factors.

Once again, it is primarily the biopsychosocial perspective that helps us as a guide. Braibanti *et al.* (2002) recalls the core elements: interaction in the configuration of state of health and disease among processes that operate at macro level; the multifactorial nature of causes and effects; the interaction between mind/body; an active perspective of health promotion, rather than only safeguarding. A global, dynamic, interactive, non-sectoral vision that wants to look at the person, without forgetting his/her specificity and uniqueness, but that can also look at the "social", the community and its determinants.

LUIGI FERRANNINI

In this perspective, how can we frame active ageing? And how active ageing relates to the (increasing?) risks in the development of serious illnesses, such as dementia? It's not by chance that observational and experimental studies on risk factors are growing: early factors (since birth, childhood), psychosocial factors (from childhood trauma to abuse and losses), socio-environmental factors (e.g. pollution, urban planning, genetic and cardiovascular diseases (e.g. genetic mutations, chronic diseases, obesity), as well as lifestyles, social networks, relationships and affections, mental states, and mood disorders. This represents an intertwined multi-dimensional set, which translates into care and services pathways but especially in preventing and supporting perspectives.

Individual factors and social resilience, as capacity and ability to relate to the adverse events of life (body and mind), are involved in the same evolutionary moments and changes: from resilient person to resilient communities.

Moreover, we cannot underestimate the growing inequalities affecting economic and lifestyles (including physical activity), also due to the life's environments, as recently documented by Althoff *et al.* (2017). It follows the importance of using new instruments of observation, monitoring and evaluation ("big data") to control the state of health, but also to preserve, stimulate and develop the cognitive and emotional-relational resources, and keep them always active.

Indeed, the widespread increase in life expectancy is indeed a major achievement related to the improvement of social conditions and technological advances, but "the more years of life" do not always correspond to a better quality of life: the increase of chronic degenerative diseases related to ageing leads to a growth of care and assistance costs.

Research and scientific literature constantly discuss, with different results, about determinants of health and possible correlations, often departing from diseases and fragilities. We have already mentioned it referring to dementia, but we can more broadly refer to the vast panorama of studies on mood disorders in old age. For example, the recent Italian study named SEEDS (Safety and Efficacy of Exercise for Depression in Seniors) about the relevance of physical activity on major depression within the elderly compares two cohorts of patients affected by a mood disorder, showing the treatment that integrates the use of drugs with physical activity is more effective than drug treatment alone (Zanetidou *et al.*, 2016).

Before concluding, we would like to mention some critical points and contradictions that run through the whole framework of active ageing and potential actions to address it.

FOREWORD

۲

First of all, we must be careful not to build an oxymoron. Aging is always a condition of loss, of suffering, sometimes of mourning, with deep changes in physical and emotional: if it is not true that "Senectus ipsa morbus", it's also true that active ageing is not a rejuvenation, a return to the earlier stages of the life and to better somatic and mental related states but, however, produces a significant modification of biopsychosocial processes. For instance, for not a few people retirement does not represent the start of a new life, happy and free from obligations, rather it's a "shadow line", which arouses an identity crisis (psychological and somatic) and a loss of social status – especially if important and respected – re-opening old wounds, disappointments, renunciations, neglects, because, as Magris (2016) reminds, «in our society to do is not the predicate but the very substance of the being».

Even places (in social, health, citizenship and rights terms) must be able to encourage and timely support these processes, combining the right balance of personalized medicine (remind that physical ageing is always associated to some health problems), and the use of technologies to know, understand, observe, protect and care, without turning it into a myth that has no limits or bias. It is also necessary not to underestimate somatic risks (mainly cardiovascular, within pathological diseases that are yet not known and/or not dealt with), and also psychological ones related some "best practices" for good ageing, which do not always break the circle of isolation and fragility.

In this regard, Vassanelli (2017) argues:

To me, the "fragility" is the effort of trying to be normal [...] In dominant slogans fragility is the image of a useless and antiquated, immature and sick experience, alien to the spirit of time. Rather in fragility there are values of sensitivity and delicacy, of kindness, of dignity, and of communion with the fate of the suffering of those who are sick [...] To recognize the fragilities that live in secret in the heart of people in different places and moments of their life is even more important than recognizing our weaknesses [...] Fragility is the desire of listening, of making services to the self and to others, which allows us to escape the secret charm of the ideologies, the desert of indifference and selfishness, aggression and violence.

Regarding this aspect, the question raised by Majani (2015) is also stimulating: «Is active ageing a need for the elder?». Majani raises this question about the risk of excessive focusing on physical health, which tends to deny and underestimate the complexity of conquests and losses, the difficulty to balance the imperative to stay active with fragilities and insecurities (of both body and mind).

LUIGI FERRANNINI

Thus, the theme of rights emerges as central, especially concerning: a) overcoming stigma (in community and operators); b) the right to be considered a "person" and not a "cost"; c) overcoming the carelessness (and ignorance); d) the right to remain at home, receiving support (as well for the caregiver); e) the right to receive appropriate services according to the specific clinical condition, based on proper levels of training of the operators as well as on the research of new tools independently from the market. Similarly, differences need to be considered and not underestimated, for instance: a) each person is both equal and different, even if suffering from the same disease (personalized medicine); b) diversity must be considered as a specificity and as a positive and fundamental value for justice; c) inequalities and responsibilities, to work really for overcoming them; d) is it possible to provide "care" without compassion?; e) from the paradigm of the (alleged) equality to the thought of/about differences.

Finally, it is necessary to put always the dignity of the person at the centre as an essential value, following that: a) it is a value to be protected itself for all the collectivity and for each individual; b) offending the dignity of the other (especially if weak) is also an offence to our dignity and humanity; c) it involves the power of ideas and courage of action, without forgetting that fragility is an asset that protects our identity, and that the dignity of the human person is not an option from where we can free up, how and when we want to (Cembrani, 2016).

It's, therefore, necessary, when addressing these social and technological challenges, to be always careful to the respect of the insuperable limits (concerning, for instance, the hope/claim to the progressive increase of life expectancy), which often produce illusions and resulting delusions with their consequences on people's life. Rather, we should focus on the communication of the "reliable hopes", as Pope Benedict XVI (2007) masterfully defined, avoiding falling into the traps of science and progress without limits.

The volume *Active Ageing* places itself in this scenario of challenge to the complexity, with a large, lively, curious and rigorous overlook, attentive to diversities of the analysed contexts. Therefore, it represents a valuable source of knowledge, study and research on a topic that risks to be simplified in respect of the manifold variables that define it and, consequently, of the multi-professionalism necessary for the implementation of integrated interventions.

We must be able to leave. For us, older people, to retire is a virtue. (Enzo Bianchi, in Griseri, 2017)

The Framework

Guido Amoretti, Diana Spulber, Nicoletta Varani

Progressive ageing of the population has particular relevance in economic and social terms. This fact was known, at least for countries at advanced development, already in the early Eighties. Demographers had begun in those years to speculate on an ageing population scenario that is totally new if compared to the past. The progressive increase in life expectancy and the declining birth rate in industrialized countries have favoured the gradual change of the distribution of the population. In the twenty-first century, the ageing of the population has taken on an all-encompassing starting to affect even the developing countries in which the birth rate remains high, but increases life expectancy. Even if that increase takes the values small percentages it becomes in large numbers of individuals because of the size of the reference populations.

According to the international report on *Ageing and Health* by WHO (2015), people over 60 will go to nearly 2 billion in 2050 from the current 900 million; Japan is the country with the longest life expectancy, Italy is second in the world and first in Europe. Moreover, 125 million people in the world reach the age of 80; but by 2050, only in China, they will be 120 million, while 434 million in the rest of the world. The forecasts for 2050 say that 80% of people over 60 will live in countries with medium and low income. To understand the speed of changing process we must consider that in the last 150 years, in Europe, the elderly population increased from 10% to the current 20%; while Brazil, China and India will achieve the same change within the next 20 years. «At the time of unpredictable challenges for health, whether from a changing climate, emerging infectious diseases, or the new microbe that develops drug resistance, one trend is certain: the ageing of the populations is rapidly accelerating worldwide» (WHO, 2015).

To improve the planet that gets older it's necessary to do a lot and the WHO reports three socio-political conditions. With the premise, that deal with the problem is an investment and not a cost. And the question of ex-

penditure is crucial: for example, as underlined by WHO (2015) report, «Australia and the Netherlands estimated that around 10% of all health-care expenditures reflect the cost of caring for people during their last year of life and that these costs fall with increasing age. In the United States, around 22% of all medical costs may be spent on patients during the last year of life». «In Germany, it has been estimated that 24% of people aged 70-85 years, experience five or more diseases concurrently». Which strategy offers the WHO? The first thing to make the living places much more enjoyable and accessible for older people.

Trans-national investigations, such as the *Study on Global Ageing and Adult Health* (SAGE) of the WHO, the Gallup World Poll, and other longitudinal studies on ageing in Brazil, China, India and South Korea, are beginning to redress the balance and provide evidence for the political systems, but much still remains to be done.

The Aging in the Twenty-First Century report (UNFPA, 2013) makes the point about the Plan of Madrid after ten years of progress in its implementation. The document provides examples of very interesting and innovative programmes capable of responding effectively to the problems of ageing and concerns of older people. The report identifies gaps and provides recommendations on the way forward to ensure the existence of a society for all ages, in which young and old have opportunities to contribute to the development and share its benefits. A salient feature of this relationship is focusing on the voices of older people, recorded through a capillary work of listening throughout the world. The report, the result of the collaboration of more than twenty bodies of the United Nations and other important international organisations involved in the field of population ageing, shows that we have made good progress in many countries thanks to the adoption of new policies, strategies, plans and laws on ageing, but it should be done much more to implement the Plan of Madrid, and to realize the potentiality of our ageing world. The report supports the idea that national and local governments, international organizations, communities, and civil society should engage to the maximum in a joint effort to ensure that the society of the 21st century complies with the reality of the 21st century's demographics. The same document underlines that, in order to have concrete progress, effective in terms of cost, you will need to ensure that the investments on age start from birth. The report identifies ten priorities to maximise the opportunities of the elderly populations:

1. Recognize the inevitability of ageing population and the need to adequately prepare all stakeholders (governments, civil society, private sector,

THE FRAMEWORK

 $(\mathbf{0})$

communities and families) to the increase in the number of elderly people. To do this, it is necessary to improve the understanding of the problem, to strengthen the capacity of national and local authorities, and to make political, economic and social reforms needed to adapt societies to an ageing world.

2. Ensure that all elderly persons live in conditions of dignity and safety, that they have access to social services and basic medical care and they have a minimum guaranteed income through the implementation of national platforms of social protection and other investments of a social nature aimed at increasing the autonomy and independence of older people, prevent impoverishment in old age and contribute to become older in the best conditions of health. These actions should be based on a long-term vision, supported by a strong political commitment and funds so that they can prevent negative impacts in time of crisis or changes of government.

3. Support the communities and families to develop as system with the purpose of guaranteeing to the more fragile elderly the treatments they need over the long term and promote at the local level on active ageing and in good condition of health to support and promote ageing within their community.

4. Invest in young generations through the promotion of healthy behaviours, and providing education and work opportunities, access to health services and pension coverage for all workers as the best investment to improve the lives of future generations of elderly people. It is necessary to promote flexible working, lifelong learning and professional updating in order to facilitate the labour market integration of elderly people (silver economy).

5. Support national and international efforts to develop comparative research on ageing, and ensure that the data and the results of this research, sensitive to cultural issues and gender, are available for the definition of policies.

6. Integrate ageing into all gender policies and gender issues in the policies of ageing, by taking into consideration the different needs of older men and women.

7. Ensure inclusion of ageing people and their needs in all policies and programmes of national development.

8. Ensure inclusion of ageing people and their needs in humanitarian interventions in national plans for mitigation and adaptation to climate change programmes and management and disaster preparedness.

9. Make sure that issues related to ageing are taken into account in development programmes, post-2015, including through the development of goals and specific indicators.

10. To develop a new culture of ageing that is based on rights and a change in mind set and social attitudes towards older people, because the beneficiaries of the welfare state can become active citizens and participate in. For this purpose, it is necessary to work to develop international instruments for human rights and for their transposition into national legislation, together with measures affirmative to combat age discrimination and promote the recognition of older people as autonomous subjects.

Finally, it's important to mention the international "regional" conference "Asia-Pacific Intergovernmental Meeting on the Second Review and Appraisal of the Madrid International Plan of Action on Ageing" held in Bangkok in 2012, in which, through a regional platform, has had the opportunity to present the results and the objectives achieved for the Asia-Pacific area. This brief reference demonstrates how the decision-makers, non-profit organizations, the governments of the geographical area are strongly involved in the policies on ageing.

The goals of the Conference were: the progress made in the Asia-Pacific region in the implementation of Action Plan of Madrid; to prepare the Action Plan for the next implementation cycle from 2013 to 2017 in the Asia-Pacific region; identify key areas for regional cooperation to further strengthen the implementation of the Action Plan of Madrid report of the Asia-Pacific (United Nations, 2013).

Most of the regions of the EU has grown their elderly populations as a result of a significant increase and ongoing life and the hope of the attainment of the retirement age of the baby-boom generation following the second world war. The regions with the highest shares of older people are often in rural, relatively sparsely-populated and peripheral, in which the low share of working age people could, at least in part, be due to a lack of opportunities for education and employment, thus pushing the younger generations to leave these regions to continue their studies or to seek employment elsewhere (Zrinščak, Lawrence, 2017).

The elderly represent a share particularly high of the total population in different rural and peripheral regions of Greece, Spain, France and Portugal, as well as in a number of regions of eastern Germany. January 1, 2015, older people accounted for over one-third (33.7 %) of the total population in the region of Evrytania central Greece: the highest percentage in Europe. Ourense, in the north-west Spain, is the only other region with the level

THE FRAMEWORK

 $(\mathbf{0})$

NUTS-3 in the EU in which the elderly account for over 30% of the total population, as well as one of the three Spanish regions, included among the 10 EU regions with the highest shares (28.5 % or higher) of elderly people in their respective populations.

Many of the statistics are based on an index of ageing a synthetic indicator of population age structure. It represents a dynamic indicator that, much better than average age, allows to put in evidence the level of ageing of the population; it's considered a "coarse" marker of aging since that population aging is generally characterized by an increase in the number of older people and, at the same time, a decrease in the number of younger subjects, so that the numerator and the denominator vary in the opposite direction, enhancing the effect. This index can be used to provide synthetic data relative to the area of interest (for example, the district) on the relationship between over 65 years old and young people and makes possible to compare values between different local realities (municipalities, districts, health care institutions and geographical regions).

From 2000 to 2002 Genoa hosted some international Conferences on the topic of ageing, in particular, the III Conference "Living and curing old age in the world" intended to emphasize from the outset the existence of two intersecting (and sometimes divergent and even conflicting) perspectives about old age and aging that linked to a progressive medicalisation of the subject ageing, implicit in many parts of the western approach, and the one linked to the time of life, typical of many non-western cultures, that emerges today as a pressing question in the heart of the west.

The topics covered by the Conference are:

a) Medical knowledge and therapeutic, modern and traditional, for the promotion of the elderly health and taking charge of the emergencies. Age-related data medical-anthropology: physical health, psychological and social development of the elderly.

b) Data analysis of the most recent surveys of social and demographic population ageing.

c) A perspective on how the problems of old age are perceived in different countries and in different cultures. Age in time and space: different models, different styles of life.

For these reasons, the European Union has created policies and programmes aimed at the third age, to improve the quality of life of older people and increase their self-sufficiency. The commitment of the European Union, in particular since 2012, celebrated as "European year for

GUIDO AMORETTI, DIANA SPULBER, NICOLETTA VARANI

active ageing and solidarity between generations", is concentrated in the financing of good practices aimed at the maintenance of the elderly and their inclusion in a society that on the one hand it cannot be deprived of their contributions in terms of social commitment and civic, on the other, that cannot take charge, at care level, of a portion of the population that, in some of the more advanced countries exceed 28% of the total. But policies pursued by European Union were not only addressed to the member states: the involvement of partners outside the European Union, but geographically close, has represented and represents a fixed point in the strategy of dissemination of good practice.

In the framework of international cooperation agreements, Lomé III in 1985, the European Union has funded programmes in other continents, such as for instance, *Overcoming Fragility in Africa. Forging a New European Approach*.

In order to respond to these challenges the European Commission has forecast several Project Calls and subsequently has financed several projects: some of them are Fp5 – Horizon 2020, TEMPUS, Erasmus Copernicus, and others. We can cite a project that was coordinated by our Department "TEM-PUS Centre for Third Age Education" which aim was to promote active ageing through educational programmes in the frame of which European experience was shared to Azerbaijan, Russian Federation and Ukraine.

Another kind of financing in this field is the Structural Funds, the financing schema include in this case also the National/Regional public authority.

All these programmes are aimed to promote research in the active ageing field and to individuate the best practices in order to make an adequate political decision.

The present volume seeks in some way to provide an overview of the phenomenon of ageing at the global level using a multidisciplinary approach and collecting evidence of good practices from different countries many of which developed in the framework of the TEMPUS Project CTAE and presented in various Conferences and international Seminars that were held in the three-year period from 2013 to 2016 than prolonged until 2017.

The contributions in this volume have been organized in three distinct parts. The first, *Value of Ageing and Challenge of the Third Age*, collects writings of general character which, through different disciplinary approaches, try to describe the phenomenon of ageing in different socio-cultural contexts, suggesting intervention policies and possible challenges for the future.

THE FRAMEWORK

۲

In the second part, *Quality of Life and Lifelong Learning* have been collected contributions that deal with the theme of quality of life and underline the significance of lifelong learning with respect to the condition of fragility, in which elderly people can fall in the absence of adequate socio-educational interventions and a network of powerful relationships.

The third and last part, *Third Age and Activity: Hypothesis and Experiences*, collects the experiences carried out in different countries within the framework of TEMPUS programme, or independently with the aim to further disseminate the best practices implemented in the various socio-cultural contexts that characterize the partner countries of the project.

()



Section I

۲

Value of Ageing and Challenge of the Third Age

۲

۲



Ι

۲

The Concept of Ageing through Time in the World

Antonio Guerci

I.I Ageing in Time...

Each of our cells has a programme written in its genetic code, but the possibility of developing this programme depends on the evolution of a dialogue with many stakeholders, in particular with the natural and cultural environment, understood in the broadest sense of the term. The fact that the programme is realised does not depend, therefore, solely on the programme itself.

For humans like other mammals, it has been estimated that the age limit of survival corresponds to about 6 times the period of growth. Given that period ends at around 20-25 years, the limit should be calculated as 120-150 years (Goldstein, 1971). In reality, the maximum age reached (and strictly controlled) differs too much from these borders, therefore we should agree that in the dialectic man-inheritance-environment the latter has the upper hand: this is evident in our species in time and space.

Regardless whether the affirmation of the king of Israel was true or false, there is no doubt that in man the duration of life, is definitely increasing.

H. V. Vallois (1946) carried out a study on the duration of life by examining 187 fossil remains of men: 55% of the Neanderthals examined (who lived between 250 and 40 thousand years ago) died before the age of 20 and only 3 individuals exceeded 50 years of age; 34% of *Homo sapiens sapiens* (35 thousand years ago) died before the age of 20. From the complex of the finds of 78 skeletal adults in Britain, belonging to the Neolithic period of the bronze age (3500-1200 BC), the following data are revealed: 57% died between 20 and 30 years of age, 20% between 30 and 40 years, 21% between 40 and 50 years, 1% between 50 and 60 years, 1% over 60 years.

()

ANTONIO GUERCI

FIGURE 1.1 Relevance of the elders for collective survival



Source: created by the author.

1.2 ...and in the World

From Greek mythology it has been handed down that Medea delayed old age, by using medicinal herbs, making Exon, his father-in-law young again.

Plato regarded the old as those who "no longer being under the dominion of wild and imperious passions, can enact laws of wisdom".

For the Hindu there are three ages: childhood, age of marriage and of the active life, the age of pilgrimage. In the first, we learn by playing and babbling; the second generates and you create by doing; in the third we listen to what is good and truthful in silence. Each of them passes to the other what he has. Childhood is hope, mature age is security, old age is wisdom.

The Navajos of Arizona, worshiped a deity named Estsanatlei which means "woman who rejuvenates herself".

People who lived on the island of Viti Levu (Oceania) and practiced the Tuka cult believed in the existence of a water of immortality.

The main purpose of the Spanish explorer Ponce de Leon (1500) was the search for a fabulous water of youth in the Caribbean Sea (Guerci, 2005).

 $(\blacklozenge$

There are a number of elixirs of life as many as there are human populations.

The Eastern world has three main remedies: kwao-kua (*Butea super-ba*), ginseng (*Panax ginseng*) and pantui (soft horns, not ossified, of speck-led fallow deer). Tradition says that you should make ample use of the two plants prepared in infusion, and of animal derivates, pulverised and ingest-ed (Scarpa, 1980).

Regarding the West, already in historical medicine we can find chapters concerning old age in the "Book of foods", in the "Air, water and places", and in the *Aphorisms* of Hippocrates. In the first century BC. Asclepiades of Prusa advised massages and tonic baths to the old regimes. In the Middle Ages, we witness an intense "gerontological" research on the part of the alchemists and, curiously, Raimondo Lullo serves alcohol (?) as one of the best remedies.

With regard to contemporary long-lived populations it seems that the "elixir" is represented by altitude (most of them live over 900-1,000 m above sea level) and by extensive use of sugar cane starting from a very early age. These long-lived people (of the Caucasus and Andes) tested for glycaemic load, would react with a high ability to burn carbohydrates that was observed in the West only in young subjects (Verzar, Sirtori, 1975).

It may be interesting to recall how some ethnic groups, which rarely reach 60/70 years, have the peculiar physiological characteristics until their late age. For example, in Masai (breeders of Eastern Africa), whose power is based essentially on meat and dairy products, hypertension is absent, oxygen consumption is high, and with age they do not gain weight; in Pygmies (nomadic hunters of Central Africa) the diet is mostly vegetarian, with age, there is no increase in weight but hypertension is present. With ageing in Indians, weight does not increase nor cholesterol or blood pressure.

Instead in the current Japanese population, with age, pressure increases significantly, probably also because of their diet rich in salt.

While it is certainly true that industrialised countries have a higher life expectancy, and therefore a higher percentage of elderly people in relation to the total of citizens, the higher number of elderly people in absolute value (more than 360 million people over 65 and nearly 60% of the total of the elderly) lived in non developing countries already in 1999 (WHO-OMS, 1999).

The discrepancy between "being" and "doing" in an age when this identification "no longer holds", sends into crisis (social, economic and po-

ANTONIO GUERCI

litical) a Western system that is concerned to find new strategies to overcome old age in all its manifestations (forgetting what nature has prepared from when man existed), and sends the crisis of the elder himself, who in Western society is confronted with a self-perception that brings him back to a "productive social function"; yet has not the elder in himself already, as a human being, his "function" to exist?

It is always important to remember the syllogism of Nabokov, a daily mirage for many in the West: other men die but I am not another: therefore I'll not die.

Despite the feeling of transience and fragility, more present in old age, the elder is an explorer who faces a new adventure in a continuum of existentialism characterised by the transition from physiological maturity at the third and fourth age. The size of the journey ahead of us encourages the expectations of a better quality of life, strengthens the project and frees the potential energy that the older may express.

The hope of E. Greppi is as timely as ever, addressed to researchers working in the field of gerontology: the important thing is not to add years to life but life to years (Greppi, 1956).

2

۲

Elderly People in Africa: Between Stereotypes and Reality

Guido Amoretti

2.1 Introduction

People ageing is a matter of fact. Nonetheless, this phenomenon is quite different according to the geographical areas of the world. Europe, the ancient continent, has 17.6% of people over 65 years against 8.3% in the world (FIG. 2.1), with large differences between countries and within the same country. For instance, Italy, Greece, Germany, Portugal, Finland and Bulgaria, ordered by decreasing percentage values, have more than 20% of people over 65 while many other countries do not reach 15% (Moldova only 10.1%) (UNDESA, 2015). Italy (22.4% of people over 65) shows noteworthy differences by region: Campania reaches values under the national mean (17%) while Liguria has the highest percentage of elderly people (28%) (ISTAT, 2015). Oceania (11.9%) and Americas (9.2%) go beyond the world's mean, Asia is slightly lower while Africa with 3.5% of people over 65 is dramatically far from the world ageing trend.

Demographic differences among the five continents can be explained by means of different birth rates, infancy mortality rates, economic development speed, natural resources and environmental and historical factors. A comparison between six population pyramids (FIG. 2.2 the Americas are split into two figures) makes the different trends clearer according to geographical position.

Only Africa's population distribution shows the typical pyramid shape with a larger base (the younger) and a smaller apex (old people). Differences in the distribution by age between Africa and Europe are shown well comparing two representative countries (Uganda and Italy) which have opposing social emergencies: infancy and elderly (FIG. 2.3). The pyramid shape of Uganda's population distribution shows that this country has a greater number of children and adolescents while the portion of adults older than 49 years old is quite small. On the contrary, the bulging shape

GUIDO AMORETTI

۲

FIGURE 2.1.

Percentages of over-65 people on the five continents



Source: UNDESA, 2015.

FIGURE 2.2

۲

Population distributions by age and gender: Continent comparisons (percent of population)

 (\bullet)



2. ELDERLY PEOPLE IN AFRICA: BETWEEN STEREOTYPES AND REALITY

۲



FIGURE 2.3

Africa's pyramid vs Europe's bulge. Population by age and gender: Uganda vs Italy 2016

of Italy shows a similar percentage of people pertaining to four-year classes between 0 to 34 years old, a significant increase in the age classes included between 35 and 64 years and an impressive explosion in the class 65 and more. Nevertheless, over the next 50 years, the African population distribution by age will quickly change showing a relevant increase in older people together with a substantial stability of younger, so that social and health problems of the elderly will be added to hunger and illness which affect the young population.

Different continents mean different demographic trends that is different social emergencies and actions to cope with. But do these differences change how old people are perceived and which social policies are chosen?

Once more we can find the answers looking for some demographic indexes.

2.2 Some Numbers on Africa's Population

Africa has more than one billion people and its population is constantly growing so much that at the end of this century it will almost reach four billion inhabitants (UNDESA, 2015). The number of sixty-year old or more

GUIDO AMORETTI

۲



FIGURE 2.4 Number of people of 60 and more years old in Africa from 1950 to 2015 (in thousands)

FIGURE 2.5

()

Age distribution of 60 years and over in Africa from 1990 to 2015 (number of persons in thousands)



has increased following a parabolic trend and reached almost 120 million people in 2015 (FIG. 2.4).

Total fertility rate is the principal reason for such a fast growth: in Africa every woman has 4.7 children (the observed value in the world, 2.5, is almost half) while each European woman has only 1.6 children. Another interesting demographic index, crude birth rate, tells the same story: 36 births per 1,000 inhabitants in Africa *versus* 11 in European countries that

Source: United Nations, 2017.

2. ELDERLY PEOPLE IN AFRICA: BETWEEN STEREOTYPES AND REALITY

is only partially weakened by similar crude death rate values (10 deaths per 1,000 inhabitants on the African Continent versus 11 in Europe) and under five years old mortality (15 times larger in Africa than in Europe). Percentage of births to women under 20 is another impressive data: in Europe only 4% of under-20 women have a child against 14% in Africa. In spite of fast population growth, life expectancy at birth is noticeably lower in Africa (60 vs 77 years in Europe): five European countries are listed in the top-ten world countries with the highest life expectancy at birth in the period 2010-2015 but all the countries listed in the top ten with the lowest life expectancy at birth in the period 2010-2015 are African. In light of these data, it is not surprising that 41% of African people are under 15 years and only 5% are over 60 while Europe has 16% and 24% respectively. In order to analyse different classes of age within elderly people, it is quite interesting to note that until 1985 old African people were classified into five classes the last of which included persons of 80 and more years old. Starting from 1990, demographers split the eighty and more into two different classes (80-84 and 85-89) meaning that a significant number of African people was able to reach those ages. Taking a look at the age distribution of elderly Africans we can easily note that all the classes were likely to double in absolute values in the last 25 years (FIG. 2.5).

Changes in quality of life and health policies of African countries will almost double the over-60 people by 2050 so that also in Africa elderly people will be an emergency. For now, the elderly condition in Africa may be analysed verifying whether a correspondence exists between tribe-wise man concept, that can be assimilated to old people's role in pre-industrial societies, and how modern African societies take into account ageing people.

2.3

How Are Old People Considered?

Each society has different points of view on ageing and the role of elderly people. In highly developed societies old people were previously considered for their wisdom, then they became merely retired, no longer productive and almost ineffective, but recently they have reached a new role for their families as grandparents and regarding the whole society by means of their experience and as voluntary workers.

GUIDO AMORETTI

۲

The situation is very different in African societies in which old people are not numerically relevant but may have different roles and need some kinds of safeguard.

According to Bernardi (2006), old African people may be split into three categories:

 "Young old" who have social consideration, executive role in social and economic life and are sexually active.

 "Regular old" who are still involved in making policies and ritualistic decisions and preserved as regards physical and intellectual abilities excluding sex.

- "Decrepit old" who preserve a ritualistic and magical power proportional to their age: people believe they are able to curse even after their death and their funeral services are so regal as to avoid falling out with their souls.

Some ethnic groups feel respect for ageing people but the principal reason is interest not solidarity. In fact, the elderly are frequently herd owners or have several plots of land and young men who take better care of them may become owners of many properties.

But when old people fall into the third category, "decrepit old", they can more easily become victims of aggression, persecution and sometimes murder.

2.4 Ageing and Witchcraft

As we said, "decrepit old" are endowed with magic power increasingly together with their age.

To be considered endowed with magic powers, old people, both male and female, may be charged with witchcraft and subject to aggressiveness. Females are easier victims of aggression and, in the worst cases, murder. This phenomenon is so widespread that, owing to old people increasing, the Africa Union Conference of Ministers of Social Development, that was held in Addis Ababa from May 26th to 30th 2014, approved the Draft Protocol to the African Charter on Human and Peoples' Rights on the Rights of Older Persons in Africa. Particularly section 10 paragraph 2 of the Draft Protocol concerns behaviour against old people of both sexes. It says «State Parties shall enact legislation that protects Older Persons from

()
2. ELDERLY PEOPLE IN AFRICA: BETWEEN STEREOTYPES AND REALITY

false accusations based on stereotypes and harmful traditional practices» and more specifically section 11 paragraph 2 invites African Union Nations to «take all necessary measures to eliminate harmful social and cultural practices, including witchcraft accusation, which affect the welfare, health, life and dignity of older women».

The fact that the Africa Union Conference of Ministers of Social Development felt the need to underline the old people's dangerous condition means that ageing is already a social problem for African countries and it will grow in the near future in parallel to the increasing numbers of people over 60.

2.5

What about the Future of the Elderly in Africa?

The life of old African people seems to be rather different to the life of elderly before the economic boom: they are considered wizards not wise men or women and they frequently suffer oppression by young people so laws must safeguard first of all their lives and rights then their economic, social and health needs. From a psychological point of view, this situation is produced by social stereotypes according to which old people missing sexual activity lose their full active role within African society. Believing in this idea of elderly, young people show less deference unless old people own land and/or herds. But most African old people are poor: however, the young fear the elderly without logical reasons only because of some ancient superstitions according to which old people have magic power and are able to damage other people. In the coming years, Africa will need a cultural change with respect to old people and what young people think about them. Moreover, the presence of a large number of old people will increase health and social problems as in Europe but without efficient health systems, social security cushions and enough economic resources. We can easily foresee an emergency situation in Africa even if a cultural change with respect to old people happens. In effect, increasing the number of over-60 people will mean increasing gerontological pathologies, i.e. increasing needs for health care, medicines, psychological, social and economic supports, but it is difficult to imagine that African countries may have sufficient resources for a large number of people. Infancy and adolescence emergencies, owing to the larger number of people involved, will probably employ all the few available resources making the elderly conditions more dramatic.

۲

The Extreme Geographical North and the Wise-Elder Image. A Reflection Comes from Scandinavian Literature

Simone De Andreis

3.1

Introduction

In the realisation of this paper we have used the essay *Höðr's Blindness and the Pledging of Óðinn's Eye: The Symbolic Value of the Eyes and Blindness of Höðr, Óðinn and Þórr* of Annette Lassen (The Arnamagnæan Institute, University of Copenhagen), in G. Barnes, M. Clunies Ross (eds.), *The 11th International Saga Conference: Old Norse Myths, Literature & Society*, University of Sydney (Lassen, 2000).

Besides, we have had precious help from the reading of the texts by Gianna Chiesa Isnardi (University of Genoa) *Storia e cultura della Scandinavia. Uomini e mondi del Nord* (2015) and *I miti nordici* (2008).

This paper is divided into two parts: in the first we describe the mythological character of Mimir, in the second we analyse the geographical environment where Mimir lives.

3.2

Scandinavian Mythology

Mimir is a giant in Norse mythology, and is renowned for his wisdom. Several things indicate that Mimir may be a giant or at least connected to giants (Lassen 2000, p. 224). Giants pose a threat to civilisation, while gods most often try to sustain order. Due to their geographical placement in the mythical world, giants are connected to the uncivilised: they live far away from the centres of civilisation, Ásgarðr and Miðgarðr, and they are associated with cold and frost (Lassen, 2000). Being connected to the realm of the giants, Mimir would thereby be connected to this concept of the uncivilised.



FIGURE 3.1 Óðdin questions Mìmir

Source: Emil Doepler der Jüngere (1855-1922), illustration from *Walhall: Die Götterwelt der Germanen* by Wilhelm Ranisch, Martin Oldenbourg Verlag, Berlin 1905.

The god Oðdin went on a journey to Jötunheimr, the land of the giants to acquire omniscience of Mìmir.

God caught him drinking from the magical source of Mimir, Mímisbrunnr, and in exchange for new knowledge obtained, Óðdin was forced to give one of his eyes. Mimir is wise because he drinks from a well, indeed he is closely associated with a magical well of knowledge that bears his name, the Mímisbrunnr. There is, therefore, no doubt that Mimir is, in some way, connected to the underworld. The water in Mimir's well is thus also connected to the underworld. In fact, the element of water in Old Norse mythology is generally a symbol of forces that cannot be confined (Lassen, 2000). Furthermore, water is connected to the female deities: Frigg lives in Fensalir, Sága lives in Søkkvabekkr and Urðr lives in Urðarbrunnr. In addition, sacrifices made in water are made to the Vanir (*ibid*.). The associations of water therefore relate well to the chthonic character of the Vanir. Mimir is, accordingly, of the same nature, and so is the wisdom in his well.

This underlines the importance of water and nutrition for a long and healthy life.

Óðinn is the supreme god, he is wise and possesses second-sight, and he is, as is well known, one-eyed. The pledging of Óðinn's eye is mentioned in Vfluspá, stanzas 27-28, and Gylfaginning in Snorri's Edda

æ

SIMONE DE ANDREIS

 $(\mathbf{0})$

(*ibid.*). As we can read in Gylfaginning, Mímir's well is under the root of Yggdrasill which points in the direction of the realm of the Rímflursar. Here wisdom and reason are hidden. It is furthermore told, that Mímir is wise, because he drinks from the well every morning. Moreover, we hear that Óðinn once asked for a drink from the well but did not receive anything until he pledged his eye. Most scholars agree that Óðinn, by the pledging of his eye, receives access to Mímir's knowledge (*ibid.*). Furthermore, Mímir is dead: in Ynglinga saga we can read that the Vanir decapitated him and sent the head to Óðinn.

Indeed, there are two versions of how Óðinn came into possession of Mímir's knowledge:

a) Mímir is decapitated, which can be read as his removal from his chthonic origin.

b) Óðinn pledges his eye to get possession of Mímir's knowledge. Thus, an act of approaching takes place in both versions of the myth, either Mímir must approach Óðinn symbolically or vice versa, in order for Óðinn to achieve access to Mímir's knowledge.

We must assume that Odinn, in the pledging version, wishes to get possession of knowledge connected to the Vanir, the feminine and the chthonic. Margaret Clunies Ross, in her study Prolonged Echoes, volume I, shows that qualities such as intellectual creativity, civilisation, and life are connected to the realm of the masculine in Old Norse mythology, while disorder, death and sexuality are connected to the realm of the feminine (*ibid.*, p. 225). The knowledge that Óðinn wishes to achieve would thus be connected to the feminine realm. This is linked with the interpretation of the myth of Óðinn's conquest of the skaldic mead of Jens Peter Schjødt: the wisdom, represented by the skaldic mead, does not become fruitful for Óðinn until it has been in the possession of a woman in the underworld (*ibid*.). To achieve this specific knowledge, Óðinn sacrifices an eye. In this way, Nordic mythology also confirms, as we can read in statistics: women live longer. Given the symbolic value of eyes (masculine strength and status), it seems that Oðinn indeed surrenders a part of his masculinity to achieve a share in the chthonic and feminine knowledge hidden in Mímir's well. In general, it seems that civilisation, which is associated with the Æsir and the masculine, is represented in Old Norse mythology as being superior to the earthly and watery elements of the uncivilised, associated with the Vanir and the feminine. But surprisingly enough the myth also shows that Oðinn, by sacrificing a part of his masculinity, achieves supreme wisdom from a feminine source.

3. THE EXTREME GEOGRAPHICAL NORTH AND THE WISE-ELDER IMAGE

The numinous wisdom is, therefore, created by uniting the feminine and the masculine. Óðinn's connection to the feminine realm cannot be read as an indication of weakness. Else Mundal has interpreted the alliance with the forces of chaos as a way to release the creative potential of these forces (*ibid*.). The transgression of taboo contributes to the constitution of Óðinn as the supreme god of the Old Norse pantheon.

The source of Mimir is added to the other three means that Óðdin has to get information and they are: *a hásaeti* ("high-seat") in Ásgarðr from which he could perceive all that went on in the nine worlds; two ravens, Huginn and Munin, who flew around the worlds and returned to perch on Óðinn's shoulders and supply information (*ibid.*); finally, there was the gaining of the runes, i.e. secret, occult knowledge of the wisdom behind all things, by sacrificing himself on one windswept tree for nine nights and days (*ibid.*).

For the figure of Mimir the main literary reference, but not the only one, is the *Gylfaginning* ("The Deception of Gylfi"), which is the first part of Snorri Sturluson's *Prose Edda*.

Who is Snorri Sturluson? Snorri Sturluson (Hvammur, 1179 – Reykholt, 1241) is an Icelandic historian, poet, and politician. Snorri was born in Hvammr, West Iceland, in 1179. His father Sturla Þórðarson belonged to the Sturlungar family, one of the most influential on the island; his mother was Guðný Böðvarsdóttir. He had an older brother, Sighvatr, and a younger, Þórðr. But while his brothers remained in Hvammr, Snorri was raised, from the age of three, by Jón Loftsson, according to a very common practice at the time, with which agreements or alliances were signed. Jón had ancestors in the royal Norwegian family; was one of Iceland's most powerful leaders, but also a man of great erudition. Snorri spent his youth at Oddi, which was then one of the main intellectual centres of the island, and there he discovered so much of the classical Christian culture as the traditional Norwegian literature, with its mythological songs, heraldic poetry and epic-historical narrative of the sagas. He belonged to an authoritative family, with a passion for letters joined to political ambition (he was twice the president of Althingi, the legislative assembly of the island), which led him to play a prominent role during the Icelandic struggle to conquer total independence from the Kingdom of Norway. Indeed from 1215 to 1219 he was the owner of the highest Icelandic office (*Lögsögumaður*), the "enunciator of the laws" at *Albing*, the supreme political and legal assembly of free men. The ambiguity of his position at this stage was the cause of his brutal killing by the king of Norway.

SIMONE DE ANDREIS

He is the author of the Prose Edda or Younger Edda, which consists of a header and prologue Fyrirsögn ok Formali, that is a biblical and euhemeristic introduction in which Snorri begins with Adam and Eve and comes to talk about the arrival of Æsir, coming from Troy, in Scandinavia; and three parts: the Gylfaginning, a narrative of Norse mythology, the Skáldskapar*mál*, a book of poetic language, and the *Háttatal*, a metrical treatise. *Prose* Edda constitutes one of the main monuments of Icelandic medieval literature and at the same time one of the richest sources of ancient Scandinavian mythology. This name, Edda, has long been known as "ava" or "grandmother". Recently, however, he wanted to approach the term "song, poetry". Both interpretations have good reasons to be accepted. The first interpretation places the emphasis on the myths, fables and ancient traditions narrated by a grandmother to the new generations; the second sees the book as a kind of manual for hot aspirants, as Snorri seems to have intended to do. Prose Edda turned out to be the pretext of telling Norwegian myths and legends.

He is also the author of the *Heimskringla*, a history of the Norwegian kings that begins with legendary material in *Ynglinga saga* and moves through to early medieval Scandinavian history.

In the first part of this paper we have investigated the figure of Mimir in Norse mythology; now we continue with a geographical reflection about the places of Mimir.

3.3

Geography of Jötunheimr

Where is Jötunheimr? The Jötunheimr, in Norse mythology, is the world of two types of giant: rock and ice. From this place they threaten humans who are in Midgard and the gods in Asgard (from whom they are separated by the river Iving). But Jötunnheimen is also a mountain area largely undisturbed in Eastern Norway, covering an area of about 3,500 square kilometres, including the highest mountains in Norway: Galdhøpiggen (2,469 m/8,100 ft) and Glittertind (2,464 m/8,087 ft), as well as waterfalls, rivers, lakes, glaciers and valleys. The area has the largest concentration of mountains higher than 2,000m (6,561.68 ft), in Northern Europe and offers some of the most spectacular tours of the continent – with everything from short strolls to more refuge to another epic day. The high point (metaphorically, if not literally) is the path from Memuru-

3. THE EXTREME GEOGRAPHICAL NORTH AND THE WISE-ELDER IMAGE

bu lodge to Gjendesheim lodge, along the narrow Besseggen ridge. The south views over a lake Gjendevatnet emerald (984 m above sea level) and north over Lake Bessvatnet (1,373 m above sea level) are as good as trekking gets. Jotunheimen, which is the most popular national park in Norway, and the surrounding area is ideal for cross-country and alpine skiers, cyclists and climbers who enjoy the experience of basically undisturbed nature and fresh air. Other popular activities in Jotunheimen include glacier walking, rafting, climbing, caving, canyoning and hiking. Galdhøpiggen climbed for the first time in 1850 by Lars Arnesen (teacher), Ingebrigt N. Flotten (church singers) and Steinar Sulheim (farmers). Jotunheimen was the name given to this mountain area by the Norwegian author Aasmund Olavsson Vinje in 1862, under the inspiration of the wild landscape and Norse mythology. The "Jotun" - trolls - have their home here. Jotunheimen has a long culinary tradition and some popular local products include herbs from the Aukrust Farm and cured meats from Skjåk. Several farms produce and sell their own meats, cheeses, bread and jam. The Jotunheimen National Park, with the same mountain range, extends for approximately 1,150 sq km in the southern part of Norway. It is exactly at the centre of an imaginary triangle between Oslo, Bergen and Trondheim. In the summer months, there are many possi-

FIGURE 3.2 Ancient map of Scandinavia (Gerhard Mercator-Svecia et Norvegia cum confinys)



Source: Wikimedia Commons (https://it.wikipedia.org/wiki/File:Gerhard_Mercator-Svecia_et_Norvegia_cum_confinys_1595.jpg).

SIMONE DE ANDREIS

FIGURE 3.3 Galdhøpiggen



Source: Wikipedia (https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Galdh%C3%B8piggen).

bilities for exploring the park: there are hundreds of trails marked and maintained by the "DNT" (the equivalent of the Italian CAI) and dozens of days-long excursions.

In this geographic area, among the largest wooden churches in Norway we find Stavkirke of Lom, about 60 kilometres west of Otta in the Gudbrandsdal valley. Lom is famous for its extensive history, for having one of the few remaining stave churches in Norway, and for lying in the midst of the highest mountains in Northern Europe. This town is a Norwegian municipality in the county of Oppland, district of Gudbrandsdalen, in Eastern Norway (Østlandet). This region is one of Norway's five major geographic regions (Landsdel) and it corresponds approximately to the east of the country, and comprises the counties (*fylke*) of Telemark, Vestfold, Østfold, Akershus, Oslo, Buskerud, Oppland and Hedmark.

It is the most populated region of Norway, also thanks to the most bearable climate and morphology. The church (Stavkirke of Lom), was built in 1158 in Romanesque style, in 1634 it was enlarged and enriched by the tower. The church has three aisles and beautiful paintings can be admired on its walls made mostly by Eggert Munch, the most productive and important Norwegian painter of the eighteenth century. Lom's church is one of the few in which the original medieval crest survives decorated with

3. THE EXTREME GEOGRAPHICAL NORTH AND THE WISE-ELDER IMAGE

۲

a dragon's head. In the cemetery outside the church you can see medieval stone crosses and the poems of the poets Olav Aukrust and Tor Jonsson.

A *stavkirke* (stave church) is a medieval church built entirely of wood. The structure of the walls is made up of vertical staves. The load-bearing staves (*stafr* in Norwegian language) gave the name to the construction technique. Churches of a similar type are churches with palisades. All existing *stavkirke*, except one, are in Norway. The only church of this kind that remains outside Norway is one of the fifteenth century at Hedared in Sweden.

3.4 Conclusion

At the end of this work, we ask: What is the sense of these pages? The common theme of this pages is the ancient idea that health and wisdom come from the right mixing of nutrition (e.g. water for Mimir) and environment (e.g. mountains with fresh air).

Active Ageing Between Possibility and Necessity

4

۲

Marco Schiavetta

4.1 Introduction

The upgrading of skills, even in later life, at that stage of life which is denoted as elderly, is a social and psychological need for people. On the one hand, the rapidly changing labour market does not guarantee continuous careers for an individual in the same company and often even in the same job profile. On the other hand, raising the retirement age and economic status, which being retired often involves, are factors that affect the individual both socially and psychologically. In both situations, Lifelong Learning, supported by a coherent Lifelong Guidance intervention, is both a choice and a necessity for individuals now defined as elders.

Scenarios of a possible future

In a publication titled *Lives on the Run. How to Save Oneself by the Tyranny of the Ephemer* (2009), Bauman represents the time of modernity as a set of fragmented points. In this vision, individuals are unable to plan a future direction, but they must live momentarily, in a dimension of "here and now".

This does not allow people to plan or realise projects, desires and dreams but "occasions" to be consumed quickly and greedily. According to a logic that does not motivate building a future but enjoying the most effective possibility of the moment. So, they live in the dimension of the momentary as a form of protection from the anguish of a life without perspectives.

The virtuous cycle of social engagement (Timonen, 2016) helps us understand how individuals are actively involved (FIG. 4.1).

An extended life changes life itself, enriches seasons, opens new horizons and also changes the language: the 60 years old once considered definitely "elders" have become "late adults".

Demographics certifies this, having increased the age of five to nine phases: in addition to the discovery of a later stage of maturity, "the late adult" age

4. ACTIVE AGEING BETWEEN POSSIBILITY AND NECESSITY



(between 55 and 64). The "young elderly", as well, are no longer an oxymoron, but the group of those who are in the range between 65 and 75 years. One only becomes old after the age of 75, to slip into the "big old" (that of no self-sufficiency), only over 85 (Saraceno, 2013).

Life has acquired complexity, but also uncertainty and to remain active "agents" seems the only prospective; as Marc Freedman argued in his book, *The Big Shift: Navigating the New Stage Beyond Midlife*, where he envisions a future in which millions of people in their sixties and seventies will remain in work and will subsidise the "real" over eighties. The situation discussed above highlights the fact that policies concerning lifelong learning and skills recognition promoted at all levels (regional, national, European) are still under explored and under studied in relation to social scenarios.

As is known, one of the main factors on which Italy may base its economic and social development, lacking raw materials, is represented by the ability of its people. For this reason, the increasingly widespread use of innovation, not only technological, in the various sectors and globalisation add a lot of pressure to find appropriate policies to ensure that people have the skills needed to live and work in the twenty-first-century society (Di Francesco, 2014, p. 9).

Education, training, development of reflexivity in professional practices and the ability to learn lifelong, life-wide and life-deep, become, more and more today than in the past, the conditions necessary for the effective exercise of active citizenship. These four variables, which are otherwise present as re-

MARCO SCHIAVETTA

 $(\mathbf{0})$

sources for individuals, have become the safeguards to guard against multiple risks of marginalisation and exclusion from the labour market and social life.

4.2 The Importance of Lifelong Guidance for Active Ageing

These are very important issues, that today are manifested in all their dramatic trials from younger generations in search of their first job, but they involve more and more, even over-50 generations. That is, the "late adult" age group, emerging from the labour market due to the economic crisis and the over-sixty, the new "old men" retired from work. The latter often need to work because the economic value of the pension is not enough and is often the only reliable item for entire families.

All these subjects, today, are required to respond "flexibly" to the needs of a development dominated by ever more complex scenarios, by continuous transformations which require constantly questioning established habits, to reorganise their existence, to rethink themselves and their identity (Alberici, 2002).

Writing about lifelong guidance means first putting behind a consistent methodology whose setting are its assumptions in a clear reference theoretical model, but especially in some well-stated basic choices. Therefore, the perspective with which one approaches the topic intends to place itself in a broader context with the support of updated scientific data and experience in the field of more than ten years, which is supported by a relational model.

In a historical and cultural background of great change, dominated by new and increasingly sophisticated communication technologies, in fact, a conception of "orientation" (guidance) is no longer unthinkable, that does not put at the centre the subject. Putting the subject under guidance in a critical manner in the complex reality in which (s)he lives, to be able to make his/her own life choices in the future in line with his/her personal project on continuous monitoring and repositioned in relation to environmental and labour contingencies.

Choices in which the subject "agent" (Bourdieu, 1995), believes and invests (both motivational and emotional), to commit to manage and overcome difficult situations, in the path which (s)he identified as corresponding to his/her "self-realisation" (life project). For adults, including the elderly, and to those who live outside the traditional training cycles and try to return to the labour market, guidance is designed as a check and capacity, such

4. ACTIVE AGEING BETWEEN POSSIBILITY AND NECESSITY

as using their own resources and acquisition of new skills such as providing support to self-regulate their education and career; but it must also be able to transmit, especially for those over 50, and an image can be realised that their future is both personal and business.

In this perspective, guidance can be defined as «a broad and complex process that involves the individual and the community. It is the result of a cross-training effort of multiple agencies and social institutions (vocational training, school, college, family, groups, associations, enterprises, employment services, etc.), of various professions and different social partners, policy and economic in play. This presupposes coordinated action that allows the participatory interaction, in a triadic system organised, including the labour market, training/education and recipients of the service» (Del Core, Ferraroli, Fontana, 2005).

The guidance process with its services and methodologies, is concretely implemented with the interconnection between three basic dimensions or macro areas of intervention that characterise it: the information dimension, the formative dimension and that of counselling. This is not the kind of intervention of separate sectors, but of constitutive functions of the guidance process as such; they are integrated within a same path, in order to obtain an "orientation" that takes into account any necessity of the person even implicit ones that operators can understand in the personal narratives of the subjects.

This involves very innovative targets, especially if it is assumed that it is the formative dimension to bring together any intervention in the sector, with specific goals relating to:

- the development of the individual self.
- the ability for self-evaluation.
- being able to make independent choices.
- building their own life project.
- coping with change.
- knowing how to manage their personal, social and professional lives.

Guidance does not mean "direction", but involves psychosocial and pedagogical aptitude (training), that needs to be seen as an accompanying path to continued growth (regardless of age) of the person. The purpose is to promote the individual's ability to recognise the methods and styles of behaviour (exploiting those that are functional and abandoning "winning" ones), that emerge from the inside of oneself, to allow one to be effective and achieve one's goals.

Guidance is configured as a concrete way of promoting individual and social development, right through to the choice of education paths, in the

MARCO SCHIAVETTA

 $(\mathbf{0})$

practice of freedom and active self-determination (Walls, Little, 2005). Guidance should be seen as a support given to the individual to resolve issues related to the profession, to the selection or to change of the same, taking into account one's characteristics and the opportunities in the labour market; it should be seen as a possible choice and continues in time.

4.3 Being Able to Handle Transition at All Ages

In the psycho-socio-pedagogical perspective, guidance is a process designed to put the subject in a position to know how to move in a conscious and appropriate way, especially in transitions. Transition situations are the set of concrete events that bring out different guidance needs of the individual to require the development of appropriate skills to cope.

Guidance interventions tend to perceive the "crisis" of the transition not only as a threat to balance, but also as an opportunity for development and emancipation, then they tend to identify the subject himself, the successful completion of the transition strategies, that may materialise as real insight or vision guided. The guidance activities are also characterised from the point of view of the communicative style of relationship that you choose to adopt. In the psychosocial and educational approach reality, shown here as psycho-socio-pedagogical, the choice is effective to set the guidance activities and relationships that underlie them, according to the theories of the helping relationship (Mucchielli, 1987, p. 18).

Centring on the "client" (Rogers, 1994) has not only an ethical reason (or is not only ethical), but also includes a technical reason; the helping relationship has as its main purpose to restore autonomy, dignity and self-esteem to the person. Then it is "technically" necessary that the person is treated so that (s)he can experiment, already in the process of help, an adequate and authentic atmosphere of self-determination, empowerment and enhancement. That is to say that a successful relationship makes the subject able to be activated; the process aid is intended as a workout autonomy that the person will go through the same help process, to conquer empowerment (Bruscaglioni, 2007).

In the framework of the European strategies for employment, the Lisbon European Council includes continuing education (lifelong learning), considered no longer simply a matter of general and vocational training, but as the guiding principle of supply and demand in any learning context and states that, in a lifelong learning framework, easy access to information and

to a quality approach to education and training opportunities throughout one's lifetime must be guaranteed to all.

In this perspective, Europe leads in the direction of a permanent system of guidance services, recognised in the paradigm of lifelong guidance, so that access to qualified guidance is guaranteed to every citizen over the course of life (Vattovani, 2011). Promoting the ability to actively position oneself in productive social life requires: «the raising of social awareness levels, participation, accountability, reflexivity, which goes hand in hand with raising the level of learning, as well as with the development of skills and critical thinking skills, reflection and objectivity» (Striano, 2010, p. 7).

These skills need to be valued and capitalised through a psycho-socio-pedagogic guidance model to support each person in his/her existential design. It is about expressing self-directed intentional skills and modes in which individuals do not remain passive but take a primary role in the design of personal and realistic plans that are anchored to reality and its concrete opportunities.

The general responsibilities, also acquired life-wide and life-deep, are the heritage of resources essential for every citizen and acquire a policy value to the extent that they can be integrated with specific skills, aimed at the resolution of contingent tasks and design and soft skills. To be transferred to all situations, multiple and differentiated, which require the ability to combine their experience and knowledge already possessed and to continue to integrate them with new, lifelong skills, in order to interpret and deal with different problems, to translate the consolidated skills in operational mode and management and, consequently, to be able to make relevant and congruent decisions.

The guidance of the older must be based on self-guidance, in turn supported by the acquisition of knowhow, able to develop a wealth of flexible skills, transferable, but also specific, capable, that is, of responding with tools and content tailored to the demands that the social and working world requires. Like the ability to enhance their work experience, they acquire new technical and professional skills, learn techniques for autonomous research work which also connects the ability to maximise the opportunities that new technologies offer.

Mature skills in the perspective of an older approach, then, are to actively participate in the construction of knowledge/skills; be open to all stresses, activate all available resources, both internal and external, arrange positively to face novelty and hone new cognitive and emotional tools, operating to face and manage the unprecedented, but also reorganise old tools to find new solutions.

5

۲

Third Age European Perspective: Which Policies?

Alessandro Figus

5.1 European Union and Third-Age Policies: General Issues

Today in the European Union the discussion on the conciliation between the social and the economic is inclined to focus on the possible assets of a monetary union beyond the Treaty of Maastricht and beyond the introduction of the Euro, but also and principally after "Brexit", on union on national social protection systems. At the same time the development of a monetary union is going in relation to the economic system and the labour market. The European crisis highlights the undermining of social spending as a result of a stronger fiscal discipline, therefore we have more flexibility in the labour market and groups of population are damaged, certainly the young, but also the elderly.

The new instruments of economic governance adopted to tackle the crisis (for example we can turn around the question posed by the Treaty on Stability), a policy that to the exclusion the old generation (employment and labour markets, the composition of the workforce) with the economic consequences of ageing are associated with the higher cost of the society to support the elderly population. The European Union cannot be built only on business and economy; man also has feelings. Politics cannot cancel morals (a matter of social survival) and we must not forget what Nelson Mandela says, «Education is the most powerful weapon that you can use to change the world». In our case we will talk about education for all including also education for seniors and senior students should be encouraged to be involved in more than only their studies, in order to become active and responsible students and citizens to change the education world. In reality this could involve a very wide range of activities that would hold benefits for the senior students themselves and for the institutions. The policies of third-age education have deep roots in Europe, since the Open University in England that was founded in the distant 1969.

5. THIRD AGE EUROPEAN PERSPECTIVE: WHICH POLICIES?

It was open to all ages and all educational levels. Later in 1972, the French universities created their continuing education centres, initiated by legislation and called "Universités du troisième âge" – later called "tous ages" and "du temps libre". Classes then started in French universities. In Germany, new universities have been founded and in some German states internal departments have been installed.

It is interesting to note that the group who took advantage of higher education as well as those who initiated the opening of the universities launched the movement precisely in the wake of the reform impulse of lifelong learning. They orientated themselves already on a more extended notion of studying beyond mere professional training and the relationship is fundamental between the labour market and their requirement that Higher Education (HE) needs to understand and manage over age.

In fact, we know that getting old is a goal and a challenge for 21st century society. In particular, in the European Union, in recent years people have, on average, gained some years of life expectancy. Europeans are living longer than ever before because of medical advances but also because of improved standards of living. This is only one aspect, in fact the European Union is facing extraordinary changes in its demographic future and most concern not only an ageing population, but also growing life expectancy and immigrant flows.

An ageing population creates problems for society, the first being that of the traditional welfare-based pay system. A young man working supports an old person who has retired. In this context we must not forget that the elderly cannot become an "unused resource". Putting the elders out of society means creating problems for the social system. Government policies must consider all this. Improved conditions of life imply a new management of the social and sanitary system of the EU; the elderly are better educated and have better functional capacity compared with the previous generation of over 65s, they are used to having an active life and participation. EU governments and their policies must consider this situation; they have to understand and govern it (Kleinman, 2002).

5.2 65 Years Old or Up?

At the moment the average life expectancy in Italy is over 65 but we have differences between men and women. In fact, for men it is 77 years, while

ALESSANDRO FIGUS

women reach up to 83. One Italian out of four is over 65 and one out of 20 is over 80. Following the European Union data, the age profile of the EU is expected to change dramatically in the coming decades, according to the EU's latest Ageing report that has been published and where it is possible to understand clearly that the population of the EU will be slightly higher in 2060 at 517 million, up from 502 million in the year 2010 and this is the result of an analysis done in the year 2010, that does not include the new changes in European society and sustained immigration flows.

Therefore, more recently the age structure of the European Union population is projected to dramatically change in the coming decades due to the dynamics of fertility, life expectancy and migration rates. The overall size of the population is projected to not only be larger by 2060, but also much older than it is now. The EU population is expected to increase by almost 4% (from 507 million in 2013) up to 2050, when it will peak (at 526 million) and will thereafter decline slowly (to 523 million in 2060).

No one knows for sure now how people will move to Europe in the coming years. In any case notably, the share of those aged 15-64 is projected to decline from 67% to 56% by 2060. The share of those aged 65 and over is projected to rise from 17% to 30%. As a consequence, the EU would move from having four people of working-age for each person aged over 65 years to about two people of working-age. Still following the EU indication in 2013, the member states with the largest population were: Germany (81 million – мм), France (66 мм), the United Kingdom (64 мм), Italy (60 MM) and Spain (47 MM) (European Commission, 2014). According to Eurostat's EUROPOP projections, the UK will become the most populous EU country in 2060 (80 million), followed by France (76 мм), Germany (71 мм), Italy (66 мм) and Spain (46 мм). EU-28 (or today EU-27) is becoming older, and that is because of increasing life expectancy and low levels of fertility sustained for decades, perhaps immigration will reduce this gap. In the Eurostat statistics the population projections show that the ageing process will continue in future decades. Some EU countries are better off than others, for example Ireland had the largest proportion of 0-19 years old and Germany the smallest, but in any case, in the European Union it is a problem today and will have a strong influence on inter-generational relations.

At the same time, the population will be much older. While longer lives are a major achievement of European societies, the ageing of the population also poses significant challenges for their economies and welfare systems. In this context, it is obvious to speak about a reform of HE, that is the University should be excluded to segments of the population other

5. THIRD AGE EUROPEAN PERSPECTIVE: WHICH POLICIES?

than the traditional ones. It has responded to the educational needs of its ageing population with the development of its version of the University of the Third Age and particularly beyond; even the limit of 65 is to be brought into question.

5.3 Economic Consequences

If we analyse the repercussions and European public policy, we can understand that firstly there will be important economic consequences in the future with the total number of workers projected to decline over the forecast horizon to 195.6 million in 2060. The decline in the workforce will act as a drag on growth and per capita income, with a consequent declining trend in potential growth. Moreover, the demographic changes are expected to have substantial consequences on public finances in the EU.

On the basis of current policies, age-related public expenditures (pensions, health-care and long-term care) are projected to increase by 4.1 percentage points to around 29% of GDP between 2010 and 2060. Public pension expenditure alone is projected to rise by 1.5 percentage points to nearly 13% of GDP by 2060. Do you understand what kind of problem we have?

The problem is that Europe is faced with the risk of the sustainability of the current model, rightful and universalistic, of caring and health and social care. Practically today in Europe the older population is the playing field on which we will have to measure the European "welfare state". This is palpable when we look at all indicators: health, social security and demographic. We need public European policies, but we do not have them; we in Europe are too busy with the "macro economy", so small things escape, strategies are jumping, as a consequence "our elite" do not follow a common governance, unfortunately. We also need public European policies to consider that today society has increased longevity resulting in the great majority of older people in Europe spending many healthy, active, and potentially self-fulfilling years in the Third Age. The need to use their experience and education is crucial for many older people (pensioners or not) who strive for expression and learning.

However, the EU report shows a large diversity across EU member states, depending notably on progress with pension reforms. All in all, further progress towards sustainable public finances remains a major challenge. The results of the report prepared by the European Com-

ALESSANDRO FIGUS

mission services (European Commission, 2015) and the Ageing Working Group (AWG) of the EU Economic Policy Committee reveal that in some countries, there is a need to take due account of future increases in government expenditure, including modernisation of social expenditure systems. In other countries, policy actions have been taken, significantly limiting the future increase in government expenditure.

Another problem is the extent and speed of ageing depend on future life expectancy, fertility and migration. Life expectancy at birth is projected to increase from 76.7 years in 2010 to 84.6 in 2060 for males and from 82.5 to 89.1 for females. The fertility rate in the EU is projected to climb modestly from 1.59 births per woman in 2010 to 1.71 in 2060. Cumulated net migration to the EU is projected to be about 60 million until 2060. Ever greater life expectancies and a reduction of the fertility rate have had the consequence of a progressive ageing of people all over Europe. This demographic scenario has deeply affected labour policies in European countries, so that the prolonging of working life has become one of the objectives to achieve the target established by the European Council in Lisbon: an employment rate of 70%, by 2010 and tending to grow, in all EU countries (Eurostat, 2016).

In this European situation, the participation of older workers in the European labour market, by examining the characteristics and trends of the European scenario and all the initiatives that each country has promoted, at national level, to realise the European guidelines to enhance old workers' employment. The new labour market vision is characterised by major changes and this also affects the new working conditions and the age of the workers themselves, but it is not related to a specific age but to a period in one's life (in this case the third age) after the second age of full-time employment and parental responsibility. Furthermore, this includes people who are working part-time. The age is not the most discriminating especially when you have the strength to retrain through adequate educational process and in this sense, it could turn to third-age education. The problem from educational or social becomes political.

The problem is to create governance, public policies suitable and correct for a labour market that has not only young but also very active seniors, where the European senior's quality of life reveals that it is not only important to ensure active ageing, but also to have a dignified participation in modern society, especially in comparison with European welfare and with the European Social system where public policies especially in the labour market are neutral with respect to age in order to maintain, as long

5. THIRD AGE EUROPEAN PERSPECTIVE: WHICH POLICIES?

as possible, people in a position to make a contribution to society removing age barriers such as for example loneliness.

Loneliness has a psychological element which affects people's approach to their life and has significant influence on their behaviour. Seniors often tend to express negative feelings and the feeling of being lonely, which is a result of the combination of the ageing process and social stereotypes, both influencing their quality of life. Consequently, loneliness is considered a critical indicator in estimating the quality of life and vice versa. We are going into private aspects, the psychological life of citizens. Now the point is: do they have to deal with public policy strategies that take into account the psychological influences of the citizens?

Must the priority of governments be oriented only by workplace policies or must governments consider citizens and increase their quality of life? All this is very complex, difficult to implement and, above all costs a lot. Finally, the problem is also generational and a matter of modernisation of skills.

How can older people adapt their skills to changes in society and how can governments build this integration process? Public policies must be implemented through educational projects, by understanding the labour market, the process must be deep, training is a solution, the training (educational process) must be dedicated to the adjustment of skills and not as use of time. I will explain better, it is not only a problem that retired people should return to school to learn how to work with modern systems.

The problem is to retrain according to the needs of society. In 2003, during a conference on "Education Quality" organised in May by the Technical University of Novosibirsk, precisely in Novosibirsk (Russian Federation), in the framework of the conference financed by the World Bank for Reconstruction, my intervention was dedicated to the importance of the relationship between the labour market and the "Academic World", a necessary effort to understand the effects of globalisation on the labour market. In fact, sustainable development is the greatest challenge to the university world during the time of globalisation involving the labour market.

We would like to come back to the people, their qualitative effectiveness is the result of the "higher education product" and depends conclusively on the "performances" of the human components of the teacher, in the first place, and then of the students (Van Weenen, 2000).

Economic and cultural growth and the ability to renew are the fundamental objectives of every country and they should be also for countries in development and transition, in particular the European Eastern

ALESSANDRO FIGUS

countries. An important contribution to the attainment of such an objective could be brought by a suitable higher education quality that aims for the development of creativity and individual initiative, as well as to the acquisition of competences that improve the professional qualifications of the teaching staff.

5.4 Perspectives in a Time of Globalisation

In contrast to the past, today in a time of globalisation, the competitive advantage of a country is founded more and more on the wealth of human resources and less on the value of materials, capital and technologies. Such challenges have to be answered by the quality of higher education in order to satisfy individual cultural needs, and the needs of insertion in the world of work, with the main objective of favouring the partnership between individuals, businesses, interest-based organisations, and in our case, favouring sustainable partnership enterprises – the academic world, the University world.

For students, and in our case senior students, third-age students, it is not only important to attain a good cultural level from both a qualitative point of view with respect to content, but also to acquire a "higher education with a strongly practical character", as underlined by the various resolutions of the Council of the European Community and first among all that of 5th December 1994 (one very close to the reality in continuous evolution of the labour market), to coming into contact with the world of work.

For such a purpose, one ascertains that in the European economic world there are prefigured forms of organisation – very different from traditional and hierarchical ones, because today these are characterised by integration and strongly oriented to communication, and we remark today, in a time of globalisation, that we have not a great difference between that Europe and other parts of the word.

The centre of the discussion is the relationship between the labour market and citizens and in the citizens, we must also include all those who are ageing, but in reality, are still active. The training will give a redevelopment to do certain activities, putting out of work some age groups means automatically creating new problems that in turn, as we have already said in a psychological sense, will mean the population still potentially active in

5. THIRD AGE EUROPEAN PERSPECTIVE: WHICH POLICIES?

the population at risk of exclusion and loneliness, a population that may be waxing tensions and social problems. The risk exists.

The question is not how older people are busy with training projects but whether this training is adequate to continue their work in a modern labour market. Moreover, it seems quite difficult to access professional updating courses, owing to their low profitability, on account of establishments, of investments in courses geared to workers close to retirement, together with the real difficulties to adapt to new technologies on account of old workers. The improvement of the work setting, the introduction of flexible schedules to make the progressive passage to retirement easier, the reduction of difficulties to access training courses, the elimination of discrimination due to age; all of these represent some initiatives promoted by EU countries to implement senior employment.

We need to understand the aspects that support good psychological ageing as well as the facts that threaten it. They have to be aware that there are a lot of preconceptions and false assumptions regarding all dimensions of the ageing process and aged people. Of course, we cannot forget the health risk, but we also think that the efficient part of this segment of the population has to find new ideas to integrate into the labour market and can make a contribution and receive benefits that help society itself.

We must design a new way of working in relation to age, as a normal factor and not of exclusion or special effect. New jobs are to be modelled in order to involve the populations of the elderly, but not only as an end to occupy time. The life expectancy of seniors is constantly increasing. The average life expectancy in EU member states for the coming years is increasing, keeping active means reducing social problems and therefore the costs to society.

The effort that government policies should be focused on, however, is a new governance of the senior population. It seems clear what I mean. If the training process becomes central, as well as the labour market, "education" cannot only be that which is constructed with the aim of occupying the time of seniors. Over 65 does not mean anything of course.

It is indispensable to verify the state of health but also in the European Union state pensions are often too small to allow a decent living and many older citizens depend on their families and friends for support. Anyone who is able to work has to find a conversion of professionalism, his/her powers can be of help to young people, or they may be engaged in activities that young people are not interested in doing. What I mean is that we cannot exclude segments of the population, excluding the effect of non-use of the baggage of experiences, perhaps modernised training for example, to

ALESSANDRO FIGUS

consider using new technologies. It is evident that policy action has been on old-age pension reform but, as stressed, a more comprehensive set of reforms may be necessary to encourage work at an older age and the reforms must focus on a common European model that takes into account the reward for work and the global change in employment practices, but also the need to improve the employability of workers. Practically we need to understand the labour market and at the same time understand that European society is ageing, the only way to identify the right key policies.

Older people should not be considered a homogeneous group. Indeed, this section of society can be characterised by its heterogeneity. Many are fit and active, but the problem is that to park seniors excluding them from active life brings more serious social problems than their active involvement.

Then again, many older people in the European Union are already actively involved in productive life far beyond the official age of retirement, in various types of voluntary and non-remunerated work. Others contribute to easing the workload of their families by taking care of daily housework. It is also very common for older people to take on an important role in the education of their grandchildren. Where older adults are involved in education programmes, the experience has been positive.

Older people possess a range of learning skills from prior experience, and they are no less active and motivated learners than younger people. Studies on learning capacity have shown no major decline in learning capacity before the age of 75. We need to understand which opportunity we have and which public strategy we can carry out, because especially in the European Union the result is a general improvement of old worker's employment levels due to the introduction of specific measures to enhance active ageing. From the "Noughties", in fact, no EU country has recorded employment reductions for this age target, whereas the whole of the EU has observed a clear employment increase.

Today, practically in all Europe, the problem is the progressive passage to retirement, the reduction of difficulties to access training courses. The EU government and the European Union Commission are working to understand which policies we need. Often there is an incredible distance between institutions. The education system does not adapt to the needs of society that is rapidly changing and often forgets the ageing process.

Today university-oriented education for older people has to be seen as a form where general societal developments appear. The opening of European universities for older learners, or to say it the other way around, older people appearing as students in university classes has its basis in the follow-

5. THIRD AGE EUROPEAN PERSPECTIVE: WHICH POLICIES?

ing societal facts as we have seen before, the question related to the demographic factor of an increasingly older population is present in all of us: we are all growing older. However, today the time horizon has completely changed, not only because of longer life expectancy, but also due to earlier retirement practices, structural economic changes with fewer possibilities for paid work, and the gradual emergence of an older generation that has achieved a lot during their working lives.

They commonly worked more than 30/36 working hours per week and the market demands to rebuild the economy and society. Many of them already sense that this central value is totally altered for younger generations and particularly immigrants at the very moment when they, as individuals, leave paid work as pensioners. Many of them know that a new global orientation in this prolonged time horizon is possible and necessary and should be given a chance, retirement does not become a target for their life perspective, in their quality of life.

In this case, it is important for all to have new policies and to have governance of these new demographic tendencies which coincided exactly with when a progressive educational policy started during recent years. European education has come to be considered as a European citizen's right as a *lifelong learning* strategy and it is setting out towards the educated society. It is also a question of mobilising the reserves of talents in society, this has turned out to have an impact for all, including European women and older adults.

It is interesting to note that the group who took advantage of higher education as well as those who initiated the opening of the universities launched the movement precisely in the wake of the reform impulse of lifelong learning. They orientated themselves already to a more extended notion of studying beyond mere professional training, although this is not the same across Europe. If we take for example Germany, we are faced with dissimilar results, diverse factors of our society and not only for economic reasons affect education. In the future in Germany more than 5 million people will want to attend university classes in their leisure time, older people over sixty have today enrolled in German universities, are at the moment an active part of the educational system, and this still does not concern only Germany practically in as much Europe, including Italy.

When older people started to attend university classes and when faculty tried to create structures for them, a backward orientated ageism had to be faced. Ageism is present in the whole of society and is persistent. The critics claim that teaching during the whole life cycle is initiated only in the interest of creating jobs for the young. Another ageist attitude claims that

ALESSANDRO FIGUS

universities are too full at the moment and it is clear what we want to acquire is the spiritual process through which a person, whatever his/her age, can become productive (Costa, 1994).

In the future the proportion of elderly people in the European Union is set to rise fast while the proportion of working-age people will fall significantly and the demographic transition is viewed as one of the biggest challenges facing the EU.

Europe is getting older and the conclusive question is, "What is it possible to do?". EU public policies should be directed to understanding that older people also play an active role in communal and societal affairs. In fact, they engage in a variety of tasks and new activities, playing a crucial role in local decision-making processes and holding important responsibilities as members of local committees which address development issues. The EU governments necessities are to help the elderly.

They are reminded not to stay all day sitting on a chair, but to go to work as long as they can, to volunteer, to do exercise, do training, care for children and grandchildren. Let's see how we are placed compared to other European countries and what the active ageing policies are for example in Italy and in Germany, where the populations are currently the EU's oldest, here we will age rapidly for the coming years, then stabilise. Some populations are still currently younger, mainly in the East of the EU, but they will undergo ageing at increasing speed and by 2060 will have the oldest populations in the EU.

We must look beyond; retirement means freedom and enjoyment at the same time, but with the improvement of the leisure society we can turn to a very modern concept. But from their own experiences, older people know that leisure does not automatically result in fulfilment. We know from experience that older students assist in various projects and activities for the younger generation in a direct transfer of experiences, especially those accumulated from a professional point of view. It is also a matter of how to be interactive, and how young students participate in activities of third-age education.

Some EU research shows that social integration is very important for the happiness of dependent elderly persons living at home: social activities and contacts improve their happiness, because the common EU strategy is to have a vision behind the active ageing approach in a society for all ages, in which are they valued and where all have the chance of participation and involvement, without relation with their age and where people should have opportunities to contribute in a variety of ways with institutional sup-

5. THIRD AGE EUROPEAN PERSPECTIVE: WHICH POLICIES?

port. The main goal may be the creation of an inclusive society and this can further economic sustainability.

The feeling is that certainly to stay active and to have responsibilities probably helps to improve the ageing process, but it is only a justification for the political and economic failure. In Europe, we have a policy, an idea that giving older people better work incentives and choices is crucial in the context of rapid population ageing and pressures on the sustainability of public social expenditures. In conclusion it is evident that we need to encourage greater labour market participation at an older age by fostering employability, job mobility and labour demand.

It will be a good strategy, a good European policy. Europe and all EU members (in particular in Italy) are required to carry out a series of reforms to encourage longer working lives and to reply to the looming challenges of speedy ageing population (Sonnet, Olsen, Manfredi). For example, in Italy working longer is a public stratagem where the state saves on pensions, like being a volunteer, in this case public and private organisations save on staff costs, or taking care of children and grandchildren, so they cover the deficiencies of family policies where these do not exist. Practically active ageing in Italy (but also in Europe, including Switzerland or Norway) is an "optimisation process", of course, and not just for the elderly. European policies must then change trend and be uniform and evenly distributed throughout Europe. What can the EU policy do? For example, carry out incentives or promote the employability of workers with the working lives system, to reinforce employment chances at an older age and to reduce barriers (age discrimination). We would like to reduce the social problem, for EU society, it is important that workers build up longer careers and continue working at an older age.

In conclusion there is thus the need to recognise the creative potential of older citizens, their capacity to learn and to engage in new activities, their enthusiasm and their willingness to contribute to improving their quality of life. We understand that intergenerational communication is fundamental; first to improve knowledge by young people of the traditions, the cultural system, of what we call "having been passed along from generation to generation". This is achieved primarily through developing relationships between the elderly and the young and can be beneficial for the wellbeing of both parties, indeed it consists of or is derived from tradition. There are very positive forces in the community. It depends very much on the cultural level.

ALESSANDRO FIGUS

۲

The secret is common participation, old and young together, in the same way, both instruments of progress of the same family, of the same society. We need special working arrangements. For example, we need to involve (inclusion) older workers again in the labour market to continue employment, but in a less intensive manner, perhaps on a part-time basis, or in self-employment. Modern technology has increased the possibilities of working from home.

Special working arrangements can thus be an important vehicle for the employment of older people. The problem is to have full recognition. Many in Europe have never retired and contribute to the development of the labour market and of society until the end.

۲

Ageing: Which Future Opportunities. Geopolitical Aspects of EU Financing

Diana Spulber

6.1 Introduction

Today we are witnesses of a demographic revolution. The upsetting of demographic classes is beginning to be a crucial question for future reforms in political, social and medical fields. The decreasing of nativity and increasing of longevity are creating an imbalance in society. Because of this unbalanced situation researchers are starting to think about ageing, how to improve the quality of life, how to make ageing people an active part of society. As we will see later, the idea of the collapsing of the welfare system, of health care and in particular of the long-term system of pension schemes and in the meantime the economic crisis, the decrease of economic power and increasing of social and demographic inequalities are stressing political bodies to find an urgent solution. Despite criticism of the social system for the quality of life that is too "welfare", we can also talk about active ageing people as they were called by van Dyk and Lessenich (2009), "new elderly" or potentially active citizens that can still be useful for the family and for the society at large. Despite ageing being seen and studied as a natural process of decline, as a passive period of life, as an involution, the plasticity/activity in later life has started to be popular for almost 25 years. In 1998, Rowe and Khan wrote about "successful ageing". We can also notice how the health care system is switching from a more curative to a preventive model focused especially on prevention of mental and physical diseases.

If we analyse the evolution of the concept of active ageing, we can argue that the main idea that older people are able to have a life that is self-sufficient, then they are not a social problem, but also able to contribute actively to the public good. This idea can also be found in several public documents of the European Union.

DIANA SPULBER

()

6.2 Historical Approach

The examination of all official documents regarding the elderly leads us to say that the evolution of the "ageing people question" can be subdivided in 2 periods: before 1990 and after 1990.

The period up to 1990 can be seen as a period in which scarce attention was paid to the questions about the elderly, this stage is characterised by more economical and social impact on third-age people but nothing regarding quality of life or wellbeing of retired people. The notion of retired people is used appropriately here as till 1990 the "ageing people question" was treated as pensioner's period of retirement and all other questions were linked to retirement and retirement policy, so we can assert that before 1990 ageing was seen as "non-workers" or "retired".

To argue the affirmation above the most important law documents are cited:

a) 1980-1990

 18 February 1982: European Parliament adopted the resolution on the situation and problems of the aged in the European Community.

10 March 1986: European Parliament adopted the resolution on services for the elderly.

 14 May 1986: European Parliament adopted the resolution about the measures to improve the situation of old people.

- 8 December 1989: Declaration of European Council of Strasbourg on Fundamental Social Rights of Workers: this declaration has 2 articles dedicated to the older (article 24 and article 25) but as retired people with the right to have a decent standard of living.

b) After 1990

24 April 1990: with the official document of EU Commission on Communications on the Elderly was set out the basis of interest in ageing.

 26 November 1990: EU Council adopted its decision on Community actions for the elderly.

— 17 October 1991: EU Commission Decision on the Liaison Group on the Elderly where article 1 states that «It shall be possible for the Commission to consult the Group on all areas relating to the protection of the interests of the elderly».

 27 July 1994: Adoption of "White Paper European Social Policy" «a Decision for further Union-wide actions to help meet the challenges of

an ageing population covering, in particular, the role and contribution of the active retired population».

 8-12 April 2002: European Parliament resolution on the Second United Nations World Assembly on Ageing.

– 9 July 2008: Decision of the European Parliament and of the Council on the Community's participation in a research and development programme undertaken by several member states aimed at enhancing the quality of life of older people through the use of new information and communication technologies.

 7 September 2010: European Parliament resolution on the role of women in an ageing society.

 14 September 2011: Decision of the European Parliament and of the Council on the European Year for Active Ageing and Solidarity between Generations (2012).

- 6 December 2012: The Council of the European Union adopted the Guiding Principles for Active Ageing and Solidarity between Generations, which should serve as a checklist for national authorities and other stakeholders on what needs to be done to promote active ageing beyond the European Year 2012.

 6 February 2013: European Parliament resolution on the European Innovation Partnership on Active and Healthy Ageing.

c) In the meantime, at international level other important steps have been taken:

– 26 July: 2 August 1982 Vienna International Plan of Action on Ageing was one of the international instruments on ageing, through its 62 recommendations it put the basis on guiding thinking and the formulation of policies and programmes on ageing.

 14 December 1990: The United Nations General Assembly voted to establish October 1 as the International Day of Older Persons as recorded in Resolution 45/106.

– April 2002: The Madrid International Plan of Action on Ageing and the Political Declaration, adopted at the Second World Assembly on Ageing, marks a turning point in how the world addresses the key challenge of "building a society for all ages".

The Madrid Plan of Action offers a bold new agenda for handling the issue of ageing in the 21st century. It focuses on three priority areas: older persons and development; advancing health and well-being into old age; and ensuring enabling and supportive environments.

DIANA SPULBER

۲

6.3 Challenges

As several times mentioned the percentage of elderly people is rapidly increasing, due to low birth rates, "baby-boomers" ageing and increased life expectancy.

As we can see from figure 1, according to the Eurostat data the number of people over 65 will grow from 17.4% to 29.5% of the total population between 2010 and 2060 and in addition the number of people over 80 will nearly triple to 12%. This fact means that the number of retired people will be around 30% of the entire population. If we check the figure in 2050, non-working people will be around 43.1%.

We can say that during the same time, the working-age population in the EU is expected to decline by 14.2%. This fact takes the EU to a collapse of the social welfare system.

Pensions, health care and long-term care systems risk becoming unsustainable, with a shrinking labour force no longer able to provide for the needs of the growing number of older people.

Population ageing raises three fundamental questions for policy-makers. I. Will the increased number of older people bankrupt our health care and social security systems?

FIGURE 6.1

Population structure by major age groups, EU-28, 2013-2050



2. Will people remain self-sufficient and active as they age? As people are living longer, does it mean that they will be more disabled or not self-sufficient?

3. And the last but not least important question is: Who will pay? How do we best balance the role of the family and the state to care for people who need more health care and more assistance, as they grow older?

6.4

European Union Solutions

The several resolutions made by the EU Council and EU parliament (some of them were cited above) can be read as an indicator of the importance of the "ageing question". The European Commission must find a solution to avoid the collapse of the EU social system. For this purpose, the European Commission is not only a facilitator in promoting the exchange of knowledge in the field of ageing but also a financing body. The support from the EU is done in terms of financial assistance to the activities that are selected as priorities to the projects that respect the established criteria and consequently through the dissemination of information and the results that derive from studies. The European Commission, by financing, responds to national initiatives that come from EU countries. The EU Commission plays a role of facilitator and promoter of knowledge in the field of ageing. The financial support is given in two ways: direct and indirect financing.

Indirect financing funds: the relationship with the European Commission, is indirect, i.e. mediated through authorities, state, regional and local, the financing is paid to the national governments.

Direct financing funds: the relationship is established directly with the European Commission: the financing arrives directly to grant-holder for ex to university.

The funds are managed according to strict standards to ensure that their usage is subject to tight controls and that they are spent in a transparent and accountable way. EU funding is complex: there are many different types of programmes managed by different bodies.

More than 2/3 of the EU budget is managed by member countries. To argue what we said before, we can cite some EU funding sources and instruments that can be relevant for the promotion of an active and healthy ageing project with respective allocated sums for 2014-2020:

DIANA SPULBER

(�)

- Active and Assisted Living Joint Programme (AAL): €700 million.

– Employment and Social Innovation Programme (EaSI): €919,469 million.

- European Institute of Innovation and Technology (EIT): €2.7 million.

European Structural and Investment Funds (ESIF): €454 billion.

Health Programme: €449.4 million.

Horizon 2020: nearly €80 billion.

Innovative Medicines Initiative (IMI): €3.3 billion.

More Years, Better Lives Joint Programme (мувс): €7.78 million.

Neurodegenerative Diseases Joint Programme (JPND) (2015-2017):
€30 million.

Another financing instrument, that is not directly linked with active ageing, is Erasmus plus.

As we can see the most important financing instruments are European Structural and Investment Funds and Horizon 2020. For this reason, we will analyse shortly only these 2 instruments.

With a budget of €454 billion for 2014-2020, the European Structural and Investment Funds (ESIFS) are an example of Indirect Financing Funds and are one of the main European Union investment policy tools

By 2023, the ESIFs will deliver a critical mass of investment oriented mostly to EU priority areas, to respond to the needs of the real economy by supporting job creation and by getting the European economy growing again in a sustainable way. If we check how this financing instrument is used for Active Ageing promotion, we can say that few countries are using the financing in this field. This fact is found despite the fact that article 5.5 of *Regulation* (EU) *No 1303/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council* of 17 December 2013 states that «Member States shall make use of the ESI Funds, in line with relevant national or regional strategies, where such strategies are in place, to tackle demographic problems and to create growth linked to an ageing society».

As we can see in TAB. 6.1, the countries received from 140 million (Luxembourg) euros to 86 billion (Poland). The other countries that received quite a large sum are Italy, Spain and Romania.

From FIG. 6.2 we can state that only seven countries are investing in Active Ageing, these countries are Austria, Croatia, France, Italy, the Netherlands, Poland and Slovenia. The decision to invest in Active Ageing does not depend on allocated country amount, for example

6. AGEING: WHICH FUTURE OPPORTUNITIES

۲

TABLE 6.1

۲

Using Structural Social Funds for Active Ageing

	Country	Healthy life expectan- cy of males/females in years	Financial allocations Active Ageing (107)	Allocated funds from ESIF (billions)
I	Austria	78.4 / 83.6	€ 23,700,000	4.92
2	Belgium	77.8 / 83.1	0	2.71
3	Bulgaria	70.9/77.9	0	9.88
4	Croatia	73.9 / 80.6	€ 23,700,000	10.74
5	Cyprus	78.9 / 83.4	n/a	0.874
6	Czech Republic	75.1 / 81.2	n/a	24.2
7	Denmark	78.1/ 82.1	n/a	1.25
8	Estonia	71.4 / 81.5	n/a	4.46
9	Finland	77.7 / 83.7	n/a	3.76
10	France	78.7 / 85.4	€ 37,795,071	26.73
II	Germany	78.6 / 83.3	n/a	27.87
12	Greece	78/ 83.4	n/a	20.38
13	Hungary	71.6 / 78.7	n/a	25
14	Ireland	78.7 / 83.2	n/a	3.36
15	Italy	79.8 / 84.8	€ 6,920,159	42.77
16	Latvia	68.9 / 78.9	n/a	8.39
17	Lithuania	68.4 / 79.6	n/a	5.63
18	Luxembourg	79.1 / 83.8	n/a	0.140
19	Malta	78.6 /83	n/a	0.828
20	Netherlands	79.3 / 83	€ 101,000,000	1.72
21	Poland	72.7 / 81.1	€ 329,017,128	86
22	Portugal	77.3 / 83.6	n/a	25.79
23	Romania	71 / 78.1	n/a	30.84
24	Slovakia	72.5 / 79.9	n/a	15.32
25	Slovenia	77.1 / 83.3	€ 34,480,625	3.87
26	Spain	79.5 / 85.2	n/a	37.4
27	Sweden	79.9 / 83.6	n/a	3.65

۲

Source: EUROSTAT, Mapping of the Used European Structural and Investment Funds 2014-2020 and European Structural and Investment Funds: factsheets. Table made by author.

DIANA SPULBER

FIGURE 6.2

Countries that used the European Structural and Investment Funds for Active Ageing



Source: elaborated by the author.

Romania (30.84 billion) will receive a larger amount than France (26.73 billion), and even France's decision to invest in Active Ageing, does not depend on healthy life expectancy of males/females in years, as we can see that almost all countries have the same life expectancy level with the exception of Latvia and Lithuania. We can state that it depends purely on a National Political Decision.

6.5 Horizon 2020

Horizon 2020 is the largest EU Research and Innovation programme with nearly $\in 80$ billion of funding available over 7 years (2014 to 2020) – in addition to the private investment that this money will attract, it promises more breakthroughs, discoveries and world-firsts by taking great ideas from the lab to the market.

(
6. AGEING: WHICH FUTURE OPPORTUNITIES

TABLE 6.2 Examples of projects financed

Acronym Funding programme		Country	contribution €
Mobilising the potential of active ageing in Europe MOPACT FP7-SSH	MOPACT is a four-year project to pro- vide the research and practical evidence upon which Europe can begin to make longevity an asset for social and eco- nomic development. To achieve this aim MOPACT concentrates the highest possible quality of scientific analyses into the development of innovative policies and approaches that can assist public authorities and other key actors, at all levels in Europe.	United Kingdom	975,901
Assessment of hearing in the elderly: ageing and degenera- tion – integra- tion through immediate intervention. AHEAD FP7-HEALTH	Project AHEAD III has been specifical- ly designed to: – Provide evidence of the effects of hearing impairment in adults and particularly in the elderly – Analyse costs associated with the im- plementation of integrated large-scale programmes of hearing screening and intervention in the elderly – Provide quality standards and minimum re- quirements for screening methods and related diagnostic techniques – Devel- op guidelines and recommendations on how to implement successful screening programmes to be tuned to the local, social, and economic conditions of a country.	Italy	538,226.87
	Research on therapeutic interven- tions that are effective, affordable and well-tolerated in the prevention of chronic disease are urgently needed and will have an outstanding impact on public health as a whole. Among the most promising interventions that meet these requirements are vitamin D, marine omega-3 fatty acids and physical exercise. However, their individual and combined effects have yet to be con- firmed in a clinical trial.	Switzer- land	1,479,647.75 (continued)

DIANA SPULBER

TABLE 6.2 (continued)

Title Acronym Funding programme	Project objectives	Coordinator Country	EU contribution €	
Managing ac- tive and healthy ageing with use of caring service robots MARIO H2020-EU.3.I. - SOCIETAL CHALLENG- ES - Health, demographic change and well-being	MARIO addresses the difficult chal- lenges of loneliness, isolation and dementia in older persons through innovative and multi-faceted inven- tions delivered by service robots. The effects of these conditions are severe and life-limiting. They bur- den individuals and societal sup- port systems. Human intervention is costly but the severity can be pre- vented and/or mitigated by simple changes in self-perception and brain stimulation mediated by robots.	Ireland	701,137.51	
The continu- um between healthy ageing and idiopathic Parkinson's Disease within a propagation perspective of inflammation and damage: the search for new diagnos- tic, prognostic and therapeu- tic targets PROPAG-AGE- ING H2020- EU.3.1.1. – Understand- ing health, wellbeing and disease	The main goal of PROPAG-AGE- ING is to identify specific cellular and molecular perturbations devi- ating from healthy ageing trajec- tories towards PD. To this aim the project will exploit four large, very informative EXISTING COHORTS where biomaterials are available: i) de novo PD patients (before any therapy) followed longitudinally, including the largest repository of PD patients, i.e. PPMI; ii) centenar- ians and their offspring (CO) who never showed clinical signs of mo- tor disability; iii) old twins of the Swedish Twin Registry (STR) fol- lowed longitudinally for >45 years, assessed for lifestyle and exposure to toxicants, and where incident and prevalent cases of PD discordant twins have been collected, includ- ing brains.	Italy	5,993,376	

Source: http://cordis.europa.eu/projects/result_it. Table elaborated by author.

6. AGEING: WHICH FUTURE OPPORTUNITIES

6.5.1. HEALTH, DEMOGRAPHIC CHANGE AND WELLBEING

During the first four years of Horizon 2020 (Work Programmes for 2014/15 and 2016/17), the EU will invest more than $\in 2$ billion in this challenge; in calls for proposals or actions.

H2020 Work Programme

Responding to this challenge, research and innovation (R&I) under Horizon 2020 is an investment in better health for all. It aims to keep older people active and independent for longer and supports the development of new, safer and more effective interventions. R&I under Horizon 2020 also contributes to the sustainability of health and care systems (https://ec.europa.eu/programmes/ho-rizon2020/en/h2020-section/health-demographic-change-and-wellbeing).

This priority is divided into different activities.

a) 1.4 Active ageing and self-management of health

 SCI-PM-12-2016: PCP – e-Health innovation in empowering the patient.

 SC1-PM-13-2016: PPI for deployment and scaling up of ICT solutions for active and healthy ageing.

- SCI-PM-14-2016: EU-Japan cooperation on Novel ICT Robotics-based solutions for active and healthy ageing at home or in care facilities.

 SCI-PM-15-2017: Personalised coaching for well-being and care of people as they age.

b) H2020 Work Programme

 – SCI-HCO-16-2016: Standardisation needs in the field of ICT for Active and Healthy Ageing.

– sC1-HCO-17-2017: Support for large scale uptake of Digital Innovation for Active and Healthy Ageing.

To better understand how financing is functioning, a table is provided with projects financed (TAB. 6.2).

6.6

Conclusions

As was several times mentioned, the increase of numbers of elderly and, in the meantime, the expected decline by 14.2% of the working-age population in the EU is generating social upset. The demographic revolution

DIANA SPULBER

is creating a huge challenge not only for Europe but for all countries. The European Union is responding to this challenge through Policy, Law and Financing Instruments. Policy response is done: by creating different official committees like the Social Protection Committee, the Employment Committee that are in charge of "ageing questions"; by creating the European Innovation Partnership for Active and Healthy Ageing; by elaborating an Active Ageing Index. The law's responses to this challenge are the different rules, decisions to regulate the action for promotion of active ageing and also to regulate the activities of different committees in the active ageing domain. Financing response is done through financing of different projects aimed to study: demographic evolution; health problems correlated with ageing; the role of ICT in Active Ageing promotion; the best practices in Active Ageing around the world. All the projects financed should serve as an incubator from where politics and EU country officials should get information in order to find the best political solution. The suggestions that can be provided are: more transparency on different national and EU government actions with the respective budget allocations is needed; an increase of mainstreaming between organisations that deal with ageing; more communication about best practices and sharing of results of research in the field of Active Ageing.

7

۲

Some Aspects of Social Work with Older People

Irina Sikorskaya

7.1 Introduction

The numerous aspects and problems of social work with older people are currently in the focus of many social institutions, social and research programmes aimed at ensuring acceptable standards of living for the older population.

It is a well-known fact that a change of the social status of a person in older age is caused by the termination of employment, the transformation of values, changes in lifestyle and communication, as well as by emergence of various difficulties in social and psychological adaptation to the new conditions.

In that regard, frustration and lack of interest in an active social life, and in many cases loneliness, are considered as a serious impediment to healthy ageing. Studies show that all these characteristics mentioned are linked with being less physically active, as well as worse intellectual functioning.

Thus, they are important themes for both researchers and policymakers in terms of improving quality of life and physical health in old age. The great majority of current studies mainly focuses on individual-level determinants for "unhealthy" ageing. Studies have documented large variations in the prevalence of late-life frustration and loneliness across countries and geographical regions and the reason for a great deal of the variations is still unclear (Sollitto, 2013). Several theoretical explanations of contextual influences on the susceptibility for feeling frustrated or lonely have been put forth but only a few of the proposed contextual factors have been tested. All these aspects dictate the need to develop and implement specific approaches, forms and methods of social work with older people.

IRINA SIKORSKAYA

With a growing ageing population, it is crucial to gain insights into how societies can increase the number of healthy and more socially active years of life for older people. The importance of daily attention to the solution of social problems of this category of population is increasing due to the rise in the proportion of older people over the last decade throughout the world. The tendency of the older population's growth requires a radical change in social policy in respect of the most socially vulnerable categories of society in many countries. A great number of factors influence older people. Along with gender, age, health, education and income, social integration and social relations are associated with high levels of risk in later life. Recent studies have used a multidimensional concept of social capital including social networks, interpersonal trust, and reciprocity. Social capital consists of structural and cognitive components. The structural dimension contains extent and intensity of associational links or activity whereas the cognitive component covers perceptions of support, reciprocity and trust (Ermolina, 2016).

7.2 Social Work – International Experience

The dynamics of development of social work stimulates the mechanisms of improvement of the quality of life of older people, which results in the innovative potential of social work and reveals the tendencies towards change. Population ageing increases needs for welfare provision, while the pressures of globalisation on national economies restrict the capacity to finance expensive welfare policies in this field (http://ifsw.org). European countries have been facing the problem of bridging the gap between economic productivity and social support for some decades now, at least since the transformation of the countries of the post-soviet bloc to a market economy that increased globalisation and economic pressures on the welfare state. More than two decades after this transformation, a new generation has emerged that has been brought up in a globalised world led by economic principles whereas the older generation has been socialised in more or less comprehensive welfare states. This is especially evident in the post-socialist countries where the older generation was socialised in a regime where the state ensured a workplace for all its citizens and the younger generation has had completely different

experiences on the labour market and with the state than their parents' generation (Ghilarducci, 2008).

The majority of older people throughout the world need a wide range of services and care provided to them by family members, neighbours, medical, charitable and social organisations.

Social work is recognised widely as a manifestation of the human attitude towards an individual. Social work has been provided since time immemorial as a charity, religious commitment of a person, as a system of humanitarian services to an individual in need. It correlates completely to the care of older people. The UN formulated the major principles towards the ageing population: 1. independence, 2. participation, 3. care, 4. realisation of inner potential, 5. dignity (http://www.scotland.gov. uk). These principles are considered as a background of social policies towards older people in many European countries.

The first schools provided the training of social workers were established in Western Europe and USA as the end of the 19th century-beginning of the 20th century. The experience accumulated during the century is diverse and multidimensional. Today almost everywhere in the world one can find social workers.

In the world there are hundreds of higher education establishments on social work, not to mention numerous specialities of social workers at university level. There are nearly 500 higher education institutions in Europe providing professional training for social workers. In most cases this type of education is financed by the state, although there are many private schools as in France and Italy. In Spain, Portugal and in some countries of Latin America most of these schools belong to the Roman Catholic Church.

The majority of education establishments of this profile were opened in the 1960s, when social work developed intensely. At that time numerous national and international associations of social workers were formed and the thematic periodicals and specialised magazines were published. The International Code of Conduct for social workers was elaborated. In many research projects and studies we can find that social work received recognition of the academic community and wider society as an independent profession and independent academic discipline precisely at that time. The training of social workers reflects the peculiarities of national systems of education. Often there is no common pattern within one country. The importance of the International Association of Schools of Social Workers (IASSW) for social work education should be

IRINA SIKORSKAYA

pointed out here. One of its main functions is to assess the national programmes of education on social work. The Association cooperates fruitfully with the UN and International Organisation of Labour that acts as reference-information centre and database of the documentation related to the training of social workers.

Till the middle of the 1960s the general policy in the field of social workers' training was determined by the USA and Great Britain. Specialists from these countries were in high demand in Europe and widely invited to Europe to be engaged in the education process. Their knowledge and experience were greatly appreciated. In return, schools in Great Britain, America and Canada invited scholars from Europe for study tours or internships providing them with scholarships and other financial aid. By means of such exchange, the profession of social worker became internationalised, which helped to spread common standards of teaching and learning. Social workers require efficiency, initiative, and ingenuity in solving the specific needs of each older person. The interweaving of physical, psychogenic and psychological problems of older people is difficult to a certain extent, thus social workers need sufficient knowledge and special training to work with them.

Many older people can tackle difficult life decisions in a gradually complex, and largely commercial, care services market. This is where social work as a distinct discipline really comes into its own: the skill and ability to work with people to assess their needs within the context of the same factors affecting us all, whether lifestyle and history, family or community (Kubitskiy, 2010). It also involves tackling head-on the discrimination or sense of being overlooked that older people often feel.

Nowadays, there is a widespread trend that younger persons devote themselves to the care of older people and work with them. From this perspective, this is a meeting of different generations, respect for age of young employees, their tolerance of the established principles and beliefs of older people, their attitudes and values. Caring for older people will provide them with well-being to a certain extent. By well-being we mean a maintainable condition that allows an older individual to live actively, to develop and to succeed. It is the combination of feeling good and functioning well; the experience of positive emotions such as happiness and contentment as well as the development of one's potential, having some control over one's life, having a sense of purpose, and experiencing positive relationships (http://www.socialwork.uw.edu). Yet, well-being is a multi-dimensional construct, and cannot be adequately assessed in

this mode. The measurement of a population's well-being should therefore be a crucial point for all those engaged with policy, as it is often policy which can ultimately exert a critical influence on the lives and well-being of a population, and in particular, the economic crisis has regularly been considered for its impact on well-being (http://www.endoflifecare. nhs.uk).

Social work practice with older adults encompasses a broad range of functions. Whether working in micro or macro settings, the primary goal of the social worker is to address the specific challenges of the ageing process by promoting independence, autonomy and dignity in later life. As social workers we are powerful promoters with the knowledge, skills and values that really can change the lives of ageing individuals. Social workers in gerontology must be knowledgeable about unique legislation, policies and social programmes that affect older adults. In addition, they must be knowledgeable about the ageing process and the issues older adults and their care-givers face, adept at accessing resources for clients, and strong advocates who champion their rights.

7.3

Conclusions

The organisation of social work with the elderly must take into account the specifics of their social status, not only in general but also of each individual, their needs, wants, biological and social opportunities and other features of life. Caring for older people is a careful observation of others, the ability to enter into the world of their experiences with the simultaneous perception, and along with that to double-check their own feelings. This is the ability to perceive older people as they are. Caring for older people is a discreet, planned action in helping them in their adaptation process to the changed conditions of life (Ukrainian report on Social work with old people, 2016). Exceptional social work with older people requires it to be valued and visible. Practitioners should actively seek to work in this sphere. Older people and those who care about them should understand that social work is a service they could benefit from. Social workers are skilled in assessing and planning care needs from a complete perspective; in providing professional leadership for teams working around older people and their families; and in offering calm support at times of crisis, particularly when relationships may be

IRINA SIKORSKAYA

۲

stressed. Social workers have the skills to help older people build on their strengths and, while this may help reduce social care needs, it may also benefit other areas. This could include older people supporting childcare or volunteering in the community to ensure that other care users are not isolated. Social work involves looking for creative solutions and overcoming discrimination to ensure that people can contribute.

The essence of social work with older people is in fact their social rehabilitation. In this case, the rehabilitation – is the restoration in their habitual duties, functions, activities, in the nature of relationships with people. The main thing for the social worker is the transformation of older people from the object (the client) of social work into subject.

()

Section II

Quality of Life and Lifelong Learning



8

۲

Poverty, Health and Welfare: Snap-Shot on Elderly's Conditions in Sub-Saharan African Countries

Nicoletta Varani

I am old, I am poor, I am a woman and I'm alone! (Mention of a Sudanese woman, pronounced on the occasion of the 2nd World Assembly on Ageing, Madrid 2002)

8.1

The Framework

In Sub-Saharan Africa until the most recent past, the elderly were taken care of by the family and their experience of life gave them a privileged status of wisdom and dispensers of advice and life lessons.

In more recent times also in this geographical space, family ties have started to be more moderate, to loosen. The cause must be sought in the profound misery in which many African societies have fallen and therefore the misery urges one to seek a "future" in the cities leaving the villages and rural areas where many older people choose to remain abandoned to their own means, and thus become a burden, a social problem.

The population is getting older, but in Sub-Saharan Africa, despite the high proportion of young population, this phenomenon occurs much more rapidly than in other geographical areas of the Planet (Aboderin, Beard, 2015).

The statistics compiled from the last report of the United Nations (UN) *World Population Prospects. The 2017 Revision* compared to 2017, show that the number of persons aged 60 or above is expected to more than double by 2050 and to more than triple by 2100, rising from 962 million globally in 2017 to 2.1 billion in 2050 and 3.1 billion in 2100. Still on the basis of the report, although the African population will remain relatively young for several more decades, the percentage of its population aged 60 or over is expected to rise from 5% in 2017 to around 9% in 2050, and then to nearly 20% by the end of the century.

NICOLETTA VARANI

This demographic change will have profound implications for society, politics and the economy of countries of the Sub-Saharan region for which ageing is a major challenge as it increases the demand for a variety of health services, as a growing number of older people are living with chronic diseases and disabilities (see PAR. 8.3). However, little attention has been devoted to the problems of old age in Sub-Saharan Africa, which remains an area among the poorest in the world. Health and development in Sub-Saharan Africa find themselves in the objectives of the agendas of some declarations such as the Millennium Development Goals (2000), but especially in the seventeen objectives of the Agenda to 2030 (United Nations, 2015a)¹.

Ensuring the well-being of the growing population of older persons in Sub-Saharan Africa will be essential to achieve the Sustainable Development Goals, in particular, the goals on eradicating poverty, ensuring healthy lives and promoting well-being at all ages, achieving gender equality, ensuring full and productive employment and decent work for all, reducing inequalities between and within countries, and making human settlements inclusive, safe, resilient and sustainable.

The growing number of older persons in Sub-Saharan Africa is a legacy of the high fertility that produced increasingly large birth cohorts during the twentieth century, as well as improving rates of survival to older ages. An estimated 40% of the cohort born in the region during 1950-1955 has survived to celebrate a sixtieth birthday in 2010-2015, with 15 percent of the birth cohort expected to live to age 80. By contrast, among those born in 2000-2005, 66 percent is expected to live to age 60 and 35 percent to age 80 (United Nations, 2016a).

Population ageing is projected to have a profound effect on societies, underscoring the fiscal and political pressures that the health care, old-age pension and social protection systems of many countries are likely to face in the coming decades.

1. This Agenda is a plan of action for people, planet and prosperity. It also seeks to strengthen universal peace in larger freedom. We recognise that eradicating poverty in all its forms and dimensions, including extreme poverty, is the greatest global challenge and an indispensable requirement for sustainable development. The document defines the commitments on sustainable development, which should be achieved by 2030, identifying 17 global goals (SDGs – Sustainable Development Goals and 169 targets. In particular, Objective 1 (No Poverty), Goal 2 (Zero Hunger), Goal 3 (Good health and wellbeing) and Objective 10 (Reduced inequalities) and political decision-makers around the world have acknowledged that inequality in their countries is generally high and constitutes a potential threat to economic and social development in the long term; social protection has been extended on a global scale in a meaningful way for all age groups.

()

TABLE 8.1 Elderly population from 1950 to 2015 in Sub-Saharan Africa, by age						
Elderly populat	ion from 1950	to 2015 in S	oub-Sahara	n Africa, by	v age	
Years /by age	60-64	65-70	71-75	75-80	80+	80-84
1950	3,645	2,640	1,717	920	536	
1955	3,939	2,799	1,764	923	488	
1960	4,356	3,073	1,919	986	508	
1965	4,857	3,449	2,150	1,109	571	
1970	5,498	3,894	2,460	1,276	671	
975	6,145	4,438	2,810	I,492	806	
1980	6,986	5,053	3,265	1,774	988	
1985	7,898	5,749	3,744	2,055	1,188	
1990	8,884	6,567	4,350	2,425		1,047
1995	10,141	7,425	4,997	2,863		1,258
2000	11,168	8,463	5,605	3,290		1,49
2005	12,666	9,360	6,492	3,704		1,748
2010	14,362	10,740	7,306	4,431		2,100
2015	16,786	12,366	8,491	5,036		2,48

Source: United Nations, 2017.

More data are needed to understand the status and needs of older persons in Africa for example in 2002, African governments formally adopted the African Union Policy Framework and Plan of Action on Ageing (AU Plan), which has been built on the Madrid International Plan of Action on Ageing (MIPAA). The AU Plan committed the signatory member states to develop and implement policies on ageing that are an integral part of national development and poverty reduction. However, efforts to monitor the implementation of MIPAA and the AU Plan in Africa have been limited in part by the dearth of data on older persons in Sub-Saharan African. More and better data and statistics on older persons in the region are urgently needed in order to ensure continued progress in the implementation of MIPAA and the AU Plan, as well as the 2030 Agenda.

Further investigations and implementations with regard to Africa were presented in the document *Agenda 2063*. *The Africa We Want* processed always in 2015 in Addis Ababa.

NICOLETTA VARANI

۲





()

The role of elders in African cultures can be summarised thus: holders of knowledge, archives of memory defenders of traditions, guardians of remedies, protectors of ancestors, owners of lands, houses, herds and flocks.

In Sub-Saharan Africa, older people have traditionally been viewed in a positive light, as repositories of information and wisdom. And while African families are generally still intact, development and modernisation are closely connected with social and economic changes that can weaken traditional social values and networks that provide care and support in later life.

As stated by George Saitoti, Vice-president of Kenya, has pointed out with concern, the phenomenon of ageing occurs in a moment in which Africa as a whole is grappling with a series of other challenges, and a general contraction of available resources. Although the structure of the extended family can traditionally provide an important support to older persons, the weakening of this same structure, due to changes in socio-cultural and economic, is making the elderly increasingly vulnerable and exposed to exclusion, abandonment and misery. Decreasing, at the same time, their participation in the social life of the community and exposing them to the precarious nature of the accommodation, but also to a whole series of other problems and influences.

 (\bullet)

^{8.2} The Profile of the Elderly in Sub-Saharan Africa

Mistakenly, we often believe that in African society the traditional respect for the elderly ensures aid and adequate support to all old people. Unfortunately, in recent times it is not so. There are many cases of life where the elderly are vice versa subject to physical and sexual violence and to social, economic and psychological abuses. «Their basic rights, such as the right to life and liberty, the right to work and not to be discriminated against are, in many cases, openly violated» (Universal Declaration of Human Rights, 1948).

8.3

Elderly in Today's Society

The United Nations defines the elderly those who have reached and passed the age of 60. In Africa, the retirement age falls normally between 55 and 65 years, but in many cases, on the continent, this definition is, at least, inappropriate, or irrelevant. In rural areas, where the registers of births are not accurate or do not exist of all, they normally refer to the physical aspect to estimate the age of people; the colour of the hair, the state of the eyesight, and things like that are an indication to define when a person is old. Nevertheless, the definitions we call "official" are those that determine access of the elderly to services, and that influence social policies and resource assignments.

Within a workshop on international issues and promotion of research on ageing in Africa held in 2004 in Nairobi under the aegis of National Institute on Ageing it was asked for the "National Academies' Committee on Population" to describe who is old. The participants in focus group interviews claimed that old people can be identified in a variety of ways: by their physical attributes or appearance (e.g. grey hair, wrinkles, obvious frailty), by their life experiences (e.g. their reproductive history), or by the roles that they sometimes play in their community. Consequently, chronological age, which in many cases may not even be known in Sub-Saharan Africa, may be a poorer indicator of being elderly than social standing.

The Office of the U.S. Census predicts that over the next thirty years the number of elderly people will double in many countries, for example, in the Democratic Republic of the Congo, where it should go from 2.1 to 4.9 million, in Mozambique from 0.8 to 2.1, Cameroon from 0.8 to 1.6, in Ghana, from 1 to 2.8, and in Uganda from 0.8 to 1.9 million people. Political analysts, who deal with issues related to the ageing of the popu-

NICOLETTA VARANI



lation, say that the increase in the number of elderly is a challenge for the continent and all its states.

Many older persons whose adult children have migrated in search of work, or who have died as a result of HIV/AIDS, are the main care providers for their grandchildren. In Zimbabwe and Namibia, an estimated 60% of orphaned children were being cared for by their grandmothers (Aboderin, Beard, 2015).

In Botswana, Malawi, Namibia, South Africa, Tanzania and Zimbabwe, up to 60% of orphaned children live in their grandparent's nuclei. Similarly, in Zambia, which has 1.1 million orphans, a third of all orphans live in households in which grandmothers act as mothers.

8.4 Ageing and Gender

The observations that we can make on the theme of the situation of women in Sub-Saharan Africa are not based only on studies or statistics, but on what can be seen in the network through communication-formal and informal (Oppong, 2006).

Here follow some examples of the situation of older women in some countries in Sub-Saharan Africa: Nigeria, Madagascar and Cameroon (FIG. 8.3).

In the coming years, the ageing population in Nigeria is expected to increase in numbers and life expectancy rates will gradually increase with significant social and economic implications to the individuals and the Nigerian government. The old-age dependency ratio is not high at present (at least compared with developed nations) – but it will increase in the coming years. Nigeria must still enact a National Policy on the care and welfare of older persons. There has been a draft law since March 2003.

Changes in family structure in Nigeria are happening: care of older relatives is a value which is culturally rooted and highly respected, but there is an observable progressive shift away from the traditional family, due to economic problems, migration and influence by foreign culture. Regarding care provision for older people in Nigeria, the Nigerian government and political leaders believe that the provision of care is the responsibility of families.

In Nigeria, widowed women are classified into four categories: widows who live with adults with children who go to school, those with only small children, those young and sterile and finally, widows who are elderly and sterile. These older women are treated as witches, abandoned, isolated and often their homes are burnt. They are even the victims of ostracism.

In Malagasy civilisation, elders have always had a privileged position: to guard their moral and ethical values, history and customs.

NICOLETTA VARANI

FIGURE 8.3 Nigeria, Madagascar and Cameroon



For some time, owing to the difficulties and the problems of modern life habits have begun to change. Despite their desire to help the elderly, families cannot do more to take care of parents and they live in conditions of poverty.

Unfortunately, there are situations in which an older woman is abandoned, without a pension and neither social assistance nor medical care. She must get help from charitable organisations or by begging on the street. She is required to replace her daughter who died in childbirth or who is sick, or even abandoned by her husband. Thus, she should devote herself to her grandchildren, feed them and take them to school or church. These women have already had their problems but also have other problems in education and in the relationship with their grandchildren.

In Madagascar, both government and civil society are confronting women's rights issues as never before. Yet much remains to be done, especially to overcome deeply ingrained practices and customs that hinder women's empowerment (Razafindrakoto, 2016).

In Cameroon the elderly who live in poverty, isolated and marginalised by society, in particular older women, are often accused of being witches or vampires.

They are often widows or unmarried, without a legitimate son. They live the little that you see in the street or in the market; they often steal from the fields. They do not receive visits by day or by night. They are abandoned even

 $(\mathbf{0})$

by neighbours. The nights are very long, because at sunset they go to bed. After their death, the family argues about the furnishings they leave behind.

A particularly important result achieved by the Maputo Protocol (2003) with regard to older women, has a commitment to ensure that they are protected from gender-based violence and sexual discrimination.

8.5 Health

Health systems in Sub-Saharan Africa have confronted themselves with a growing burden of illness due to non-communicable diseases (NCDs) that are associated with old age.

Communicable diseases continue to account for more than half of all deaths in Sub-Saharan Africa, but NCDS, such as cardiovascular disease, cancer, diabetes and chronic respiratory diseases cause more than half of the total burden of disability in the region (Aboderin, Kizito, 2010).

Since the prevalence of NCD related to disability tends to increase with age, a growing population of older persons implies an increase in the demand on health systems of prevention and treatment of NCDs and of their associated complications.

About half (48%) of elderly Africans of Sub-Saharan Africa are underweight and almost a quarter (21%) are overweight, while 56% of older South Africans are obese. Low-quality diets contribute to poor nutritional status. Poverty, HIV/AIDS and complex humanitarian emergencies are the major determinants of undernutrition. Effective interventions need to consider socioeconomic, health and demographic factors; social pensions may be the most cost-effective option to improve the health and nutritional status of the elderly in of Sub-Saharan Africa.

Barriers to health care, faced by older African people, include absence of a guide or the presence high costs of transport to health providers, and fees to private sector for medicines or treatment. Older patients use commercial providers because of the unavailability, perceived poor quality, or age insensitivity of services in government facilities. These providers, in a bid to achieve the Millennium Development Goals on health, typically remain focused on services for infectious diseases, children and reproductive age adults. The difficulties from the supply-side are exacerbated by important demand-side factors. Such obstacles include the fact that normally resources are allocated to poor families (Aboderin, Beard, 2015).

 $(\mathbf{0})$

8.6 Welfare

Less than one in five older persons in Sub-Saharan Africa receives an oldage pension (see PAR. 8.4).

Retirement pensions or similar programmes for income support at older ages are critical to the social protection of older persons. According to recent data, just under 17% of people of pensionable age in Sub-Saharan Africa receives any pension, meaning that the overwhelming majority of older persons has to rely instead on their own labour earnings or savings, assistance from relatives, or charity for support. Owing to the prevalence of informal employment in the region, only a small minority, 8.4% of the labour force in 2014 contributed to insurance pensions, indicating that low pension coverage could be perpetuated as soon as current workers reach retirement age.

In most of Sub-Saharan Africa, retirement is a privilege extended primarily to the minority of persons who work in the formal economy and thus that have access to contributory pension programmes. Pensions that are not contributory might effectively reduce poverty in old age but are not yet implemented in most countries of the region. As a result, the majority of older persons in Sub-Saharan Africa do not have any choice except that of continuing to work as long as they are physically able. Among those aged 65 years or over in Africa, 52% of men and 33% of women were active in the labour force in 2015. By comparison, in Latin America and the Caribbean, 38% of older men and 17% of older women were working, and in Europe, only 10% of older men and 6% of older women were working (ILOSTAT, 2016).

In synthesis, countries with relatively low rates of pension coverage tend to have high levels of participation in the labour force among older persons. For example, in Zimbabwe where less than 10% of people of pensionable age receive any pension, 75% of men and 65% of women aged 65 or over are active in the labour force. By contrast, more than 92% of older persons in South Africa received a pension and their participation in the labour force was relatively rare, with only 9% of men and 3% of women aged 65 years or over who were working in 2015 (*ibid.*).

In addition to their labour force participation, older men and women in Sub-Saharan Africa are making other vital contributions to their families and communities (see PAR. 8.3).

 $(\mathbf{0})$

8.7 The Global AgeWatch Index in Sub-Saharan Africa

The Global AgeWatch Index has been developed and constructed by HelpAge International using international data sets drawn from the United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs, the World Bank, World Health Organisation, International Labour Organisation, UNESCO and the Gallup World Poll.

The Global AgeWatch Index assesses the factors determining the social and economic wellbeing of older people around the world. The global analysis in 2015 was performed by hearing older people themselves and looking at the widely varying geographic trends. The index brings together a unique set of internationally comparable data that are based on income, health status, capability (education and employment), and enabling environment of older people. These domains were selected because they were identified by older people and by policy makers alike as key enablers of older people's wellbeing.

The aim of the index is both to capture the multidimensional nature of quality of life and wellbeing of older people, and to provide a means by which to measure performance and promote improvements. 13 different indicators were chosen for the four key domains of *Income security*, *Health status*, *Capability* and *Enabling environment* (FIG. 8.4)².

The index responds to core issues of concern to older people and is a framework for governments and the international community to develop and implement policy and programmes to ensure no older person is left behind. Using the latest available internationally comparable data, 96 countries are ranked by the index, covering 91% of the world's population aged 60 and over.

2. Domain 1: *Income security*: The domain of income security assesses people's access to a sufficient amount of income, and the capacity to use it independently, in order to meet basic needs in older age. Domain 2: *Health status*: The three indicators used for the health domain provide information about physical and psychological wellbeing. Domain 3: *Capability*: The employment and education indicators in this domain look at different aspects of the empowerment of older people. Domain 4: *Enabling environment* This domain uses data from Gallup World View to assess older people's perception of social connectedness, safety, civic freedom and access to public transport – issues that older people have singled out as particularly important.

()

NICOLETTA VARANI

 $(\mathbf{0})$



FIGURE 8.4 Domains and indicators for the Global AgeWatch Index

(�)

With regard to Sub-Saharan Africa the index has been calculated for 9 countries: South Africa, Ghana, Nigeria, Uganda, Rwanda, Zambia, Tanzania, Mozambique and Malawi.

South Africa has a low rank placing itself at 78^{th} overall position. It ranks highest in the income security domain (19), with high pension coverage (92.6%), a below average poverty rate (12%) and the second highest GNI per capita (US\$11,764) regionally. It still holds a low rank in the domain of capability (69) but this ranking has increased from last year (75) owing to a revision of data in educational attainment. The ranking of South Africa is low in the domain of enabling environment (83) due to older people's low satisfaction with safety (31%). It is also lowest in the health domain (89), with life expectancy at 60 (16) which is below the regional average of 17.

Ghana ranking is low in the overall Index, placing itself in the 81^{st} position. Its rank is highest in the capability domain (23), with a higher value than average regional on employment (78.2%) and on educational attainment (35.6%) among older people. It ranks moderately in the domain of enabling environment (56) with older people which report an average satisfaction with safety (81%) and civic freedom (85%) above if

Countries	Population over 60 (million)	Rank (I)	Rank (11)	Life expectancy at 60	Healthy life expectancy aged 60	Pension coverage (III)
South Africa	4.2	I	78	16	14.6	92%
Ghana	I.4	2	81	17	13.8	7%
Nigeria	8.2	3	86	16	14.4	5%
Uganda	1.5	4	88	16	12.9	6%
Rwanda	0.5	5	89	18	13.3	4%
Zambia	0.7	6	90	17	12.2	7%
Tanzania	2.6	7	91	18	14.2	3%
Mozambique	I.4	8	94	16	11.7	17%
Malawi	0.9	9	95	16	11.5	4%

.

Sub-Saharan Africa countries: some indicators relating to the elderly

(I) Referred to the Sub-Saharan Africa.

(11) Referred to the World.

TABLE 8.2

(III) % people over 65 receiving a pension.

Source: Global AgeWatch Index 2015.

compared to other countries in the region. It ranks low in the health domain (77) with life expectancy at 60 (17) and healthy life expectancy at 60 (14) near to regional averages. It ranks lowest in the income security domain (88), due to low pension income coverage (8%) and a high old age poverty rate (21.4%) that is the second highest in its region.

Nigeria ranks low in the overall Index (86^{th} position). It ranks highest in the capability domain (49), with an employment rate (70.5%) and educational attainment (17.4%) among older people above the regional average. The country ranks low in the domain of enabling environment (75) due to older people's low satisfaction with civic freedom (53%) and public transport (42%). It holds a low position in the health domain (88) with life expectancy at 60 (16) below the regional average for Africa. It results lowest in the income security domain (90), with low pension income coverage (5%).

Uganda ranks low in the index, placing itself at 88^{th} overall position. It ranks highest on the capability domain (45). This increase from the ranking of last year (72) is due to revision of data concerning educational attainment. The country ranks low in the domain of enabling environ-

NICOLETTA VARANI

ment (70) but has above regional average percentages for social connectedness (76%) and satisfaction with public transport (50%). It ranks low in the health domain (92), with below regional averages for life expectancy at 60 (16) and healthy life expectancy at 60 (13). Uganda also ranks in the 92nd position in the income security domain. The country has one of the highest rates of old age poverty regionally (20.7%) and low pension income coverage (6.6%).

Rwanda ranks low in the overall Index (89). It ranks highest in the domain of enabling environment (13), the highest in its region with ratings well above regional values and index averages on all indicators. Rwanda ranks low in the health domain (81) but with a life expectancy at 60 (18) above the regional average (17), even if below the Global Index average (21). It ranks low in the capability domain (90). Although it has an employment rate (91.8%) well above the regional average (67%), it has one of the lowest rates of educational attainment among older people (2.8%). Rwanda ranks lowest in the income security domain (93), with very low pension income coverage (4.7%) and a higher than average old age poverty rate for compared to other countries in the Africa region (19.9%).

Zambia ranks low in the overall index (90). It ranks highest in the capability domain (67). This fall from last year's ranking (57) is due to a change of indicator from labour force participation rate to employment rate. The country also ranks low in the domain (84) due to older people's low satisfaction with safety (34%). It ranks at 89th position in the income security domain, with low pension coverage (7.7%), the highest old age poverty rate in the region (22.9%) and the lowest rate of relative welfare (78%) among older people in its region. Zambia ranks lowest in the health domain (91), with values below the regional averages on all indicators.

Mozambique ranks low in the overall index (94). It ranks highest in the income security domain (84), with a higher than average rate of old age poverty for its region (19.1%) and second lowest GNI per capita (US\$1,018). It ranks low in the health domain (94) due to low levels of life expectancy at 60 (16) and healthy life expectancy at the same age (12). It ranks low within its region in the capability domain (94), with the lowest regional rate of educational attainment among older people (1%). Mozambique ranks lowest in the domain of enabling environment (96), due to older people's low satisfaction with safety (31%), civic freedom (60%) and public transport (31%).

Malawi ranks low in the overall index (95). It ranks highest in the capability domain (84). Malawi has the highest employment rate among older people in its region (96.4%) and low educational attainment

among older people (4.5%). It ranks low in the enabling environment domain (94), due to older people's low satisfaction with social connectedness (48%) and safety (36%). It ranks second lower on the index in the health domain (95) with below regional average life expectancy at 60 (16) and healthy life expectancy (11). It ranks lowest in the income security domain (96), with the lowest regional GNI per capita (US\$717) and second lowest pension coverage in the region (4.1%).

8.8

Legal Instruments on the Rights of the Elderly

Hereinafter are references to some important international and regional documents specific for Africa and Sub-Saharan Africa.

The African Charter on the Rights of Man (1981), which includes the right of the elderly and the disabled to special measures of protection in keeping with their physical and moral needs (Article 18) and action to assist African governments in responding to international resolutions on ageing.

In particular, the Protocol to the African Charter on Human and Peoples' Rights on the Rights of Older Persons in Africa, the fourth session of the Conference of Ministers of Social Development (CAMSD4) held in Addis Ababa (26-30th May 2014).

The twenty-sixth Summit of Heads of State and Government of Africa (30th January 2016), is important because there was a significant step forward: African governments adopted the Protocol on the African Charter on Human and Peoples' Rights on the rights of older people and this occurred after eight years of projects and changes, lobbying, negotiation and pressure for the recognition of human rights of older people.

This Protocol represents the highest level of political commitment by African leaders for the promotion and protection of the rights of the elderly, one of the few decisions taken by the European Union concerning the adoption of an African policy Framework and Plan of Action on Ageing (2002), another important step in the programme for the elderly.

For specific geosocial analysis of these important documents and other minor ones, please refer to the publications of the African Research on Ageing Network (AFRAN) at the Oxford Institute of Population Ageing, a Network which brings together the African members and the international academic world and civil society and creates partnerships to promote education and research on ageing in Africa.

9

۲

Growing Old in Brazil: Geoanthropological View on Increase of Life Expectancy in the Population

Enrico Bernardini

9.1 The global situation

The increase of life expectancy is a result of the reduction of mortality. Currently, there are already 810 million people aged 60 and older. The perspective is considering this phenomenon as one of the greatest cultural achievements in the process of humanisation and a consequence of the improvement of life conditions (International Longevity Centre Brazil, 2015).

Between 2015 and 2030, the number of people in the world aged 60 years or more is expected to grow by 56 per cent, from 901 million to 1.4

 $(\mathbf{\Phi})$



Source: http://www.un.org/en/development/desa/population/publications/pdf/ageing/WPA2015_Report.pdf.

9. GROWING OLD IN BRAZIL

۲



FIGURE 9.2 People aged 60 years in Brazil from 1991 to 2011 (million)

Source: http://www.sdh.gov.br/assuntos/pessoa-idosa/dadosestatisticos/Dadossobreoenvelhecimentono-Brasil.pdf.

billion, and by 2050, the global population of older persons is projected to be more than double its size of 2015, reaching nearly 2.1 billion (United Nations, 2015).

According to the United Nations' projections, one in every nine people in the world is 60 years or more, and the growth is estimated to 1 in 5 by 2050.

9.2

The Brazilian situation

The ageing trend of the population in Brazil was analysed in some research by IBGE (https://www.ibge.gov.br/apps/snig/v1/?loc=o&cat=&tema=4691), the Brazilian Institute of Geography and Statistics. The data referred to the last census in Brazil, done from 2010 to 2011 (http://www. sdh.gov.br/assuntos/pessoa-idosa/dados-estatisticos/DadossobreoenvelhecimentonoBrasil.pdf). Elderly people over 60 years were 23.5 million in 2011, more than double that recorded in 1991, when the age group included 10.7 million people.

The chart shows the growth of people aged over 60 years in Brazil from 1991 to 2011.

ENRICO BERNARDINI

 $(\mathbf{\Phi})$



Source: http://www.ibge.gov.br/apps/snig/v1/?loc=0&cat=&tema=4691.

According to the estimates of IBGE, in 2015 there were already 26 million elderly people in Brazil that make up 13% of the whole population. In 2030, following the global projections, the figure will reach 30 million.

The phenomenon of the over-sixty population increase goes hand in hand with the decrease in the birth rate, which makes Brazil one of the countries with the lowest percentage of fertility in the world.

In Brazil, fertility in 1950 was 6.2 children per woman and only 5% of the population was aged 60 years or more, but – starting around 1960 – fertility declined rapidly to 1.8 children per woman in 2015, and it is projected to remain below replacement at least until 2050 (United Nations, 2015).

As the graph shows, the number of children up to four years in the country decreased from 16.3 million in 2000 to 13.3 million in 2011.

The decrease of fertility rate is influenced by increasing girls' education, seen as a very positive factor for economic and social development of the country.

Some research by IBGE, comparing the last censuses carried out in the country between 2000 and 2010, reveals that women's education has increased compared to men's in recent years.

()

9. GROWING OLD IN BRAZIL

۲





Source: http://www.un.org/en/development/desa/population/publications/pdf/ageing/WPA2015_Report.pdf.



()

Source: http://www.brasil.gov.br/cidadania-e-justica/2014/11/escolaridade-das-mulheres-aumenta-em-relacao-a-dos-homens.

In fact, between 2000 and 2010, females' high school education has grown by 9.8%, arriving at 52.2% compared to males' at 42.4%. (http://www.brasil.gov.br/cidadania-e-justica/2014/11/escolaridade-das-mulheres-aumenta-em-relacao-a-dos-homens).

The new needs of the elderly (like autonomy, mobility, access to information, services, security and preventive health care) triggered the in-

ENRICO BERNARDINI

tervention of the Brazilian Government that in the last thirty years has put in place legal instruments that guarantee the social protection and the expansion of rights for older people, according to the guidelines of the United Nations.

The main legal instruments are:

Statute of the Elderly (2003).

National Conference about elderly people's rights (2006, 2009, 2011).

 Form of the Observatory of Human Rights to report elder abuse (called: Disque 100), 2011.

National Commitment to active ageing (2013).

9.3 The Statute of the Elderly

The Statute of the Elderly, enacted by Law no. 10741 of 1st October 2003, aims to regulate and safeguard the rights of people more than sixty years old.

The statute guarantees to the elderly the right to life, health, nutrition, education, culture, sports, leisure, work, citizenship, freedom, dignity, respect and, through specific legislation, protects the elderly from all forms of violence or discrimination or violation of rights.

Free health care is also provided to seniors through the Brazilian Health System, increasing the prevention and promotion of actions to ensure a greater focus on diseases that primarily affect older people.

The aim of the statute is also to allow access of older people to education, culture, sports, leisure and entertainment, through specific opportunities created by the government. In addition, the state will have the opportunity to provide public transport with free access to people aged over sixty.

The task of the state will also be to promote the organisation of seminars and conferences to assist seniors in learning the use of new technologies, especially Information and Communication Technology (ICT), to help them to stay increasingly updated with the times, in everyday life.

The various organisations of the country will endeavour to provide discounts to seniors, who participate in artistic, cultural and sporting manifestations.

Finally, the government will support the creation of a university for older people and will strive to implement policies to encourage the reading of books and magazines, in order to reduce the population's illiteracy.

9. GROWING OLD IN BRAZIL

۲

9.4

The National Conference about Elderly People's Rights

The Brazilian Government has promoted three major conferences about elderly people's rights (2006, 2009, and 2011), the most important of which was the last one, which took place in 2011. During the third National Conference about the Rights of Older Persons, held from 23rd to 25th November 2011 in Brasilia, 26 proposals made by the working groups that participated were approved (Presidência da República, 2013).

The main ones are the following:

- Effect and universalise the rights of the elderly, as well as their social inclusion, respecting the dignity of citizens, their autonomy and their talents, facilitating access to information, benefits and quality services, as well as to the family and community life.

 Expand and finance the creation of the National Secretariat for the Elderly and a Centre against Violence and Abuse of Elderly.

 Ensure and expand access to prevention programmes, health promotion, treatment and rehabilitation of the elderly.

 Develop, implement and monitor the National Elderly Plan, planning and management between various public policies in order to setup programmes, projects and services involving health, social assistance, housing, education, transport and culture.

 Create the National Elderly Secretariat, encouraging states and municipalities to enact the same procedures in order to develop the elder policy.

 Expand public policy for the inclusion of the elderly in all stages of education (literacy, Primary School, Secondary School and University) and create the Universities of the third age.

— Disseminate and promote information and education campaigns on the Statute of the Elderly and other legislations about the elderly with an accessible language, illustrations, also in Braille, books to talk about the difficulties of ageing, discrimination and violence, widely and systematically encouraging an intergenerational process, at a national and local level, using the media (TV, radio, newspapers, magazines, brochures, posters, educational materials, etc.).

 Create immediately the Council and the State and Municipal Fund for seniors.

Promote the coordination at all levels of government and civil society (state, regional and national) of a regulation and distribution of mu-

ENRICO BERNARDINI

 $(\mathbf{0})$

nicipal funds in favour of elders, ensuring that municipalities, states and the federal district devolve at least: 1) 1% (one percent) of the revenues provided in their respective budgets; and 2) 2% of the collection of federal and state lotteries, as well as all funds collected from fines provided from the articles 56 to 58 of the Statute of Elderly to investments aimed at active ageing initiatives and health protection.

9.5

Form of the Observatory of Human Rights to Report Elder Abuse (Disque 100)

The Disque 100 (Call 100) is a public service of the Secretariat for Human Rights (SDH/PR), National Observatory on Human Rights, with the purpose of receiving reports of human rights violations, particularly those about people with greater vulnerability, such as children, elderly, persons with disabilities, LGBT people, homeless and other categories of disadvantaged people (http://www.sdh.gov.br/disque-direitos-humanos/disque-direitos-humanos).

Between 2011 and 2012, Disque 100 received 28,564 reports of abuse on older people.

Analysing the data, the service recorded 68.7% of the violations for abandonment/neglect, 59.3% of psychological violence, 40.1% of financial/economic violence and 34% of physical violence (Presidência da República, 2013).

In 2012, the Human Rights Secretariat reaffirmed its commitment to work assiduously for the recognition of the law about the rights of the elderly, establishing mechanisms to carry out the national and international provisions. The secretariat coordinates the elaboration of the National Plan for the Rights of Elderly. The National Plan on the Rights of the Elderly aims to establish targets of national strategies and priorities as a basis for sectoral and regional programmes, responding to the demands and needs of a society increasingly worried about respect and promotion of the basic rights of the elderly.

In 2015, there was a slight increase in violations for neglect with 77.66% and 51.7% of psychological violence, 38.9% of financial abuse/ economic violence and 26.46% of physical violence (Presidência da República, 2015).

()

9. GROWING OLD IN BRAZIL

۲



Source: http://www.sdh.gov.br/assuntos/pessoa-idosa/dados-estatisticos/Dadossobreoenvelhecimentono-Brasil.pdf.

()

۲



Source: http://www.sdh.gov.br/assuntos/pessoa-idosa/dados-estatisticos/Dadossobreoenvelhecimentono-Brasil.pdf.

ENRICO BERNARDINI

۲







۲



(�)

Source: International Longevity Centre Brazil, http://ilcbrazil.org/.

9.6 National Commitment to Active Ageing

The International Longevity Centre is a very important institution in Brazil, operating in partnership with the government, with the purpose of building useful innovation and evidence-based strategies to drive policies about population ageing and the concept of Active Ageing (official website: http://ilcbrazil.org/).
9. GROWING OLD IN BRAZIL

Active Ageing is the process of optimising opportunities for health, lifelong learning, participation and security in order to improve the quality of life of the elderly. To develop a policy about Active Ageing, we can consider the following four pillars of Active Ageing: health, lifelong learning, participation and security (International Longevity Centre Brazil, 2015). *Pillar 1. Health*. Active Ageing aims to improve population health and reduce health inequalities in order to increase life expectancy in Brazil, in accordance with the vision of the World Health Organisation.

Pillar 2. Lifelong Learning. Globalisation and rapid changes in the modern world have made it essential, even for the elderly, access to information and new technologies. The access to information, learning throughout life is important not only for employability, but also to promote wellness. It is a pillar that supports all the other pillars of Active Ageing.

Pillar 3. Participation. Participation does not simply mean paid work, but the aim of this pillar is the involvement of the elderly in all fields (social, civil, recreational, cultural and intellectual, sports or spiritual).

Pillar 4. Security, Security is the most basic of human needs. Without it, the community is not fully capable of developing its potential and policies about Active Ageing. A lack of security has detrimental effects on physical health, emotional well-being and the social background of a society.

۲

The Impact of Inequality Factors on Frailty Conditions Among Older Population

Stefano Poli

10.1 Introduction

This contribution highlights the importance of social determinants of individual frailty among older people and how, especially in Italy (Giarelli, 2013), the frailty in the ageing experience arises more and more from the hybridisation of multiple generative factors (Poli, Pandolfini, 2016; Poli *et al.*, 2016; Ferrucci, Giallauriaf, Guralnik, 2008), related to social and structural dimensions (for instance, education, income, status, employment in life), combined with individual characteristics (age, sex, genetic background) and lifestyles (nutrition, physical activity, daily habits, etc.).

Focusing on such social determinants and considering the diffused demographic ageing, underlines how the early recognition of frailty among elderly people becomes a priority, both as a matter of public health and in terms of methodology, due to the deep and complex multi-dimensionality of the phenomenon requiring screening modalities able to combine the clinical aspects with the social determinants of frailty itself (Metzelthin *et al.*, 2010).

To this aim, adopting such a multidimensional perspective, this article aims to explore frailty among a sample of community-dwelling elderly people observing its possible association with social factors, while also offering an opportunity to examine the results of a first application in Italy of the FRAIL scale, an important self-report instrument recently realised in the United States by the International Association of Nutrition and Ageing (Morley, Malmstrom, Miller, 2012).

()

10. THE IMPACT OF INEQUALITY FACTORS

10.2 Methods: an Operative Definition of Frailty and its Related Social Factors

This study was carried out in Genoa, Italy. Focusing on the area of the inner centre district, we analysed a population-based sample drawn from the 8,504 residents aged 65 years and older (as of 1 January 2013, source: Genova Municipality, 2013). 2,000 subjects, equally distributed by gender and age-class (65-74 years old and 75 years and older), were randomly extracted and contacted via recruitment notices, mails and phone calls. The preliminary inclusion criterion was the adequate cognitive ability to respond to a 30-minute face-to-face questionnaire, administered by researchers at home or at the university. Of those contacted, 27.2% responded. The final study population included 542 subjects, reflecting the starting population according to a confidence interval of 5% and a confidence level of 95%.

Frailty was ascertained by means of the FRAIL scale (Morley, Malmstrom, Miller, 2012), based on the following 5 items: Fatigue, Resistance, Ambulation, Illness, and Loss of weight. FRAIL scale scores range from 0 to 5 (1 point for each component); subjects were then classified as frail (score 3 to 5), pre-frail (score 1 and 2), and not frail (score 0).

The exploration of frailty conditions has been combined with observation of disability and autonomy in terms of physical and instrumental skills though ADL (Katz, 1983) and IADL scales (Lawton, Brody, 1969).

Basic ADLs included seven items (bathing, dressing, eating, transferring bed or chair, walking across a room, getting outside and using toilet). ADL difficulties represent the number of these tasks for which respondents reported difficulty performing the task. ADL dependency was defined as positive when respondents reported difficulty on an ADL item and, also, reported a) being unable to do the task or b) receiving help from another person to do the task. IADLs included eight items (preparing meals, shopping for groceries, managing money, making phone calls, doing light housework, doing heavy housework, getting to places outside walking distance, and managing medications) and was scored as the number of tasks for which the respondent reported difficulty performing that task.

The ADL and IADL tasks were counted assigning 1 point for each reported difficulty or inability to perform, recoding a final individual score given by the sum of ADL and IADL deficits.

We observed the associations of frailty with age and gender. Age was considered in chronological and not in functional terms, as a mere struc-

STEFANO POLI

tural variable, because less self-sufficiency and loss of autonomy are only partially related to age, being age-dependent is a much more differentiated and dynamic processes (Bergman *et al.*, 2007).

Gender issues in frailty among elderly were specifically taken into account. Indeed, even if women's lower mortality rates may contribute to sex differences in the prevalence of functional impairment and disability (Alley, Crimmins, 2013), major gender differences also emerged when measured with observed performances (Merrill *et al.*, 1997; Oman *et al.*, 1999).

We evaluated the level of education, scored according to the International Standard Classification of Education, i.e. $\circ =$ No qualification; I = primary school; 2 = secondary school; 3 = vocational school of 2-3 years; 4 = high school; 5 = bachelor's degree; 6 = PhD.

The economic conditions, referred both to individual and to household disposable income (Breen, 2007), were evaluated in terms of: a) the amount of the respondent's income and that of all other family members (pension, disability allowances, real estate rentals and investments, salary, economic aid from other family members or institutions or charities, b) the incidence of respondent's income on total family income, and c) the overall declared ability to support routine expenses (Poli, 2014).

The present and former occupation (85% of respondents were retired) was recorded according to the socioeconomic model as described by De Lillo and Schizzerotto (1985): *a*) unskilled workers; *b*) less qualified workers; *c*) qualified workers and lower service class; *d*) middle-class city-dwellers; *e*) white collar workers; *f*) entrepreneurs, managers and higher service class.

Life-style factors were explored by revising the social practice scale of Cesareo (2007) and observing the frequency (null, rare, frequent, daily) of several activities according to four main dimensions: cultural fruition, technological access, physical activity and social activation. Cultural fruition mainly concerns "mental exercise" linked to leisure activities (hobbies; reading books, magazines and newspapers; using media; going to the theatre or cinema; participating in cultural events; travelling abroad or on short trips; frequenting public places). Respondents' technological access was evaluated by observing the use of devices or technological practices (mobile, pc, internet, online payments and credit cards). The level of physical activity was recorded by asking how often respondents went for a walk or engaged in sporting activities. Lastly, social activation was observed through an index of "social talent" among elderly people (Poli, 2014), which was measured by observing the attitude to perform social-ly-useful activities under four aspects: individual willingness to offer pro-

10. THE IMPACT OF INEQUALITY FACTORS

fessional, social and cultural experience to others; collaboration with associations and organisations; voluntary activities; care activities, such as fostering or caring for children or disabled subjects.

The relationships between frailty and all other potentially associated demographic, functional, socioeconomic and lifestyle factors were examined by a two-step cluster analysis (adopting log-likelihood procedures for distance measures and Schwarz's Bayesian Criterion for the clustering model) using the following as categorical variables: the recoded conditions of frailty (not frail, pre-frail and frail), sex, age (in years) and other continuous variables (in standardised form), i.e. the sum of ADL and of IADL impairments, the levels of education, economic condition, occupational status, cultural fruition, technological access and social activation. Six clusters emerged from the cluster analysis; their distribution and features are described in the results section using means and standard deviations to outline the profiles across each indicator and adopting Student's t values as a measure of the relative importance of each indicator in characterising each cluster.

10.3

Results: Different Frailty Profiles, Different Inequality Levels

The cluster analysis revealed six profiles (TAB. 10.1) based on three different grades of frailty for both sexes. As shown in TAB. 10.3, a significant decline in ADL and IADL and high mean age marks the "frail" profile of cluster 1 (9.0% of the sample, women with a mean age of 79.8 years \pm 5.5 SD) and cluster 2 (6.1%, males with a mean age of 79.2 years \pm 4.8 SD). Subjects in clusters 1 and 2 showed high levels of functional impairments and low levels of physical activity. In both clusters, student's *t* values (used to reflect the relative importance of each variable in determining each profile) confirm the strong impact of physical decline as a determinant of frailty, and the negative impact of low levels in socioeconomic (i.e. education, economic condition and occupational status) and lifestyle domains (i.e. cultural fruition, technological access and social activation), moreover still showing gender inequality as reported by major relative intense deprivation observable in older women.

Clusters 3 (17.9%) and 4 (15.5%) represent the "pre-frail" profile of older females (76.2 mean age, \pm 6.2 SD) and males (75.1 \pm 6.9 SD), respectively.

()

۲

TABLE 10.1

۲

Cluster distribution and characteristics

	Cluster number	I	2	3	4	5	6	Com- bined
	Label	Frail Female	Frail Male	Pre-Frail Female	Pre-Frail Male	Robust Female	Robust Male	
Cluster data	Ν	49	33	97	84	137	142	542
	%	9.0	6.1	17.9	15.5	25.3	26.2	100.0
Age	Mean	79.8	79.2	76.2	75.1	73.6	73.6	75.2
	Std. Dev.	5.5	4.8	6.2	6.9	5.8	6.1	6.4
	Student's t	6.8	4.I	1.5	0.2	-3.2	-3.1	
Sum of ADL deficits	Mean	1.578	1.013	0.011	-0.007	-0.380	-0.417	0.000
	Std. Dev.	1.221	1.418	0.958	0.944	0.431	0.349	1.000
	Student's t	9.0	4.1	0.1	0.1	-10.3	-14.2	
Sum of IADL deficits	Mean	1.365	1.047	0.232	0.221	-0.487	-0.535	0.000
	Std. Dev.	0.877	1.098	0.985	0.939	0.596	0.539	1.000
	Student's t	10.9	5.4	2.3	2.2	-9.6	-11.8	
Educa- tion	Mean	-0.574	-0.197	-0.164	0.008	0.101	0.254	0.000
	Std. Dev.	0.992	1.001	0.988	0.979	0.954	0.974	1.000
	Student's t	-4.I	-I.I	-1.6	0.1	I.2	3.1	
Economic condition	Mean	-0.574	-0.112	-0.256	0.059	0.008	0.356	0.000
	Std. Dev.	0.848	1.065	1.022	0.873	1.014	0.943	1.000
	Student's t	-4.7	-0.6	-2.5	0.6	0.1	4.5	
Occu- pational Status	Mean	-0.564	-0-012	-0.246	0.220	-0.128	0.359	0.000
	Std. Dev.	1.081	0.993	1.088	0.813	1.039	0.806	1.000
	Student's t	-3.7	0.0	-2.2	2.5	-1.4	5.3	
Cultural fruition	Mean	-0.843	-0.806	-0.233	0.027	0.321	0.312	0.000
	Std. Dev.	0.867	0.893	0.863	1.017	0.967	0.864	1.000
	Student's t	-6.8	-5.1	-3.0	0.1	3.9	4.3	
Techno- logical access	Mean	-0.612	-0.639	-0.386	-0.048	0.052	0.602	0.000
	Std. Dev.	0.720	0.624	0.897	1.019	0.920	0.948	1.000
	Student's t	-6.0	-5.8	-4.2	-0.4	0.7	7.6	
							(continued)

(continued)

۲

114

	Cluster number	I	2	3	4	5	6	Com- bined
	Label	Frail Female	Frail Male	Pre-Frail Female	Pre-Frail Male	Robust Female	Robust Male	
Physical activity	Mean	-0.966	-0.809	-0.241	-0.077	0.412	0.334	0.000
	Std. Dev.	0.716	0.815	0.856	0.988	0.891	0.934	1.000
	Student's t	-9.4	-5.7	-2.8	0.7	5.4	4.3	
Social activation	Mean	-0.515	-0.551	-0.071	0.062	0.193	0.132	0.000
	Std. Dev.	0.828	1.054	1.006	0.9 47	0.945	1.025	1.000
	Student's t	-4.4	-3.0	-0.7	0.6	2.4	1.5	

TABLE 10.1 (continued)

Both clusters are characterised by initial functional impairment and decline in physical activity, which are associated with moderate levels of cultural fruition, limited technological access and moderate levels of social activation. However, pre-frail males clearly display a middle-class profile (as confirmed by positive t values of economic conditions and occupational prestige), and even show an acceptable propensity to physical activity. By contrast, the female pre-frail profile resembles typical lower-class conditions (with negative t values in education, economic condition and occupational prestige) and is exceeded even by the socioeconomic status of male respondents with full-blown frailty (who display less disadvantaged tvalues in education, economic condition and occupational prestige).

Lastly, clusters 5 (25.3%) and 6 (26.2%) outline the profiles of "robust" young-old female and male respondents (mean age of 73.6 \pm 5.8 and 73.6 \pm 6.1 years, respectively). These subjects show less disability and high levels of cultural fruition, average levels of technological skill and significantly high levels of social activation. In comparison with their male counterparts in cluster 6, females in cluster 5 seem slightly more inclined to physical activity (positive t values of 5.4 *vs* 4.3) and social activation (2.4 *vs* 1.5). By contrast, males in cluster 6 seem significantly more digitally integrated than females (7.6 *vs* 0.7). Nevertheless, the two clusters, despite sharing good levels of education, display evident differences in terms of class and status, with a clear gender disparity (t values of 4.5 for males *vs* 0.1 for females in economic conditions and of 5.3 *vs* -1.4 for women in occupational prestige).

STEFANO POLI

()

10.4 Conclusions

The profiles that emerged confirm the association of different frailty conditions and possible social factors in the ageing process.

A major activation, in physical terms and in terms of social integration and participation (conceived as higher levels of cultural fruition, adhesion to associations and groups) evidently reproduces protective factors against the risk of frailty. Similarly, more "robust" conditions seem to be associable to a major availability of resources, both in terms of economic conditions and lifestyle. Better health conditions seem to derive from more skilled professional experiences and affluent past occupational conditions in previous life phases, determining also higher perception of entitlements and provisions, potentially translating into higher propensity to activation, both in a physical sense (positively impacting on health conditions) and in a collective perspective (preserving identities and social roles).

On the contrary, the decline in frailty conditions seems to emerge in more disadvantaged conditions, where individual biographies show lower levels of resources and less affluent lifestyles.

Thus, the occupation prevalently developed in life and the consequent socioeconomic privileges seem to be predictive also of better quality of relations, as well of healthier and more active lifestyles during the retirement phase, confirming as key determinants for health conditions experienced in later live (Cavazza, Malvi, 2014).

Such relevance of social factors does not emerge only in the differentials between frail and robust profiles, but also among subjects of adequate health conditions. Indeed, the lesser active robust respondents substantially correspond to the clinical profile of older sedentary subjects, whose lifestyle can significantly reduce chances of ageing in good health and of longevity (Stessman *et al.*, 2009).

An utter interpretative element emerges from the indicators composing the FRAIL scale. Indeed, the measures regarding ambulation, resistance and fatigue focus on corporeity of conditions, essentially corresponding to the mobility dimension. In this sense, physical mobility reflects a primary condition of individual agency, conceived as the capability to actively intervene with a transformative effect on the living environment. Clearly, whenever an older subject results limited in mobility, both due to disability and structural limitations deriving from contextual adversity (in terms of accessibility barriers or closures, and in physically or socially determined),

10. THE IMPACT OF INEQUALITY FACTORS

she lacks the possibility to interact with the surrounding daily ambient, with consequent losses in cognitive stimulation and physical exercise.

Essentially, the clear relations between frailty and social factors show how becoming elderly, from the first retirement from the labour productive phase till the later stages of ageing, reproduces a crystallisation of social inequalities, whose generative factors already derive from previous periods of life (Poli, Pandolfini, 2016).

Ageing irremediably ratifies such inequalities, also because the progressive loss of agency, shows the impossibility of changing the surrounding environment in any way, being at this point precluded any chance of social mobility, somewhat possible only in the previous phases of existence.

In this sense, exactly the better or worse results in ageing differentials, corresponding to minor or major frailty conditions, seem particularly related to social, economic and cultural resources, permitting different lifestyles and determining consequently higher or lower levels of resistance and resilience to factors of frailty, disability and morbidity.

In other words, this reproduces, on the one hand, the unequal distribution of effective opportunities of successful ageing only for someone and, on the other hand, it determines for others, often socially more vulnerable, an acceleration of the ageing process, increasing the probability of institutionalisation and of mortality.

()

۲

Building Sustainable Learning: the Age-Friendly University (AFU) and Engagement of Older Adults for a Better Future

Rob Mark

11.1

Generations of Reflection and Response Around Later Life Learning

When seeking answers to the question, *how should universities respond to the needs and desires of older adults,* it is important to be clear about what the purposes of learning are as they ultimately influence the learnings that transpire. Rubenson (1998) identifies an early generation of ideas about lifelong learning with its roots in humanistic traditions and utopian visions. This assumes that people live in a world where the individual is highly motivated to learn, constantly seeking new knowledge. These visions were followed by a new generation of ideas from the late 1980s of lifelong learning, which appeared to be structured around an economistic worldview (p. 2). Here the focus is on supporting the needs of the economy, and education is focused on providing training and qualifications to meet perceived labour market demand.

A further generation of concern has emerged based on the connections between learning and wellbeing. Older people are more vulnerable to diminished health and wellbeing and may hold limited access to the learning and life skills necessary to stay well (Ludescher, 2016; Schmidt-Hertha, 2016; Selwyn *et al.*, 2003). There are large political and pedagogical issues that must be considered by universities and communities engaged together in later life learning (Borg, Formosa, 2016). Our focus is on this *fourth generation* of concern around later life learning and its potential for overcoming the hurdles between older adults and higher education; however, we reach a step further.

Across these generations, we find the premise that *learning throughout life is a human right* as a cornerstone of adult education and later life learning (Schuller, Watson, 2009). This premise is held by this article's authors drawing on lessons from those like Schuller and Watson (*ibid*.).

11. BUILDING SUSTAINABLE LEARNING

They offer ten proposals for upholding the human right to learn throughout life, but among their proposals are a call for the strengthening of choice and motivation to learn, a framework to give people control over their own lives as citizens, and strategising on local, regional and national levels. Modern learning theories and practice must do more to not see education as a commodity to be bought (Kolland, Ludescher, Waxenegger, 2016). These notions can be seen as our principles for and work towards the Age-Friendly University (AFU).

11.2

The Age-Friendly University (AFU): New Beginnings

In 2012, the Ministers of Education from the 47 members of the European Higher Education Area (EHEA) issued a proclamation that the student body entering and graduating from higher education institutions should reflect Europe's diverse populations, from which a commitment was made that included a focus on the ageing population. 2012 was deemed the European Year for Active Ageing and Solidarity between Generations (Withnall, 2016). While in the United States, organisations like the National Council on Ageing and events such as the White House Conference on Ageing continue to emphasise the empowering role of education (Manheimer, 1998; 2005) the connection between higher education and older adults remains insufficiently legitimated.

The story of the Age-Friendly University began at Dublin City University. Researchers, adult learners and external partners representing older adults' interests together developed ten principles (see TAB. 11.1) that underpin the AFU (https://www.dcu.ie/).

These design principles set the challenge incorporating the interests of older adults into a university's core teaching, research and engagement (civic) activities. The AFU seeks to play a leadership role in strategically addressing the challenges of an ageing population through its research agenda, curriculum development, engagement with the ageing community and relationship to its own academic and support staff and students. This requires an interdisciplinary perspective harnessing the institution's expertise and resources to investigate and address older adults' interests in relation to larger societal issues. The AFU approach also includes intergenerational learning programming that brings together younger and

۲

TABLE II.I The Age-Friendly University (AFU) – Principles

- I To encourage the participation of older adults in all the core activities of the university, including educational and research programmes.
- 2 To promote personal and career development in the second half of life and to support those who wish to pursue "second careers".
- 3 To recognise the range of educational needs of older adults (from those who were early school-leavers through to those who wish to pursue Master's or PhD qualifications).
- 4 To promote intergenerational learning to facilitate the reciprocal sharing of expertise between learners of all ages.
- 5 To widen access to online educational opportunities for older adults to ensure a diversity of routes to participation.
- 6 To ensure that the university's research agenda is informed by the needs of an ageing society and to promote public discourse on how higher education can better respond to the varied interests and needs of older adults.
- 7 To increase the understanding of students of the longevity dividend and the increasing complexity and richness that ageing brings to our society.
- 8 To enhance access for older adults to the university's range of health and wellness programmes and its arts and cultural activities.
- 9 To engage actively with the university's own retired community.
- 10 To ensure regular dialogue with organisations representing the interests of the ageing population.

older students, learning from each other for their mutual benefit (for example, Corrigan *et al.*, 2013).

The AFU represents one example of a strategic response on the part of higher education to the changing nature of the life-course from a linear to a more dynamic and complex model. Increased longevity, coupled with the changing nature of work (e.g. more IT and home-based), employment (e.g. insecurity) and family structures (e.g. more single households and "patchwork" families) suggest the need for a new view of the stages of life.

The impact of the AFU's dialogue between universities and the germination of its principles within the universities remains uncharted; however, we share stories of its beginning from three university perspectives. We use the word "dialogue" above to signal that higher education institutions are places not only for the exchanges of thought, but also places for mutual learning (Kolland, Ludescher, Waxenegger, 2016). Although in its be-

11. BUILDING SUSTAINABLE LEARNING

ginnings, the stories show AFU's commitment at the highest level of these universities to widen the participation of older adults in universities, there is no single blueprint on how the AFU might be developed (Slowey, 2015). We examine how the AFU concept has been applied in the three universities that define the core of the AFU movement to date – Dublin City University, the University of Strathclyde and Arizona State University.

11.3

Case Study 1: the University of Strathclyde

The University of Strathclyde is one of a small number of universities in the UK, which is growing a special focus on providing for the educational needs of older adults. The University's egalitarian ethos dates back to the late 18th century when John Anderson, the founding father, set out in his will a vision of a new democratic university with part-time education for non-traditional students, including artisans and women – "a place of useful learning" – now the University motto. Through public subscription, the John Anderson University came into being – now the University of Strathclyde.

Inclusivity and community outreach have characterised the development of the institution. By the mid-eighties, the university embraced the Learning in Later Life (3L) idea based largely on the University of the Third Age. As it was the first targeted 3L programme in Scotland, it gave birth to a wide-range of teaching, research and practical activities targeted to the needs of older adults. The flourishing 3L programme was formalised by the institution as the Centre for Lifelong Learning (CLL) in 1996. A broad range of public programmes were offered including languages, history, the arts, and natural and social sciences at all levels geared towards the needs and interests of older adults.

Currently, around 1,500 learners aged over 50 are enrolled in targeted programmes. The learning programmes are wide-ranging and flexible, with a great many other non-formal activities through self-help clubs and groups. On-going support and encouragement is also provided for teachers and tutors through non-formal training and workshops, especially addressing how to develop better ways of learning.

Not only was the initiative the first in Scotland, but it also remains one of the largest and most sustainable in Europe. CLL staff are often asked to identify the factors contributing to its sustainability, and three

ROB MARK

aspects have emerged. These are linked to the collaborative nature of the venture involving partnerships both within and outside the university in the development and delivery of programmes, support from the University for the work of CLL at the highest level and most importantly the engagement of older students in decision making and in the development of extra-curricular activities, some of which are discussed below.

The Centre, since beginning, has developed initiatives that cultivate the context for the creation of the AFU concept and principles. Four arenas for innovative practices for older adult learning follow.

First, the programme offers bridges between generations enabling young people to learn from therein seniors and vice versa. The intergenerational contact has been useful in promoting new images of both older and younger people, placing young people at the forefront of challenging ageism.

Second, the Centre targets older adults in the 50-59-year-old age range recognising the burgeoning older adult population, in part brought about by employer restructuring and downsizing. For example, one-day workshops were developed, half-day taster seminars, study trips, summer courses and lunchtime talks. Skills-based classes – especially information technology – have expanded exponentially, both for personal enrichment, and also for work readiness. An overall uptake of optional university credits has also demonstrated that some students wanted official acknowledgement, while others have seen these as enhancing job opportunities.

The third hallmark of Centre development is that older adults have been integrally involved in defining its offerings. Despite the sociable nature of classes, it is the personal connection to each other that enhances the experience. Tutors are engaged for three hours per class, two for teaching and a third for social interaction. Over refreshments in a pleasant room, tutors and students mingle. This strategy enables barriers to be lifted and enriching relationships to thrive. A 3L Students Association (3Ls) was formed in 1998 and has a current membership of over 900. It organises social events including lunches, theatre trips and study weekends. It also supports 16 special interest clubs, which are open for those registered in the programme and who are student association members. It works in parallel with the classes to ensure formal learning is supported by informal activities. Furthermore, it helps to integrate students into university life with members encouraged to take part in other events, such as university public lectures, intergenerational debates, concerts and art exhibitions. This involvement has raised the 3L student profile throughout the university, as well as engendering a sense of belonging to university.

11. BUILDING SUSTAINABLE LEARNING

Fourth, a host of older adult volunteer groups have been created to carry out the Centre's mission. Exemplars include: University Guides (campus tours), Computer Buddies (one-to-one learning) and the Spinal Injuries Support Network (social support). These projects have allowed students to apply their learning and to benefit the community. "50+ Challenge", set up in 1997, supported students in their search for paid employment. One-to-one mentoring, help with CV writing and interview skills were supplemented with study for the European Computer Driving Licence. Over the years the Centre has built considerable expertise in older adult employment, which is of increasing relevance.

Fifth, pathways have been built to facilitate older adults' sense of belonging and access to university facilities. Such engagement has contributed to the programme's success through the range of informal activities running in tandem with the volunteer projects. The work done over the years includes mailing promotional material, assisting at open days, staffing exhibition stands, community group talks, conference registrations, cataloguing books, hanging art exhibitions – and not least, welcoming visitors and new students to the Programme.

In line with the AFU's mission, the Centre has broadened its mission in two significant ways. First, it has built significant expertise in employment and skills related training to encourage older adults to improve career prospects. It has worked with employers, trade unions and other business organisations to explore productive and flexible ways of integrating and maintaining older adults in the workforce. Additional funding from the local authority and the European Union has largely supported these programmes.

Second, pathways have been developed for engaging older adults with the university's research agenda. Older adults are now engaging in research that will a) inform the university's ambition to provide more responsive programmes for older people and b) inform public policy makers about the educational needs of older people. An initial task was to prepare a historical record of the growth of provision for older learners over a 25-year period, to review existing provision and make recommendations for future development from the perspective of these older learners. The research, all conceptualised and executed by older adults, has informed the development of many university projects on inter-generational learning and on the potential for older adults (grandparents and other community members) to contribute to children's learning. This

ROB MARK

۲

new departure provides a way for learners to identify their own learning needs and provide evidence on what works.

Today the importance of learning in later life is now recognised as an integral part of the mission of the University of Strathclyde in its quest to enhance and promote active healthy ageing. It is also seen as an integral part of the university's strategy to widen access through encouraging older people from all backgrounds to engage in formal and non-formal learning within a university context.

Case Study 2: Dublin City University

Dublin City University (DCU) is a young university with a distinctive mission, which aims to «transform lives and societies through education, research and innovation» (https://dcu.ie/agefriendly/index.shtml).

DCU has responded to global challenges posed by demographic changes by becoming an "Age-Friendly University". In this, the university has built directly on its existing track record of research, educational innovation, widening access and community engagement in areas such as intergenerational learning, innovative delivery of lifelong education, health and wellness, social enterprise, support of non-traditional learners, careers, business and technology.

The AFU concept moved the university to a wider, strategic focus, incorporating the needs of older adults into the development of new opportunities and synergies locally, nationally and internationally. Under the auspices of the University President, a university-wide, interdisciplinary working group was established with the brief of engaging directly with older adults and their representatives to identify ways in which DCU, and higher education more generally, might best contribute to meeting their interests and needs: short, medium and longer term. Those involved included older adult learners from DCU's long established Intergenerational Learning Programme (Corrigan et al., 2013) and major agencies such as: Age Action Ireland, Age and Opportunity, AONTAS – the (Irish) National Adult Learning Association, the Senior Citizens Parliament, the Retirement Planning Council of Ireland, the Third Age Foundation, prominent experts (e.g. a social-gerontologist), U3A (University of the Third Age), various active retirement associations, representatives of the university's own retired community, and relevant public authorities.

11. BUILDING SUSTAINABLE LEARNING

In 2012, as DCU launched AFU and incorporated the ten principles into its mission. A subsequent Age-Friendly Implementation Action Team was established representing six "Pillars" of areas of work across the university: 1. Research and Innovation; 2. Teaching and Learning; 3. Lifelong Learning; 4. Intergenerational Learning; 5. "Encore" Careers and Enterprise; and, 6. Civic Engagement. This work was supported by the coherence of core strategies of DCU relating to educational innovation, widening access, civic engagement and research.

From a myriad of areas of development at DCU, four are highlighted here as illustrative of the range encompassed under the AFU concept. First, lifelong learning was further developed through the offering of flexible learning programmes (part-time or e-learning particularly at the postgraduate level), which address current research, identifying the challenges faced by relatively younger adult students (30-50s) engaging with full-time study (Slowey, Murphy, Politis, 2014). For example, DCU is host to Ireland's National Centre for Digital Learning. Also, DCU in the Dublin community offers shorter programmes targeted particularly at widening access to adults who did not previously regard higher education as "being for them". Arguably, however, at the core of provision for older adults lies DCUs Intergenerational Learning Programme (IGLP), which is directly centred on the identified needs and interests of older learners. This is done not in isolation, but in close collaboration with younger students with an educational approach designed to encourage each to learn from the other (Corrigan *et al.*, 2013).

Second, DCU has taken a lead in research on implications of specific aspects of ageing. For example, DCU has set a major focus on early onset dementia, getting involved with EU projects such as In-MINDD (innovative midlife intervention for dementia deterrence) and an Elevator Project supporting awareness raising and training in relation to dementia.

Third, DCU has developed programmes around health and wellness. DCU hosts a MedEx programme, which under the care of a medical director, brings several thousand older adults to the DCU campus for a wide range of programmes aimed at supporting healthy living including: HeartSmart – cardiac rehabilitation; BreatheSmart – pulmonary rehabilitation; Smart-Steps – vascular rehabilitation; Diabetes Health Steps – diabetes; Move On– cancer rehabilitation; and, Living Life – for people living with advanced/secondary cancer.

Fourth, DCU works to continue its collaborative research investigating learning among older adults. The use of innovative technology for learning holds potential for older adults who can be otherwise excluded from

ROB MARK

 $(\mathbf{0})$

learning activities due to physical and social barriers. Working in partnership across a range of disciplines (e.g. technology, adult education, communications) and with other researchers internationally, Universal Design for Learning (UDL) explores the use of multiple representations of information through alternative modalities to create new interfaces to support older adult learning (Murphy, 2015).

11.5

Conclusion

Experience shows how higher education institutions not only need to consider alternatives to their many systems geared towards full-time students, but they also must look outside of many conventional benchmarks which fail to capture the rich and diverse activities encompassed within the vision of the AFU. Additionally, there are challenges in discovering the types of learning which many older learners seek as opposed to prescribing how they should learn (Kolland, Ludescher, Waxenegger, 2016). Universities are well placed to become leaders in addressing these challenges. The illustrations we have provided of AFU activities are, we suggest, building blocks, which are both relevant and correctly targeted at promoting the quality of life of older adults. They are firmly based on a partnership approach involving teachers, researchers, community organisations and learners working together in the delivery of programmes. Along with age-friendly initiatives in related areas (such as health and wellness, urban development, technological innovation and cultural activities), they are all part of what might be an AFU trajectory.

Achieving a university that is age-friendly in practice would require nothing less than a cultural transformation for most higher education institutions. The challenges are clearly considerable for institutions with an educational mission centred on young adults. Experience suggests that there is much to be gained from even taking the first step of opening discussion and debate involving all interested parties. In these debates, the diverse voices of older members of our communities have an important role to play in bringing us back to central questions concerning the role of universities in contemporary society and issues of access to higher-level knowledge. The possibilities for mutual learning, dynamic development and innovative outcomes are considerable.

12

۲

Ageing-Friendly Economy and Labour Market for Seniors in Ukraine

Alina Khaletska

12.1

Introduction

In the article the urgent problem of involvement of seniors in rational employment has been investigated. The modern trend for ageing-friendly economy and labour market formation for seniors in Ukraine as a challenge for demographic policy has been analysed.

Today in Ukraine the development of an ageing-friendly economy and labour market is more declarative than practical. However, society needs the concept and strategy of building a future for the country with indicated prospects of attracting seniors to active economic life. This approach is very different from the current trends for seniors who have often been discriminated against in their right to work. This abstract is the author's attempt to ground the necessity of formation of the labour market that provides legal and economic support measures to ensure implementation of constitutional rights of senior people as well as their motivation to work.

12.2

Theoretical and Practical Approaches

Mostly theorists of ageing have taken different approaches to the basics of employment opportunities for seniors, in particular:

 Theory of disengagement, which means on retirement seniors have been separated from society and this separation (alienation) has become an adaptive mode for them (Rosen, Neugarten, 1960) and Cumming and Henry (1961).

- The theories of "useful" or "successful ageing" (Rowe, Kahn, 1987), that prove that in its perfect representation old age "should be" similar to

ALINA KHALETSKA

the middle age of a man. If not, this period of life can be considered an unhealthy deviation from the norm. The best policy for the elderly is to stay active as much as possible. The level of activity in the elderly is caused by lifestyle in younger years, especially under conditions of conscious maturity and depending on the individual characteristics.

- Scientist and gerontologist Ian Stuart-Hamilton in his famous *The Psychology of Ageing* wrote that the level of active ageing and the way a senior in his 80s meets the challenges of life have been determined by his personality and way of living in his 40s (Stuart-Hamilton, 2012).

 Theory of healthy behaviours, seniors' integration, means the need for an active role of the elderly in society, activation of their vital resources (Moorman, Matulich, 1993).

Theory of structural dependence (i.e. dependence and poverty of older people are explained with their limited access to material and social resources of society) as well as the theory of subculture of ageing (people taking easier transition to old age if they are attached to the subculture of elderly) (Rose, 2004; 2007).

More specifically, researchers have dedicated themselves to challenges for social and economic development that lead to demographic ageing, in particular:

Spatial and temporal global demographic ageing.

 New nature of ageing (ageing process that progresses not through reduced fertility but mostly through the inertia of the dynamics of age structure and longevity).

- Situation in post-socialist countries (low birth rate, not enough high life expectancy).

Practical studies prove that modern Ukrainian society needs modernising of its socio-economic sphere. According to the World Bank, Ukraine has one of the worst demographic profiles in Europe. Today in Ukraine there are many obstacles for older people to participate in economic, social, cultural and political life. It was outlined by the government that implementation of strategic socio-economic reforms for improvements of the education system, in particular the quality and availability of lifelong education is of vital importance for Ukraine. The formation and dynamics of these changes in Ukraine can be characterised by synchronisation with the EU policy of social inclusion and active participation of seniors.

Ukraine is characterised by its ageing population, which has become a nationwide trend. According to the demographic forecasts for Ukraine the highest level of ageing population is expected in the 2050s (people aged

12. AGEING-FRIENDLY ECONOMY AND LABOUR MARKET

over 60 years old are expected to be 21.7 per cent of the total population, in particular women – 26 per cent, men – 16.8 %). The most senior adult population in the country is rural women (the proportion is 19.1 for urban areas and 26.1% for rural ones). There is also a distinct regional differentiation of the demographic situation in Ukraine caused by geographic, historical, economic and political factors, in particular with different structures of production, regional differences in quality of life, specificity of labour markets, differences in lifestyle of rural and urban population (especially in metropolitan areas), dynamics of migration, urbanisation trends, etc. According to the forecast, in 2061 the proportion of young people in the population of Ukraine will be 14.9%, and those aged 60 years and older, 31.2% (in 2013, 21.4%). In conditions of increasing the retirement age, reducing the traditional distribution schemes, providing "unpopular" pension reforms there is a need for practical research for balance between employment and retired life (http://www.idss.org.ua/).

This paper aims to introduce the approaches of formation of an ageing-friendly economy for seniors as the way to positive changes in the demographic policies in Ukraine to adapt society to the ageing population.

12.3 Analytical Framework

12.3.1. WORKING AND PENSION AGE POPULATION: STATISTICS

A demographic profile in Ukraine shows that the proportion of people in pension age is over 24%. Economic burden on the working population – 411 persons/1,000, while the overall rate of economic activity – 723 dependents/1,000 persons of working age.

The number of contributors to pension insurance is 15.2 million, number of pensioners – 13.8 MM., i.e. 90.8% of the average pension is financed. The share of pension expenditure of GDP is now 15% and the fiscal burden on taxpayers' premiums remains the highest (33.2% for employers and 2.5% for employees). If in 1966 the share of the population of retirement age was 15.9%, in 2006 this figure had increased 1.5 times, and by 2046 it will increase to 35% of the total population of Ukraine (http://www.mlsp.gov.ua/labour/control/uk/index).

The average scenario made by the Institute of Demography and Social Studies named by M. Ptukha from the NAS of Ukraine proves that

ALINA KHALETSKA

in 2061 in Ukraine the elderly loading to working age population (65 +/15-64) will increase from 22% to 45%, the potential support factor (15-64/65+) will decline from 4.6 to 2.3 (on international standards). Moreover, the Ukrainian reality proves that a narrowing of the age range to 20-59 years is expected. As a result, the elderly loading to working age population (60 +/20-59) that now stands at 36% will increase to 65% by the end of the forecast period and the rate of potential support (20-59/60+) will decline from 2.8 to 1.5 (http://www.idss.org.ua/).

Besides there is a trend for rising pension costs (because of increasing the retirement age, reducing the traditional distribution schemes, the calculation of pensions and other "unpopular" reforms in the social sphere).

The increase in pensioners' contingent and reduction of the number of employed taxpayers have a negative influence on the pension system and the quality of life of pensioners in Ukraine. On the one hand, the problem lies in the availability of employment opportunities for pensioners, and on the other – in the growth of unemployment in society.

The approach to the involvement of seniors in rational employment can be realised through the development and implementation of the integrated system of recovery of labour potential. This is based on the targeted system that allows applying seniors to the labour market and restoring their professionally important qualities, and bringing about the adaptation of tangible and intangible external factors that affect the integration of seniors. The system of lifelong learning is to be adapted to the requirements of multiple markets of different specialties, and the future requirements of the labour market can be taken into account beforehand because of the large inertia of the system of training and retraining. The challenges for the formation of the labour market for seniors are in economic recovery, medium and small business development, re-launching the economy in an ageing society, cross-sector cooperation for new job infrastructure, digital economy, smart citizenship, etc.

12.3.2. AGEING-FRIENDLY ECONOMY: CONTEXT

The situation that has developed in Ukraine today is hardly conducive to enforcing the provisions of the basic concept of an "ageing-friendly economy". It could be explained by the following stereotypes:

- Senior generation. Negative characteristics reduce its value in the life of society. Concept of "successful ageing" (low probability of disease or disability, high capacity for learning and physical activity, active participation

12. AGEING-FRIENDLY ECONOMY AND LABOUR MARKET

in society) does not "work" in Ukraine mostly because of the influence of two groups of factors: firstly, the overall situation in the country (the level of socio-economic development, political system, environmental conditions, traditions, mentality, etc.); secondly, factors that depend mainly on each individual person (his/her individual characteristics, lifestyles, past experience, willingness/unwillingness to maintain social relationships with people in younger age groups, etc.) (World Health Organisation data).

- Social exclusion. Basic Convention of the International Labour Organisation "Discrimination (Employment and Occupation) Convention No. 111" (1958) proclaimed the fight against discrimination, the principle of non-discrimination in the workplace (Convention concerning Discrimination in Respect of Employment and Occupation, and coming into force on 15th June 1960). In the Labour Code of Ukraine under Article 2-1 ensuring equality of labour rights regardless of any circumstances, it has not been regulated that age is a factor of discrimination. Though in Ukraine there are no trade unions for the elderly, which would provide them with the opportunity to create an organised force and influence the development and implementation of programmes and strategies that directly relate to their interests.

- Age discrimination. In modern community in the workplace it has become so popular that the age discrimination scale is approaching gender irregularities. In the European Union, 58% of respondents believe that in their country there is age discrimination. Women constitute the majority among persons who have not acquired the right to retirement pension or the amount of such pensions is significantly lower than for men. Analysing the problem of ageism, there are two more vulnerable categories of workers who face discrimination at work – young people and senior groups. It is a stereotype that older workers "take" jobs away from young people. Studies from the OECD show that the employment rate of older people is positively correlated with the level of youth employment, that older workers do not restrict employment opportunities for young people.

— Labour market. There is a correlation between older workers and forms of price competition in the labour market, i.e. having retired for a second source of income, senior workers easily agree to work for lower wages actually dumping the cost of labour. In addition, older workers are often less demanding about the nature of work and working conditions, filling a niche with jobs that do not attract young or middle-aged people.

ALINA KHALETSKA

- Phenomenon of the age polarisation of the labour market. This means that employment of older workers is concentrated in low-productivity sectors with low salaries or harmful or adverse conditions. Politicians and scientists debate about the role of older workers in the economy and the labour market in conditions of a global financial crisis. In particular, many EU countries are going to reduce the number of jobs on the labour market, and an unemployment restraining mechanism involves earlier retirement schemes.

Besides, it is necessary to take into consideration subjective peculiarities of the senior age. According to French psychologist Charlotte Buhler there are five phases of personal development and the last of them "ageing" begins at 65-70 years (Alperovich, 2004). This scientist believes that at this stage many people are no longer interested in achieving the goals that they set for themselves in young ages. Seniors keep themselves self-conscious and can choose the way of life they like. But this choice can be positive or negative depending on the type of personality and life circumstances.

The well-known psychologist V. Henry identified three groups of elderly based on a criterion for the presence of "mental energy" in particular:

The *first group* includes those people who feel quite cheerful and energetic, continue to work, have certain responsibilities in the family and at work.

The *second group* includes people who are not employed, do not perform regular duties in society and deal with personal affairs, and exercise their hobby. These people have enough energy to be employed.

The *third group* includes people with weak psychological energy who do not work and do not implement other forms of employment.

Labour employment of seniors has both explicit and implicit implications. The ability to provide them financial support is the most obvious consequence of employment (among others).

Studies show that seniors consider their job more attractive than young men. In the period before retirement a person becomes more anxious and loses self-confidence. There are a number of reasons, which make the relationship of a man to retirement: the desire to stop working or to continue working; the arrival of a new, younger employee; poor health; financial capacity of the person. In any case, lifestyle changes cause a need to find new employment, a new social circle adapting to a new social status (Ilyin, 2012).

Famous scientists Eckerd and Thompson believe that adaptation to the retirement phase of life is better when (if) the person is preparing

ahead for a new cycle of life. Preparing for retirement, according to researchers, consists of three elements: a gradual reduction of the number of duties; planning for retirement and retirement itself (Ilyin, 2011).

But social perceptions and behaviours have been changing slowly.

Undoubtedly the state could also favour labour market opportunities in Ukraine, but today the government mostly sets requirements.

On the one hand, the importance of using the employment potential of older people is growing especially because of the reduction of the number of the working-age population. Fewer generations enter the labour market and start their working careers compared with the number of generations retired and leaving the labour market. The increase in life expectancy of healthy people under their sixties enforces their ability to work and their employment potential as a valuable resource for production growth.

On the other hand, this requires additional training or retraining that becomes economically disadvantageous for employers because of the additional costs incurred.

12.3.3. AGEING-FRIENDLY ECONOMY: EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITIES

In the economic sphere enhancing retirement income needs:

Creating the conditions for the training and retraining of senior citizens, for instance: centres/programmes for the retired "How to launch a business on-line", provide e-start-ups for adults in ageing-friendly industries, create new job infrastructures: small businesses for the elderly (freelance opportunities, "work.ua" platform for seniors, etc.).

Promoting employment of retirees through tax and other benefits to commercial and public organisations in recruiting retirees, for instance: improvements of joint activities with employment agencies and services to facilitate and mainstream employment of pensioners aimed at their skills' upgrade and new skills: "Guide/Programme for Large, Medium and Small Business Owners", "Pre-pension schemes for staff", "How to Start Business On-line": the EU's best practices for Job Growth and Investment", as well as facilitating White Book "Cross-sector Cooperation in Re-launching Pension Schemes/Programme in Ukraine: SMEs for the third age".

These could be aimed at the goal of economic recovery; medium and small business development; re-launching the economy in an ageing society; cross-sector cooperation for new job infrastructures; digital economy: supply and demand equilibrium on the labour market for seniors.

ALINA KHALETSKA

(�)

12.4 Conclusion

In view of the aforementioned, it has been mentioned that the increase of high employment potential of older people in terms of demographic ageing will lead to economic challenges, in particular: the availability of the labour market; motivation of economic activity; the "profile" of employment; coverage of pension benefits and risks of poverty; reducing inequality, harmonising the interests of various age groups; broadened lifestyle range of interests, social connections; ability to view old age limits and raise the pensionable age.

Older workers have important advantages such as: the foundation of their competitiveness in the labour market, skills, practical skills, experience and maturity.

They often demonstrate a commitment to their work, rarely take sick leave and spend more time at work.

Besides, an ageing-friendly economy will bring benefits by minimising threats of labour shortages caused by demographic ageing that cannot be fully compensated by involving migrant workers or outsourcing, as well as measures aimed at stimulating the birth rate which have a very limited effect.

Under these conditions, increasing the economic activity of senior people is the most promising area of demographic, economic and social policy in Ukraine.

۲

Physiological Basis of Storage Longevity in the Sport of Elite Athletes of Various Specialisations

Gaik Aleksanyants, Svetlana Pogodina

13.1

Introduction

Intensive development of professional sports in the case it is an alternative income source favours the emergence of highly qualified athletes in their forties (both male and female) at the sports arena. At this age, the involuntary age specific processes take place (Beneke *et al.*, 2011; Hirshoren *et al.*, 2002; Pogodina, Aleksanyants, 2015). These circumstances make the problem of quality, functional monitoring of athletes of that age group actual, as well as the comparison between their functional status and that of relatively young athletes in order to reveal the physiological factors that act as a basis of forming and supporting the functional state of those who age actively (Crewther *et al.*, 2015; Lazovic *et al.*, 2015; Macut *et al.*, 2015; Pogodina, Aleksanyantz, 2016; Zinchenko, Aleksanyants, 2015).

The purpose of this article is to study the functional status of highly qualified athletes of different age and sex.

13.2

The Methods and Organisation of Research

Highly qualified male and female athletes of junior, of the first and second mature ages were examined. The athletes do the kinds of sports that aim at the development of aerobic stamina (swimmers, cyclists, long distance runners – "stamina" group) and speed-force stamina (weightlifters – "strength" group). The female athletes were divided into groups in accordance with the character of their menstrual cycle (MC) – with ovulatory menstrual cycle (OMC – aged 16-26) and an ovulatory menstrual cycle (AMC – aged 37-35). Eight research series were held (4 for males and 4 for

GAIK ALEKSANYANTS, SVETLANA POGODINA

females) aimed at studying basic adaptive mechanisms that determine the functional status of athletes (FIG. 13.1).

The research was held in standard conditions of veloergometric test of incrementally increasing load implemented during at least 5 minutes in the following working modes (w): aerobic (regenerating) w1-50w, heart rate 150-160 beats per minute), aerobic-anaerobic (developing) w2-100-120 w, heart rate 150-160 beats per minute), anaerobic-aerobic (W3-150-220 W, heart rate 170-185 beats per minute). As a specific load test for swimmers "a distance swimming test" was used. In it different modes of swimming were modelled by using distances of different intensity and duration: aerobic mode – heart rate 130-140 beats per minute, duration 1 hour 30 minutes; aerobic-anaerobic mode – heart rate 150-156 beats per minute, duration 21-23 minutes; anaerobic-aerobic mode – heart rate 170-190 beats per minute, duration 11-12 minutes. Specific load test for weightlifters was implemented by muscle-strengthening exercises "weight snatch" which was done lasting 10 minutes. The working modes were modelled by the change of the weights: 16, 24, 32 kg. The female athletes' characteristics were studied in different periods of their menstrual cycle. Statistical treatment was held using Student's t-test, Wilcoxon t-test, Mann-Whitney U test, correlation analysis. Significant differences were estimated at p < 0.05.

13.3

Results

The research of hormonal functions revealed a tendency to enforce the glucocorticoid reactions of male athletes who demonstrated weakened reactions. In the groups of athletes of junior and first mature age the enforcement revealed at high liminal levels of load. At the second mature age the liminal load, at which the production of cortisol was noted, was becoming lower, and in the "strength" group in the circumstances of specific work the excess growth of cortisol production in the initial condition was noted. That is, with ageing the enforcement of glucocorticoid reaction was noted at the low liminal levels of load.

The gender specificity of hormonal reactions was connected with their weakening in inter-menstrual period. Its enforcement was noted at lowering the level of estrogenic saturation in menstrual \ and pre-menstrual pe-

13. PHYSIOLOGICAL BASIS OF STORAGE LONGEVITY

riods, This means that the glucocorticoid reaction of female athletes was co-related with the level of estrogenic saturation.

The results of the research of metabolic mechanism adaptation demonstrated that the highest growth of lactic acid production was noted at specific loads implemented in anaerobic-aerobic mode at the junior and especially at the first mature age. At the second mature age the growth of lactic acid production was noted at a comparatively low level of load – in the conditions of aerobic-anaerobic mode. In the age group of female athletes with OMC a considerable growth of lactic acid production proportional to the growth of the liminal modes of load was observed. Meanwhile, the lactic acid production of female athletes with AMC grew at low levels of load.

The study of non-specific mechanism of adaptation and the analysis of the leukogram made it possible to witness the formation of higher activation reactions of male athletes of the junior and second mature age; this is connected with a great influence of humoral factors on the activity of non-specific mechanisms. Alongside it, in the first mature age at the greatest activity of humoral factors the reactions of calm activation are noted, which means high stability of homeostatic mechanisms. The reactions of calm activation and training are defined in female athletes' organisms. Consequently, humoral factors have a relatively weak impact on female athletes' organisms which also has an effect on the weakening of the endocrine and non-specific mechanism of reactivity.

The research of the functions of cardiovascular system and the vegetative regulation of cardiac rhythm in particular revealed specific peculiarities of vegetative reactivity to the load in anaerobic-aerobic mode which were presented by credible lowering of parasympathetic impacts in the "strength" groups with a significantly greater shift for juniors. The described regulatory shift conditioned more prominent evidence of the proportion of heart rate in the increase of the minute volume of blood circulation which was more that 150% for juniors. In the first mature age the proportion of heart rate in the increase of the minute volume of blood circulation became low while in the second mature age it grew. In this age the "strength" group also witnessed a credible growth of the tension index up to 239 standard units. The peculiarities revealed witness the growth of reaction of the cardiovascular system to high liminal load of the "strength" group due to lowering of activity of autonomous mechanism which is clearly presented in the second mature age and requires an operational control of the functional state of highly intensive loads.





The chrono-biological peculiarities of the nervous regulatory influences on the heart rate were observed in the female athletes' age groups. A vegetative reaction was revealed to the load connected with the growth of power values of high-frequency waves and the lowering of power values of waves of ex-

(

13. PHYSIOLOGICAL BASIS OF STORAGE LONGEVITY

tremely low frequency in the OMC dynamics in the 8th-16th day period and in the AMC dynamics in the 20th-22nd day period which witness the enforcement of the autonomous regulation contour and the weakening of the central one and which is the temporary criterion of the most favourable variant of regulation of the heart rhythm in the female athletes' groups. The quality of haemodynamic reactions is similar to that of the vegetative ones. Positive inotropic effects and the growth of external cardiac performance were revealed in OMC in the 8th-16th day period and in AMC in the 20th-22nd day period.

The research of the respiratory mechanism of adaptation revealed a relatively high reactivity of respiration system at all levels of liminal work modes in the "stamina" age groups. However, reactivity was highest in the first mature age. In the second mature age a relative weakening of ventilator reaction was demonstrated at a high liminal load level. The highest level of ventilator reaction was defined in the junior age. Effective ventilator equivalents in breathing pattern were demonstrated at all steps of load testing in the junior and first mature age. In the second mature age high effectiveness of the breathing pattern is supported at relatively low liminal load modes. In the "strength" group the highest reactivity of the respiratory system is also revealed in the first mature age. At high liminal load levels, the drop of the effectivity of the breathing pattern was defined in all "strength" age groups. The lowering of the reactivity of the respiratory system was demonstrated in the second mature age thus forming the conditions for the drop of ventilation effectiveness – the growth of ventilator equivalents, lowering of the level of delivering oxygen to lungs. Thus, in the second mature age the weakening of breath reactivity leads to lowering of the effectiveness of breathing patterns which is mostly revealed in the "strength" group.

In the female athletes' age group with OMC in the $13^{th}-16^{th}$ day period the following was noted: an evident enforcement of ventilation and gas exchange, prevailing of oxygen consumption intensity and a rise of the oxygen value of the respiratory cycle. The period of $8^{th}-9^{th}$ day coincides with the largest increase of carbon dioxide release intensity. In the AMC dynamics, the largest increase of the ventilation of lungs while working with intensity characterises the period beginning from the $20^{th}-22^{nd}$ day and is accompanied by a prevailing increase of carbon dioxide, the rise of ventilator equivalents, lowering of delivering oxygen into lungs. That means that achieving high values of haemodynamic parameters by female athletes in these periods occurs with tense respiratory functions.

The guidelines of the research of physical development characteristics revealed the shift of values of total and partial body sizes and integral indexes

GAIK ALEKSANYANTS, SVETLANA POGODINA

in the "strength" group characterising the reserves of oxygen transporting systems in the zone of the value scale of their relatively low functional level in relation to the "stamina" group which was especially expressed in the second mature age. The significant correlated interconnections revealed between the body mass values and the maximum consumption of oxygen in the "strength" group witness the influence of morphometric shifts on functional changes.

In the female athletes' age group with AMC the growth of the thoracic cage motility and the life index lowering were revealed. The negative correlation of life index with the values of the thoracic cage expiratory circumference witness that that functional shift was conditioned by the growth of the metric parameter mentioned which evidently rebuilds the working scheme of the respiratory apparatus and forms the conditions for the hyper kinetics of the ventilator response and the change of the structure of the vital capacity of lungs.

The integral assessment of the adaptive reactions made it possible to build conversion models of functional abilities of athletes of different age and sex. The model of the first mature age underlines a greater intensity of conjugate enforcement of adaptive mechanisms which witnesses the growth of reaction to high liminal influence in comparison with the previous age period. The model of the second mature age reveals the weakening of reaction at high liminal influence, in particular at the level of respiratory and metabolic mechanism. Along with the tendency mentioned, an excess enforcement in the regulating mechanisms – vegetative nervous and hormonal – in the "strength" group is revealed, and this makes the functional abilities of these athletes considerably low.

The systematisation of chronobiologic changes of the level of functioning of main systems in the female athletes age groups made it possible to differentiate regulatory factors determining the differences in the most favourable time periods of OMC and AMC to reveal high functional potential of oxygen transport systems.

13.4

Conclusion

Sex and age specific algorithms of conversion of the level of functional abilities of different liminal load modes can be used while forecasting the adaptive abilities and functional status of highly qualified athletes of different sex and age.

۲

Education of the Third Generation Makes a Person Necessary for Society

Mutallim Rahimov

14.1 Introduction

In Azerbaijan specialists that meet the permanent demands of the labour market are needed. The cadres that are lacking especially in the field of oil and gas refining, high technology, information and communication technology and programming in our country have been invited from foreign countries to try to fill this gap. We may say that all the engineers who work for oil companies in our republic are foreign citizens. Though the youth that receive education abroad are enlisted in this field, it is noticed that adults are not able to work there. We can also talk about other fields in which contemporary technology is applied. Demands for specialists in new fields turn adults away from society, because they do not meet the demands of the day and become older.

In the globalising world, knowledge and information are changing rapidly, one education is not enough and does not provide development throughout life. Even most knowledge received in the most perfect education system loses its importance after a while when the education process is over.

14.2 Adult Education

To take an active part in the economic, social, cultural and political life of a society that is permanently updating, becoming rich and adapting to the demands of today's knowledge, skills and personal qualifications of the older generation in terms of quantity and quality have become important.

()

MUTALLIM RAHIMOV

If we take into consideration that according to the idea accepted in the world that every year 20-30% of knowledge, skills and occupations are getting older every 5-8 years, it shows how huge the problems that adults encounter are. That is, the only way out from this situation in the future is to involve adults in education. Because education is a field that teaches how to make a good decision in any situation in our life. Azerbaijan has chosen a development way like that, so there is no need to prove how significant it is for Azerbaijan. Because otherwise a large, social society fulfilling the function of carrier and distributor of performing training, education, ethics and moral values would be isolated from society.

In this case, national properties can completely melt in the process of the common values of globalisation while degradation and weathering processes go fast and gradually national features disappear. Moreover, isolation of society brings them face to face with moral, social, psychological, legal and financial difficulties and problems. In the end, they cannot find other options but to be considered unnecessary entities for the community and others. And this would mean the destruction of the spiritual and physical condition of adults.

«The ultimate aim of education is not to accumulate knowledge but action» – said C. Hibben former president of Princeton University in the United States. It is evident from this saying that accumulating knowledge is not an aim, it is a tool; the aim is application of knowledge in life practice and movement. Indeed, Mr. Hibben was right that he said education increases dynamics of adults and turns them into society as active persons. Another important problem in Azerbaijan is the legislation that considers removing employees forcibly who reach retirement age.

If we take into consideration that retirement age for women is 60 and for men 63, legislation automatically prohibits those who reach retirement age to work in the civil service and other positions, as well as in the public health and education system. Thus, in our society there appears a large army of unemployed and isolated people. They have to adapt to and work to provide companies or live alone by themselves as isolated beings. Not involving adults in the education system in the adaptation process causes not gaining new knowledge. And this cannot be considered a normal case. Because «the aim of education of adults is to form citizens to be able to grow the society at the level of needs of the age and preserve our national benefits» (Mammadzade, 2005).

Adults begin a new education process when they want and need it. An adult makes decisions him/herself, regulates his/her life, chooses op-

tions him/herself. Foreign motives are of secondary importance for adults, sometimes their roles reduce to nought. On the contrary, for them inner motives of activity and comprehension of significance of the teaching material are highlighted.

This option of adults makes for certain difficulties in training. They do not want to attend lessons or they leave lessons when they are not thought equal. It has become possible to observe this case in the courses organised for adults at Baku Eurasian University (we should note that adults are people considered of age of more than 50). They must believe and be confident that the education they gain will become beneficial for their near future activities. Otherwise, they do not want to spend time on that.

14.3

Economic Impulse for Adult Education

There are numerous factors affecting the education of adults. This list includes unemployment, a number of retired people and adults who receive lower wages want to convert it into a modern job by which he/she can get higher wage. According to the State Statistics Committee, the case of 1st January 2016, the number of economically active people in Azerbaijan amounted to 4915.3 thousand persons, this list includes 4671.6 thousand persons of the population engaged in labour activity. On 1st January 2016, the number of persons given the status of formally unemployed by the employment agency in the country was 28.9 thousand. But, in reality, this number is higher, because the unemployed who are not registered are more. The average amount of unemployment benefit totalled 262.3 manats.

On 1st January 2016, the number of retired people was 1,295,900 (http://olaylar.az/news/sosial/156034) and the average pension amount was 176.03 manats, and the average monthly amount of old-age pension amounted to 196.08 manats. It is obvious that the number of officially unemployed (there are many elderly people among them before retirement) and retired people is many more in Azerbaijan. If we compare their benefits and pension today, they are 154 and 115 USD. And this is not a large amount and it can be considered a serious reason that can make those people enthusiastic about working. These people need re-education to be competitive in the labour market that make the problem of education of adults important in the country. The importance of education of the third

MUTALLIM RAHIMOV

age, in other words, this problem is of great importance in terms of the development of entrepreneurship in the country and is also recognised as development and quality based on technology in accordance with civil market traditions because of serious needs for enlightenment.

Economic development, poverty reduction and sustainable educational reforms should raise adult education to the level of priority in the country and turn adult education, which is an instrument for development of human resources, into a strategic direction. Because in accordance with socio-economic development in the country a number of fields have to pass their priority to other fields after a certain period.

Practices in different countries show that while society is developing the needs are increasing and in such a condition on one hand adult education turns into a goal, on the other hand it turns into the object of activity. Development of society defines new priorities for the education system and today one of those priorities is adult education. On the other hand though, the 19th century was characterised as an agrarian society and the 20th century as an industrial society, the 21st century turned into the knowledge and information society. For this reason, the European Union called adult education "one of the keys that opens the doors of the 21st century". World practice shows that adult education being an integral part of additional education is such an education system that is carried out on the basis of education programmes to provide to adults in order to adapt to the changes in society and economics.

I4.4

Conclusions

Every state forms adult education according to the characteristics of its education system.

In this case, proper programmes and educational materials are prepared in accordance with the needs of the society and labour market. Those documents are prepared for everyone regardless of religion, national identity, view, first education and social status, as well as sex (Mehrabov, 2010). At the same time, a number of factors should also be considered during the organisation of adult education. These can be attributed to the following: adult education should not aim to substitute a basic education, on the contrary it should be realised on its basis; adult education must confer on women relevant qualifications to work in pro-
14. EDUCATION OF THE THIRD GENERATION

duction fields for males; adult education should pave the way for people who have no vocation and education to get a relevant vocation, all factors that are able to disturb adult education, as well as gaps in the field of legislation should also be eliminated; time between work and education should correctly be determined, fast training methods and technologies that are scientifically justified should be created for adult education; during adult education experience of individual activities should be considered and it should be practiced; the education system should be adjusted to socio-cultural and economic environment, it should be considered that expenditures for education are more effective than those for social life, culture and economics; in development programmes measures connected with adult education should be considered, adult education should be directed and coordinated in accordance with the goals in national-regional socio-economic development programmes; certain discounts should be applied for state and non-state education centres, organisations and communities involved in adult education.

We consider that it is important to define the following basic competences for adult education in Azerbaijan. Those competences may be the following: communication competences in the native language, communication competences in foreign languages, mathematics and technical competences; ICT competences, to learn learning, lifelong learning competences; political and social competences; initiative and entrepreneurial skills, life in multi-cultural society, theoretical and practical comprehension of legal knowledge and competences of comprehension of cultural values.

Though there are different approaches to solving social integration problems of the older generation that are being widely discussed at present, the common opinion is that governments should try to form such a circumstance for the population in the country so that every individual could join the social life of the society and comprehend existing norms and values easily. Serious attention should be paid to adult education to provide this condition in our country, the relevant legislative basis should be created and people in this field should be encouraged. And all these can produce an idea in adults that they are important for our society.

 $(\blacklozenge$

۲

The Travails of the University of the Third Age Movement: a Critical Commentary

Marvin Formosa

15.1 Introduction

The second half of the twentieth century witnessed a proliferation of educational institutions catering exclusively to the learning needs and interests of older adults. The University of the Third Age (U3A), founded in 1973, has become one of the most successful institutions engaged in late-life learning. U3As can be loosely defined as socio-cultural centres where older persons acquire new knowledge of significant issues, or validate the knowledge which they already possess, in an agreeable milieu and in accordance with easy and acceptable methods (Midwinter, 1984). Its target audience are people in the third age of the life course – that is, a life phase «in which there is no longer employment and child-raising to commandeer time, and before morbidity enters to limit activity and mortality brings everything to a close» (Weiss, Bass, 2002, p. 3).

15.2 French Origins (1972-1980)

Following legislation passed by the French government in 1968 which made universities responsible for the provision of lifelong education, the summer of 1972 saw Pierre Vellas coordinating at the University of Toulouse a summer programme of lectures, guided tours, and other cultured activities, for retired persons (Radcliffe, 1984). Surprisingly, when the programme came to end the enthusiasm and determination of the participants showed no signs of abating, so that Vellas was "forced" to launch a new series of lectures for retirees for the forthcoming academic year. Vellas (1997) formulated four key objectives for this new educational enterprise

– namely, I. raising the quality of life of older people, 2. realising a permanent educational programme for older people in close relational contact with other younger age groups, 3. co-ordinating gerontological research programmes, and last but not least, 4. realising initial and permanent education programmes in gerontology. The first U3A was open to anyone who had reached statutory retirement age in France at that time, and who was willing to fill in a simple enrolment form and pay a nominal fee.

Learning activities were scheduled for daylight hours, five days a week, for eight or nine months of the year. After the programme was marketed on a limited basis, 100 older persons attended the opening session for the 1972-1973 academic year (Philibert, 1984).

Teachers were highly enthusiastic about the motivation and sheer human warmth displayed by older students and marvelled at the way they learnt with new techniques such as audio-visual language laboratories. The first U3A curriculum, at Toulouse, focused on a range of gerontological subjects, although in subsequent years subject content became mainly in the humanities and arts (Vellas, 1997). The Union French University of the Third Age was founded in 1980 and quickly sought to clarify the meaning of the word "university" in the title, and therefore, which kinds of U3As were eligible to become members (Radcliffe, 1984). The dominant view was that U3As should strive to maintain high academic standards by holding direct links with recognised and established universities, and to uphold the credibility of the label "university" by increasing the proportion of university academic staff (*ibid*.). As a result, although lectures were combined with debates, field trips, and recreational and physical opportunities, the French academic maxim of "teachers lecture, students listen" was constantly upheld (Percy, 1993, p. 28). Indeed, all U3As during the 1970s operated through a more or less a strict "top-bottom" approach, where the choice of subjects and setting of course curricula was the responsibility of university academics, and with learners expected to show deference to the intellectual eminence of university professors.

15.3

The British Renaissance (1981-1990)

As the U3A phenomenon gained increasing international recognition, it did not escape the attention of British educators and gerontologists. The first U3A in Britain was established in Cambridge, in July 1981, and quick-

()

ly replicated in other cities and towns (Midwinter, 2004). The British version underwent a substantial change compared to the original French model, with Midwinter (1984, p. 3) going as far as to describe the use of the title "U3A" as «an unashamed burglary of the continental usage». Rather than being incorporated within social science, education, or theology faculties within traditional universities, British U3As embraced a self-help approach based upon the principle of reciprocity, of mutual giving and taking. Self-help groups include people coming together to assist each other with common problems, providing mutual support and an exchange of information, whilst being typified by minimal social distance between them (Brownlie, 2005). The self-help model holds immense potential for late-life education since experts of all kinds retire with the skills and interest to successfully increase both the number and range of resources available. The key objectives stipulated for British U3As, according to one co-founder, included

to educate British society at large in the facts of its present age constitution and of its permanent situation in respect of ageing [...] to create an institution for those purposes where there is no distinction between those who teach and those who learn, where as much as possible of the activity is voluntary, freely offered by members of the University [...] to undertake research on the process of ageing in society, and especially on the position of the elderly in Britain (Laslett, 1989, pp. 177-8).

The hallmarks of British U3As include their sturdy independence and anti-authoritarian stance (Huang, 2006). Aspiring to instigate a democratic movement that enriches the lives of older adults through the development of a range of learning, action, and reflection opportunities, British U3As declined to form part of «the official, state-founded, established structure with its professional teachers and administrators» (*ibid.*, p. 74).

15.4 Contemporary Developments (1991-2017)

The U3A movement has gone a long way since its inception. In 2008, the International Association of Universities of the Third Age (IAUTA) included memberships from U3As situated in 23 different countries, although U3As are present in more than 60 countries (Swindell, 2012). IAUTA organises a biennial international congress and encourages collaborative projects be-

tween U3As situated in different countries. Another productive organisation is WorldU3A. Founded in 1997, it encourages international contacts between U3As through internet activity. One of its invaluable projects consists of the ongoing "technological support" email list moderated by U3A members which provide rapid answers to technology-based problems (*ibid*.).

Although many centres still follow either the French or British traditions, there are at present four other models: the "culturally-hybrid", "French-speaking North American", "South American", and "Chinese" types (Levesque, 2006). Culturally-hybrid U3As include both Francophone and British elements. For instance, U3As in Finland are affiliated with a university programme, use university resources, but then rely heavily on "local learning groups" of older people to define the curricula so that they are characterised by an open-door policy and are essentially cooperative unions (Yenerall, 2003). The U3A in Malta also combines Francophone and Anglophone characteristics by having lectures by university-based professors as well as interest-group sessions under the guidance of members (Formosa, 2012). French-speaking U3As in Canada form part of a traditional university, but then are seriously intent on blurring the distinction between higher education and third-age learning. For instance, the U3A in Montreal established a Bachelor of Arts degree programme to meet the complex needs and interests of the third-age population whereby admission requirements included «appropriate former studies or selftaught knowledge» and «sufficient knowledge of both French and English» (Lemieux, 1995, p. 339). South American U3As are also close to the Francophone model as they are characterised by an institutional link to a host University where the link is regarded as self-evident as much from the University's point of view as from that of the members. However, South American U3As are also typified by a strong concern for the most deprived and vulnerable sectors of the older population (Levesque, 2006) – which is surely very atypical to the Francophone model whose value orientations tend to be apolitical, and at times, even elitist (Formosa, 2007). Finally, Chinese U3As make use of a number of older revered teachers who are paid a stipend, and older and younger unpaid volunteers, to teach a curriculum which covers compulsory subjects such as health and exercise, as well as various academic and leisure courses ranging from languages to philosophy to traditional crafts (Swindell, 2011). U3As in China adopt a holistic perspective towards learning, and hence, are much concerned with the maintenance and development of citizenship, cultural consolidation, philosophical reflection and bodily harmony.

()

۲

15.5 Contributions of U3As

Various studies applaud U3As for improving the quality of life of members. Admittedly, at present one locates no rigorous research programme investigating the relationship between U3A membership on one hand, and improvement in physical and cognitive well-being on the other. It is surely not the intention here to argue in favour of some strong causational relationship between learning and an improvement in physical/cognitive well-being in later life since, as Withnall (2010) argues, most research in this field has tended to proceed on the basis of a range of clinically unproven assumptions. It remains, however, that there are many valid and reliable studies showing how continued mental stimulation in later life aids learners to, at least, maintain their physical and cognitive health status (Cohen, 2006; National Seniors Australia, 2010). Wrosch and Schulz's (2008) findings that older adults who were proactive and persistent in countering health problems experienced greater physical and mental health benefits augurs well, since most U3As offer various courses on health promotion and illness prevention. In this respect, the fact that Australian elders perceive their U3A membership to have improved their health status is surely encouraging:

If you're active, and you're active in your mind then, yes, it does make a difference to your health [...] but if you were sitting down doing nothing, well your system's not working – the brain's not working. And if the brain starts to get slack or just doing nothing it transmits to the rest of the body and the rest of the body becomes slack (Liverpool U3A member [Australia], cited in Williamson, 1997, p. 180).

Sonata and colleagues' (2011) study in Brazil also underlined the role of U3As in augmenting elders' physical health. The Piracicaba U3A was found to function to preserve members' "fat-free mass" levels by decreasing and improving their levels of inactivity and physical exercise respectively, factors which are crucial to, at least, maintaining, well-being in later life.

U3As also hold a potential to lead learners towards improved levels of psychological capital. Studies have uncovered an association between participation in U3As and improved levels of self-assurance, self-satisfaction, self-esteem and sense of coherence on one hand, and a decline of depressive and anxiety symptoms on the other (Formosa, 2000; Zielińska-Więczkowska *et al.*, 2011, 2012). This implies that engagement at a U3A centre

can have therapeutic functions towards the adjustment of older adults with their ageing and retirement transitions. Indeed, a study on the relationship between psychological well-being (autonomy, personal growth, control, positive relationships with others, purpose, personal acceptance, and generativity) and participation in the São Paulo U3A in Brazil concluded that «the students [sic] who had been longer on the programme run by the institute studied, exhibited higher levels of subjective and psychological well-being [... where the satisfaction and benefits gained [from learning] extend into other areas of life» (Ordonez et al., 2011, p. 224). Turning our attention again to the Irish context, Whitaker's (2002, quoted in Bunyan, Jordan, 2005) research concludes that U3A participation helps to develop confidence as learners realise the value of the knowledge that they share with others. She notes that by participating in U3AS members get their life experiences recognised and appreciated, and learn how to get beyond the critical voice that tells us we "aren't good enough" or "that we have nothing to say". Elsewhere, Irish participants also disclosed how U3A helped them to improve their confidence in their abilities in information and communication technology (Bunyan, Jordan, 2005).

It is noteworthy that the majority of U3As only exist because of time-consuming work on behalf of volunteers. In the UK, the balance of volunteers to staff is overwhelming, with over 250,000 members and only 14 staff at the national office, half of them part-time (Cox, 2011). In Italy, 57 per cent of tutors are volunteers (Principi, Lamura, 2009). The economic value of U3As has been efficiently gauged by Swindell who, instead of modestly letting the record of voluntarism speak for itself, actually calculated an actual monetary figure to the work that third-age volunteers donate to many sectors of the Australian and New Zealander U3As. His latest calculations are of \$21 million and \$1.9 million for Australian and New Zealand U3As respectively (Swindell et al., 2010). Whilst 22 per cent of volunteering time was generally spent on administrative issues, the remainder consisted of actual tutoring hours. Swindell's estimates provide proof to the claim that the U3A phenomenon enables the government to spend less on welfare and civic programmes targeting the improvement of the quality of life in later years, as well as challenging the orthodox beliefs of ageing as a period of loss and decline, and that older adults are simply recipients of welfare and consumers of public funds. The U3A phenomenon also problematises Putnam's (2000) argument that civic participation has declined in the latter part of the 20th century, whilst backing Freedman's (1999, p. 19) claim that older adults have become the «new trustees of civ-

()

ic life». Undoubtedly, U3As are a strong affiliate in the "civic enterprise" movement. Although U3As are not political enterprises, and thus do not promote any kind of political activism, they do encourage older persons to become involved in helping others in the community. U3As enrich societies with opportunities for greater fulfilment and purpose in later years, and therefore, enable older adults to reach improved levels of active, successful and productive ageing. Indeed, the U3A approach provides a sustainable policy model for how future governments might capitalise on the productive resources of the increasing numbers of expert retirees.

15.6

Issues and Predicaments

Despite the aforementioned contributions of U3As to society in general and older persons in particular, what appears to be a forthright exercise in facilitating learning opportunities for older adults is also fraught with widespread misconceptions and biases. In some ways, and especially from a logistical perspective, U3As have become victims of their own success. The triumph of U3As in attracting more learners is giving forth to problems in locating suitable venues large enough to accommodate the membership body, and enough volunteers to administer and run courses of study and interest-groups. This is especially the case for U3As following the self-help model who tend not to possess sufficient funds to employ administrative staff and who are reluctant to implement or increase enrolment fees as this is perceived to undermine the self-help character of the organisation. Indeed, some U3As had no other option than to cap memberships in order to ensure that members could be accommodated in the already over-stretched facilities of centres, as well as operate waiting lists (Picton, Lidgard, 1997). Laslett's (1989, p. 178) objective for U3As to «undertake research on the process of ageing in society» has also emerged as a contentious issue. Laslett thought that U3A members are in an ideal situation to undertake research that would counter not only the predominance of ageist literature on the ageing process but would also function «to assail the dogma of intellectual decline with age» (*ibid.*). Although initially one witnessed some level of participation on behalf of U3As in a number of research projects, it must be admitted that most U3As neither participate in nor produce research. Most U3A managers are occupied with the demands of day-to-day organisation, and research is not amongst the members' high

priorities. As Katz (2009, p. 156) claimed, members «are seeking an education apart from formal accreditation institutions, and Laslett's mandate to create an alternative, Third Age research base [appears] to be daunting».

Although U3As following the Francophone model are more able to access funds, retain nominal enrolment fees (as they make free use of university resources), and implement easily any course that strikes the fancy of members due to the large pool of teaching personnel at the university/ college, they are not devoid of limitations. Lectures generally take place on university campuses which tend to be far away from village and city centres, and hence, inaccessible for many older adults (Picton, Lidgard, 1997). They are also characterised by a lack of agency over the ethos and direction of the U3A, as usually the academic body has the last say on every matter and total decision-making power on the most fundamental aspects (Formosa, 2000). For instance, the drive behind the founding of the U3A in Malta arose neither from responses to community needs nor from requests by older persons themselves, but from the aspirations of academics working in the field of ageing (*ibid*.). As a result, it is governed by a "mission statement" that was written and developed exclusively by university academics without any consultation with age-interest groups or older persons.

Irrespective of the type of organisational model being followed, research has found U3As to incorporate a number of crucial biases. A consistent criticism levelled at U3As is that of elitism as there is a compounding class divide affecting chances to seek membership (Radcliffe, 1984; Swindell, 1993; Picton, Lidgard, 1997; Formosa, 2000, 2007; Alfageme, 2007). Although U3As offer no hindrances or obstacles to membership, membership bodies tend to be exceedingly middle-class. Educators have long commented how «threatened... by elitism and pastime activism, U3As might indulge in narcissism and escapism and miss altogether the highest vocation they should respond to» (Philibert, 1984, p. 57), and how U3AS «pandered to the cultural pretentious of an aged bourgeoisie who had already learned to play the system» (Morris, 1984, p. 136). This occurs because older adults who have experienced post-secondary education, and have advanced qualifications and skills, are already convinced of the joy of learning so that their motivation to enrol in U3AS is very strong. To middle-class elders, joining means going back to an arena in which they feel confident and self-assured of its outcome and development. On the other hand, working-class elders are apprehensive to join an organisation with such a "heavy" class baggage in its title. Moreover, the liberal-arts curriculum promoted by most U3As is perceived as alien by working-class elders,

who tend to experience "at-risk-poverty" lifestyles and are more interested in practical knowledge related to lifelong work practices. Formosa (2000) argues that U3A may actually be serving as a strategy for middle-class elders to offset the class-levelling experience resulting from retirement. In the way that books and paintings are used to impress friends and other social viewers, membership is employed as a strategy of class "distinction".

U3As have also been criticised for including gender biases that worked against the interests of both men and women. On one hand, all surveys uncover a positive women-to-men ratio: 3:1 in the UK and Malta (Midwinter, 1996; National Statistics Office, 2009), 4:1 in Australia (Hebestreit, 2008), and 2.5:1 in Spain (Alfageme, 2007), to mention some. It may seem that this gender imbalance is because women hold higher life expectancies and leave employment at an earlier age than men. While such explanations do make sense, they fail to explain why older women choose to enrol in U3As and overlook that married women retirees remain accountable for most domestic responsibilities. At the same time, the high participation rates of women do not necessarily imply that U3As are fulfilling some beneficial roles towards them. The reality, in fact, is otherwise, as studies point out how U3As may serve to anchor female members in gender expectations about women's traditional roles. For instance, women tend to be less visible in mixed classes at U3As where male learners are more likely to dominate any discussion even when in the minority (Bunyan, Jordan, 2005). Formosa (2005) also noted how the Maltese U3A was characterised by a "masculinist" discourse where women are silenced and made passive through their invisibility, an outnumbering of male over female tutors, and a perception of older learners as a homogeneous population which contributed towards a "male stream" learning environment. However, this is not the same as saying that men enjoy preferential treatments in U3As. The low percentage of men signals strongly that for a number of reasons the organisation is not attractive to them. First, U3As are promoted through avenues - such as during health programmes on the broadcasting media or through leaflets at health centres - where most of the clients are women. Second, U3As are exceedingly "feminised". Not only is the membership mostly female, but so are management committees (Williamson, 2000). As Scott and Wenger (1995, p. 162) stated, older men tend not to want to become involved with old people's organisations they perceive to be dominated by women. Third, U3A courses tend to reflect the interests of the female membership. Health promotion courses, despite being open to all, are generally delivered by female tutors with a bias towards women-related health issues

such as weight-loss and osteoporosis (Formosa, 2005). U3As, hence, continue to enforce men to relate to a culture that encourages them to cling to traditional roles and patterns of behaviour where it is believed that that engaging in learning is for women rather than for men.

Other predicaments concerning the U3A include the movement's tendency to lack ethnic minorities and fourth agers in its membership body. For instance, both Swindell (1999) and Findsen (2005) point out that given the multi-cultural environment of Australia and New Zealand, one would reasonably expect to see at least some Asian faces plus those of Maori and Pasifika people. This is, however, not the case and memberships of Australasian U3As are heavily represented by members from the Anglo-Saxon community. Findsen concludes that the exclusion of minority groups may not be deliberate, but as the projected ethos of U3As mirrors the values of the dominant groups in society, ethnic minorities feel that they do not have the necessary "cultural capital" to participate in such learning ventures. At the same time, U3A membership bodies generally do not include older persons experiencing physical and cognitive difficulties. This is surprising considering that there are many old-old persons (aged *circa* 75 plus) facing mobility and mental challenges. Moreover, even at a relatively young age, many a times prior to statutory retirement, various older adults experience complications from strokes, diabetes, and neurological diseases so that their functional mobility and intellectual resources become seriously limited. Indeed, a significant percentage of older adults experience significant mobility and mental problems to the extent of becoming housebound or having to enter residential and nursing care homes. Unfortunately, todate one locates no distinct efforts by the U3A movement to encompass the learning needs and interests of frail older adults in its aims and objectives.

15.7

Renewing U3As: Future Roles, Opportunities and Directions

As the U3A movement embarks on its fifth decade, it would be a mistake for programme managers to rest on its laurels, as doing so the movement would risk meeting the same fate as the sewing circles of our grandparents' time. The key challenge faced by U3As is to remain in tune and relevant to the life-world of present and incoming older cohorts. The U3A concept emerged in the early 1970s when the life course was divided in three clear and distinct stages: childhood as a time for education, adulthood as a time

to raise a family and work, and old age as a brief period characterised by withdrawal from work until frail health and eventually death. During this period the identity of older people existed within the context of the welfare state that embedded them in a culture of dependence through a compulsory pensioner status and near-compulsory entry to residential/nursing care (Townsend, 2007). With the coming of late modernity, the social fabric became more fluid in character, so that later life disengaged itself from traditional concepts of retirement to become increasingly complex, differentiated and experienced in a myriad of ways (Blaikie, 1999). Nowadays, identities in later life take on a "reflexive organised endeavour", operating on the basis of choice and flexibility, and finding their full expression in material consumption (Gilleard, Higgs, 2000). However, it seems that U3As remain locked in more traditional perceptions of late adulthood and somewhat oblivious to such transformations. James (2008) argues that centres have generally failed to keep pace with what older adults actually do in their lives, what tickles their fancy, and what motivates them to age actively, successfully and productively. She highlights how the U3A movement tends to be characterised by what Riley and Riley (1994) term as "structural lag" – namely, a failing on behalf of structural arrangements to meet or be relevant to the needs of a large proportion of its clientele. In Riley and Riley's words, "structural lag" refers to

the imbalance – or the mismatch – between the strengths and capacities of the mounting numbers of long-lived people and the lack of role opportunities in society to utilise and reward these strengths. This is the problem we call structural lag, because the age structure of social role opportunities has not kept pace with rapid changes in the ways people grow old (*ibid.*, p. 15).

Similarly, Formosa (2012) points out that U3AS generally overlook how incoming older cohorts are characterised by diverse generational dispositions when compared to those older adults that Vellas and Laslett had in mind when drafting the movement's principles and objectives. Undoubtedly, the past two decades have brought cultural changes that have altered the norms and values of contemporary older cohorts. Most salient among these changes include an improvement in their wealth, health, and educational status, smaller family circles due to more older women having participated in labour markets, and an increasing readiness to combine part-time employment with leisure pursuits in retirement. The coupling of such transformations to other processes, most notably secularisation and individualisation, has been instru-

mental in urging third agers to create their own life biographies rather than remain shackled to traditional expectations towards daily living in "old age". In such circumstances, it is surely time for U3As to re-appraise their functions and purposes and demonstrate that the movement remains a forward-thinking group which welcomes new ideas and new ways of practice. It would be extremely unfortunate if upcoming and present third agers feel the need to start new organisations simply because of their perception that U3As are no longer relevant to their lives. This section forwards three recommendations for the U3A movement to remain more in tune with the needs and interests of contemporary older adults.

Overcoming French-British polarities Contrary to what is generally assumed, studying for pleasure and towards a qualification are not necessarily incompatible, but may even be complimentary. After all, one frequently hears of third agers being emboldened by their U3A experience as to start a university course, and on the other hand, of older undergraduates taking a keen interest or even becoming members in their local U3A. Rather than entrenching the U3A experience in an absolutist vision – advocating either strict autonomy or complete integration with traditional universities – U3As have much to gain from seeking partnerships with tertiary educational sectors working on similar ethos. Whilst partnerships in older adult learning do not have to be formally constituted and grand affairs, the benefits of collaborative approaches include «better information is available to help plan for learning, to deliver it in the best way, to promote engagement with it and to provide progression routes from it» (Gladdish, 2010, p. 26). One successful partnership between a traditional university and a U3A is found between the University of South Australia and the Whyalla U3A (Ellis, 2009; Ellis, Leahy, 2009). The central location and resources of the university provided rent-free premises which allowed their fees to be kept much lower than in other Australian U3As, and easy access for invited speakers and members. U3A members also enjoyed interacting with younger students and the help and encouragement that university staff extended to them. On the other hand, the benefits that the campus received from the U3A included the location of a pool of "clients" for nursing and social work students, volunteer and administrative help on open days, whilst adding to the cultural and generational diversity present on campus. Another promising partnership constitutes the memorandum of understanding between Third Age Trust and The Open University in Britain which recognises the complementary missions of both organisations, and which may lead to better opportunities for older learners to improved access of library

()

and online facilities, participation in university courses and modules, and registering as students with reduced fees and different entrance qualifications.

Quality of learning Research studies and rationales focusing on the U3A movement affirm in an equivocal manner that learning holds positive benefits for its members. However, the precise contribution of learning in U3As to an empowerment agenda remains ambiguous. One must ask whether learners at U3A centres are too docile, too passive, as though listening alone were enough. This is certainly the case for U3As following the French model whose members are lectured by professors employed by the traditional university which the centres belong to. In its quest to improve the quality of life of the member body, the U3A movement is to seek a learning environment that is more dynamic in nature, one which facilitates

learners who are able to take control and direct learning; learners who are enabled to continue learning after a course has finished; learners who, in their daily lives, know how to put into practice learning they have undertaken; [...] and learners who develop strategies that enable them to know how to go about the business of learning (Gladdish, 2010, p. 15).

This is possible if learning environments at U3As drop traditional "top-bottom" approaches in favour of a situation that places the teacher and learner in a dynamic relationship. Although teachers will always keep hold some level of authority on the learning session since it is their responsibility to create and sustain the right environment for learning to occur, older learners should have an opportunity to have a say in directing both the nature and content of the learning that takes place. Following Gladdish (2010), successful learning in later life relies on consideration and consensus to drive activity, one which involves negotiation, advocacy, intervention, promotion, and sometimes compromise. In short, «it is about creating something new with, as well as behalf of other» (*ibid.*, p. 10).

Quality of instruction The quality of instruction is also to be put under scrutiny as it is important that older learners do not fall back on the educational experience of their youth. Top-bottom approaches to educational instruction are to be avoided. Instead, course tutors should enable older adults to foster the control that they may be consciously or unconsciously lacking through encouragement to take responsibility for their learning by choosing those methods and resources by which they want to learn. A

useful strategy here is to emphasise the importance of personal goal setting at the beginning of the course schedule and encourage it through activities such as making a personal statement of what the learners want to achieve. Facilitating learning in later life thrives on collaborative and partnership, and is characterised by "co-operative work" between tutors and learners (Gladdish, 2010). Tutors are also encouraged to draw on the life experiences of learners by allowing them to share examples of their experiences with the class and encouraging them to think about how those examples relate to class information. Course material that is presented in a way that reflects the "real world", rather than some abstract component, is very popular with older learners. It is important for facilitators to synchronise themselves with the life course experience of learners, born around World War II, and who lived their teenage and early adult years in the fifties and sixties. Nevertheless, U3As must not assume that older learners continue living in some by-gone world. Rather, e-learning has become increasingly popular in later life as it offers the opportunity for older learners to access information and communicate with others when and if they want to. For U3As to continue being relevant to contemporary elders, centres must make more effort to embed their learning strategies in the web 2.0 revolution that now provides extremely user-friendly applications. Contrary to its predecessor, web 2.0 uses interactive tools - ranging from Blogs, Wikis, Podcasts, online journals, to virtual picture databases – to offer limitless possibilities for an interactive, empowering, and participatory form of older adult learning.

Quality of curricula The relevance of taught content warrants careful attention since it tends to influence the extent that older persons are attracted to and benefit from the learning experience. The curriculum at U3As should be as bold and original as possible, negotiated with, and even determined by, the most vital interests of learners. However, this does not mean that U3A centres do not have any part to play in the choice of subjects. As Gladdish (2010, p. 36) affirms, «learning providers must be part of the debate that identifies appropriate curricula for older people, and they need to exercise professional judgement and integrity about their ability or otherwise to contribute to development and delivery». More specifically, there is a real urgency for U3As to include non-liberal and health related areas of learning such as financial literacy and caregiving, but especially, scientific courses that introduce learners to environmental, botanical and zoological studies. Since the correlation between later life and illiteracy is well-known, U3As would do well to set up literacy courses for older persons, a move that would help in mitigating the

oft mentioned charge of elitism. Moreover, the introduction of new areas of study may function for U3As to become successful in attracting non-typical learners such as older men (e.g. gardening, toy modelling, astronomy) and ethnic minorities (e.g. martial arts, origami, tai-chi). U3As must also coordinate intergenerational learning sessions that include curricula catering for learners from the whole of the life course, and hence, linking third agers with children, teenagers, adults and even older peers. Specific activities may include book clubs, community work and film screenings, drama, as well as adoptive grandparent-grandchild relations. U3As would also do well to adopt curricula that operate on the principles of situated learning. A promising avenue in this respect is environmental volunteering where U3A can link up with eco-friendly organisations that provide both learning opportunities as well as possibilities for green volunteering. Older persons possess a maturity of judgement, and therefore, are highly apt to highlight the imperative need to create a sustainable society and conserve our natural resources.

15.8

Conclusion

This paper began by tracing the origins and modern developments of the U3A movement. U3As vary in size and resources, and their development is inevitably uneven. However, all are united in their efforts to provide learning opportunities for older adults, as well as increasing the visibility of older generations whose presence and worth is easily undervalued and overlooked. U3AS also remind governments and educational bodies of the actual meaning of the words "lifelong learning", providing a niche for a category of citizens who are left out in the cold as far as learning opportunities are concerned, as governments continue to cling on to traditional models of education geared towards production, profitability and employability. However, this paper also brought forward the difficulties that the U3A movement is currently experiencing, and the possible and actual biases that centres may experience. One cannot let the successes of the U3A movement overshadow the fact that the movement caters little for older men, elders from ethnic minorities, and others experiencing physical and cognitive difficulties. To help overcome such lacunae, this paper also provided a number of suggestions for the future role for U3AS, ranging from embracing a broader vision of learning, improving the quality of learning, instruction and curricula, as well as a wider participation agenda that attracts elders experiencing physical and cognitive challenges.

 (\bullet)

Section III

۲

Third Age and Activity: Hypothesis and Experiences

۲

۲



16

()

University of the Third Age, Italian Framework

Chiara Moscatelli

16.1 Universities of the Third Age in Italy

Most of Italian society is composed of elderly people: indeed, according to the Istituto nazionale di statistica (ISTAT), 22% of the population is more than 65 years old. The Italian ageing process, like developed countries in general, is an established condition and is growing year by year. The oldest Italian region is Liguria: here the average age is 48.5, also having the highest incidence of people aged over 65 (28.2%). It is followed by Friuli-Venezia Giulia¹ and Toscana². As ISTAT shows, the absolute values of older people have grown in the last 50 years (ISTAT, 2016).

Getting old in the past was considered a problem and the elderly a weight. In the course of time, also in light of rising life expectancy and of society's ageing, however, the need has emerged to reconceptualise this period of life, emerging both at institutional level and from a social and scientific point of view. Therefore, the purpose was delineated to pay more attention to the special needs of older people and to enhance those who, despite their age, are still independent and able to live an active life after retirement. However, despite the potential possibilities of older age, this period of life is still delicate and at risk of social exclusion. In view of this, institutions have a duty to develop and promote so-called "active ageing", understood by the World Health Organisation (WHO) as «the process of optimising opportunities for health, participation and security in order to enhance quality of life as people age. It applies to both individuals and population groups» (WHO, 2002). As such, Italian institutions, state and regions have started to legislate in order to eliminate the social exclusion

I. The average age is 46.9 and 25.4% of its population is more than 65 years old.

^{2.} The average age is 46.5 and 24.9% of its population is more than 65 years old.

CHIARA MOSCATELLI

۲



FIGURE 16.1 Italian over-65s from 1960 to 2015 in percentage (million)

of this age group and have also started to cooperate with other private subjects creating projects for older people. For example, the Italian law proposal no. 3538, "Measures to promote active ageing of population through the employment of older people in activities of social utility and their involvement in lifelong learning activities", incentivises:

Older population to be employed in useful social activities.

(�)

 Districts in partnership with private subjects to create projects for the elderly.

The law proposal also highlights the importance of lifelong learning, with the intent of endorsing Universities of the Third Age, enhancing knowledge and competences of the elderly. This law, lastly, intends to promote action to tackle the marginalisation of older people, trying to prevent their hospitalisation or their retiring to residential homes for the elderly³.

All things considered, lifelong learning has become important as a useful instrument to improve the participation of the elderly in social life: seminars, classes and laboratories are the possibilities for elderly to study different sub-

3. Here the full text of the law proposal, http://www.camera.it//leg17/126?idDocumento=3538, 18th January 2016.

 (\bullet)

jects, learning new competences and are also places where older people can make new friendships and reinvent themselves, preventing social exclusion.

The activities above are often organised by cultural associations which take the name of Universities of the Third Age, in Italy created in the early 1980s for people over the age of 60, becoming an important reality in Italy, mainly created by private subjects.

In the 70s and 80s, indeed, labour unions attracted the interest of public institutions to the literacy rate, highlighting the necessity to the reach the middle-school certificate for almost all the population. A period of planning and experimentation started that led also to recognising the importance of Third Age Education, so that in the 80s the first Universities of the Third Age were founded, even though, in those years, they were aimed at educating people who were already cultured. These new educational offers for the elderly were able to satisfy the requirements of most people who did not appreciate Social Centres, proposing simply recreational activities.

Since their foundation, Universities of the Third Age have been aimed at a major integration of elderly people in cultural and social life: among their purposes there is tackling social exclusion, a high risk in old age, also promoting active citizenship. In the 1980s, therefore, cultural centres and associations increased quickly, also thanks to trade unions.

Universities of the Third Age, indeed, are mostly managed by private associations, even if they are subjects acknowledged by Italian regions as associations specialised in elderly, with the aim of integrating them in social life for active ageing (http://www.i-stella.com/blog/index. php/2016/04/05/unitre-universita-della-terza-eta/).

Universities of the Third Age offer courses, organise cultural events and guided tours of monuments and museums, having different types of offer, that go from a real institute with academic calendars to a set of free conferences: there are typical university subjects such as literature, psychology, English or maths but also unusual subjects and activities, such as yoga or singing classes (Altraetà, 2015).

Every university is autonomous but, to be recognised as such by Italian laws, it has to fulfil some minimum requirements, such as the activation of at least a hundred classes for an entire academic year and teachers have to be two-thirds graduate (usually most of them are of university professors, or high-school and middle-school teachers)⁴.

4. Today, as in the past, these Universities are based on voluntary work which give a sense of precariousness, despite being commendable. On the contrary in France, like many

 $(\blacklozenge$

CHIARA MOSCATELLI

These receive state resources, finalised to improve social integration and active ageing among the elderly. Thanks to public funding Universities of the Third Age require an annual tuition fee that is quite low, about 50 euros. Furthermore, some associations offer a reduction for relatives of people that are already enrolled. In addition to this, older students have to pay a fee for every single course they decide to do, where the amount is generally established by the personal income.

There are no minimum requirements for enrolment in Universities of the Third Age, while age and studies do not affect the possibility for enrolment: many old students have, indeed, only an elementary or middle-school certificate.

Also, at the end of every class taken a certificate of participation is provided which has no legal value, being purely symbolic.

So, to improve lifelong learning, some Italian regions have promulgated regional laws about Universities of the Third Age, protecting them from the legislative point of view. Up to now there are 14 regions that have these regional laws⁵.

Italian Universities of the Third Age are also associated with national organisations, such as the Italian Federation of Universities of the Third Age (FEDERUNI), the University of Age Three (UNITRE), Association for active ageing (AUSER) and the Italian Union of Adult Education (UNIEDA), arisen with the intent of offering students professional and cultural proposals.

FEDERUNI was founded in May 1982 in Turin in order to develop common training models among Universities of the Third Age, supporting those associated⁶. It is a national organisation established by different agencies and represented by local offices⁷.

Before its foundation there were only some volunteer associations which activated adult courses, but they were not uniform and had no common training modes, so this organisation was created in order to be a guide for Universities of the Third Age. Every year FEDERUNI organises inter-re-

other European countries, Universities of the Third Age were created directly by universities themselves, giving them an institutional feature from their foundation.

5. Piedmont, Friuli, Veneto, Trentino-Alto Adige, Emilia Romagna, Marches, Latium, Abruzzo, Sardinia, Campania, Basilicata, Apulia, Calabria and Sicily. In Tuscany there is also a decree-law on adult education and University of the Third Age.

6. Now its main office is in Vicenza.

7. FEDERUNI is composed of an Assembly, a Board of Directors, a President and a President's Office and a Board of Auditors (http://www.federuni.org/sito/la-federazione/lo-statuto/; accessed November 7, 2016).



FIGURE 16.2 Italian Regions that have regional laws on Universities of the Third Age

gional seminars with its associated universities in order to improve lifelong learning and exchange of good practices, creating important partnerships that lead to founding new decentralised offices. These seminars are especially meant to:

Promote research activities on common training models for the elderly.

 Valorise elderly age, as older people are not useless, but able to provide society with their stories and knowledge.

Incentivise research on elderly.

 Attract interest of society to the elderly condition, so as to promote social inclusion of older people and intergenerational dialogue⁸.

It also endeavours to highlight the importance of national and regional laws in order to promote active ageing, lifelong learning and Universities of the Third Age, up to the present day implemented only in 14 Italian regions, as seen above (http://www.federuni.org/sito/).

For several years, FEDERUNI has also been raising Italian State awareness of the elderly, in order to promote the field of lifelong learning and third age education.

8. *Ibid.* accessed 7th November 2016.

CHIARA MOSCATELLI

As FEDERUNI refers, until the academic year 2014/2015, it had 198 offices around Italy: 89 were main offices and 109 branch, with a total of 44,851 students, 4,463 courses and 4,711 teachers (*ibid*.).

Another important organisation is the National Organisation of Universities of Age Three (UNITRE), founded in Turin in 1972. Like the previous organisation, it is a national association and is divided into different agencies and is represented by local offices (*ibid*.). It aims to train, educate, inform and prevent in order to incentivise lifelong learning and active ageing.

Its activities are:

- Vocational training for associated universities.
- Promotion of volunteering activities.
- Research on cultural initiatives, promoting lifelong learning.
- Activation of new courses for the elderly.
- Promotion of social activities and seminars for members of the organisation and for people interested at lifelong learning.
- Promotion of integrational dialogue (*ibid*.).

As a national organisation, it also represents its associated members at national and international level, organises seminars and exchange of good practices among members. UNITRE collaborates with other Italian and international associations, public and private institutions that have the same purposes (UNITRE, 2015).

People who share the same purpose as the organisation can enrol in UNITRE through one of the local offices. Furthermore, the associates of a district can create a local office themselves, but they have to observe the conditions as follows:

1. Share unitre's purposes.

2. Be a non-profit organisation, and the services of the associates and other people have to be voluntary and the offices of the organisation have to be free.

3. Freedom of association for everyone who wants to become a member of unitre.

4. Periodic publication of an annual report, where the remaining organisation budget cannot be distributed to the stakeholders (*ibid*.).

UNITRE, lastly, has local offices and affiliate associations in almost every part of Italy, counting 300 local offices and Piemonte is the region with the highest number of these, having more than 80 of them⁹.

9. As UNITRE refers on its website, local offices are distributed as follows: 1 in Abruzzo, 20 in Basilicata, 3 in Calabria, 13 in Campania, 2 in Emilia Romagna, 1 in Friuli Venezia

Another important organisation regarding Universities of the Third Age is the Organisation for active ageing (AUSER) which, as its name suggests, is finalised to promoting active ageing and creating a new and important role in society for the elderly, promoting different activities:

1. Personal care, social tourism and spare-time activities.

2. Domestic care for elderly.

3. Lifelong learning, through Universities of the Third Age and cultural clubs.

AUSER, in contrast with the previous national organisations, offers a quality certification of its Popular Universities and of its cultural clubs through two stickers, one blue and the other green. To obtain the certification, it is necessary to satisfy some requirements, and submit an application that will be judged by a committee of specialists (http://www1.auser. it/cosa-facciamo/apprendimento-permanente/certificazione-di-qualita/; accessed November 1, 2016).

Instead, the Italian Union of Adult Education (UNIEDA) is a non-profit organisation, with social, cultural and educative purposes and was created from a previous organisation in 2006¹⁰.

The previous organisation before UNIEDA was created in the 1990s and intended to go beyond the acritical learning that characterised the Italian education and created a new learning method, based on creativity. Its project was designed to create a constant connection with the labour market, society, cultural operators and public and private institutions.

UNIEDA promotes individual growth and civil development of people, valorising research on professional, civil, psychological and social skills and developing decision-making autonomy, raising awareness about the importance of solidarity and about one's own rights and responsibilities.

Its proposal falls within the framework of the national education system of lifelong learning, collaborating with cultural associations, extracurricular associations, Popular Universities, Universities of the Third Age and realising proposals intended to encourage laws that defend the right to education and a quality education for workers, younger people, women, retirees and the elderly.

10. Like AUSER, its interests include the elderly but they are not the primary concern of the organisation.

Giulia, 22 in Lazio, 15 in Liguria, 22 in Lombardia, 12 in Marche, 1 in Molise, 86 in Piemonte, 26 in Puglia, 9 in Sardegna, 34 in Sicilia, 22 in Toscana, 19 in Umbria, 1 in Valle d'Aosta, 3 in Veneto (http://www.unitre.net/unitre/Le_Sedi.html; accessed 5th November 2016).

CHIARA MOSCATELLI

UNIEDA also cooperates with departments of social science and with lifelong-learning researchers, as all disciplines that study active ageing, so as to create a combined proposal (http://www.unieda.it/chi-siamo; accessed 7th November 2016).

16.2 Piemonte Region: Case Study

In Italy research and attention to the elderly is growing year by year, but much has to be done: despite the presence of numerous Universities of the Third Age, indeed, there are no reports on these themes, either by regions, or by any municipality such as by associations and public or private institutions. In this framework of absence of reports and research, Piemonte is instead notable; it periodically publishes a report on a survey of Universities of the Third Age and activities for adults in its territory. Piemonte also is the Italian region with most universities for the elderly: as regards the academic year 2014/2015, indeed, 42,836 attended adult education classes and there were 169 courses organised both by municipalities and by private associations¹¹.

Courses were held by 5,282 teachers, relators and lab professors. 80% of them were volunteers, teaching for free¹²: courses organised by private associations had most volunteer teachers, because of the presence of statutes in the organisations for volunteering and making freely available teachers' competences and knowledge. Piemonte, however, highlights an exception to the rule for certain subjects, such as computer science or foreign languages with mother-tongue teachers: in such cases it is difficult to find qualified teachers who are willing to teach for free.

Courses are also partly financed by tuition fees of participants: associations require membership fees and sometimes other enrolment fees, while districts require only an application fee. Sometimes, however, organisations and municipalities require a further fee for single courses: this happens when they need particular spaces, teachers who have to be paid

^{11. 151} of them were organised by 99 different organisations and remaining by districts (Regione Piemonte, 2016, p. 3).

^{12. 408} teachers, volunteers or paid, taught courses organised by districts, while the other teachers taught courses organised by private institutions (*ibid.*, p. 4).





or particular instruments, such as cookery classes or computer classes. The enrolment fee, in general, is around 33.85 euros per student¹³.

Piemonte region and banking foundations partly finance courses of municipalities and private institutions¹⁴. Municipalities themselves are co-financiers of courses: in the academic year 2014/2015, 50 courses were financed by districts or banks and the former gave the largest monetary contribution, which made available spaces used by private associations for free or at a lower cost.

16.3

Conclusion

Retirement and being elderly are critical periods of life, when people have to invent themselves again, and change their habits. Older age, on the

Â

^{13.} Piemonte Region underlines that the 18 courses organised by districts required lower enrolment fees than private institutions: 27.50 euros compared to 34.60 euros (*ibid.*, p. 7).

^{14.} In 2014 and in 2015 Piemonte Region co-financed municipalities and private institutions with a budget of 50,000 euros, co-financing 13 courses in 2014 and 8 courses in 2015 (*ibid.*, p. 9).

CHIARA MOSCATELLI

contrary of the common point of view, can be an active period of life, full of activities and new competences. Lifelong learning is an important instrument for active ageing, where the elderly can acquire new knowledge, know-how and competences, bringing them happiness and allowing them to make new friendships, combatting then the typical social exclusion that characterises old age.

In Italy, as seen above, there are many private institutions that promote lifelong learning and try to develop it further through conferences and meetings with public institutions, such as municipalities and state spokespersons. But the Italian framework on Universities of the Third Age and lifelong learning in general is complex and there is not much research on this theme in Italy, showing that the third age is a secondary research branch: there is, indeed, only the Piemonte research on lifelong learning. It seems that public institutions tend to underestimate this period of life and lifelong learning, while private institutions give it more value, in particular organisations that intend to valorise the elderly. Nevertheless, both need to develop the themes "elderly, active ageing, education and lifelong learning" better: only 6.6% of the Italian population participate in lifelong learning, while the European Union has the goal of 15% by 2020 (http://www1.auser. it/cosa-facciamo/apprendimento-permanente/; accessed 7th November 2016), which is quite far for Italy now.

To achieve this goal, it is necessary to have more care for the elderly, creating a legislative framework that incentivises active ageing through different instruments, such as lifelong learning.

University of the Third Age Genoa Experience

Francesco Surdich, Monica Sbrana

17.1 Introduction

The University of Genoa founded the University of the Third Age in 1983. From its foundation, Genoa UTA has continually grown until nowadays, with two main goals: offering education, culture and socialisation to retired members of the local community; disseminating and sharing university knowledge, in all fields of our research interests. Students can be introduced both to basics and to the latest academic research findings by university teachers who organise cultural lectures for them, without formal qualifications but with an academic and high-quality approach. The University of Genoa is indeed the only Italian university academy offering a UTA. This is probably due to the particular composition of local Ligurian society, the eldest in Europe with an average age of 50 years, with 30% of people over 64, but also due to the University of Genoa's social engagement policy, very responsive to social and cultural needs of the local community.

FIGURE 17.1 Logo of the University of the Third Age – Genoa



Source: University of Genoa Website.





۲



 (\bullet)





Genoa UTA offers 7 subject courses (100 hours each) in Humanities; Economics, legal and political subjects; Medical and pharmaceutical; Natural Science; Engineering; Architecture, Foreign Literature and Culture and 9 other supplementary courses (40 hours each): 4 foreign languages; Musical culture; Art history; Latin language; Techniques of drawing and painting; Computer science. Among the courses, the oldest and most popular is by far



17. UNIVERSITY OF THE THIRD AGE GENOA EXPERIENCE

the humanistic one, while among supplementary courses, the most popular are those of Art history and Foreign Languages. On the whole, Genoa UTA offers 1,500 hours of lectures and other cultural activities each year. UTA students are also involved in academic life: they receive daily information about and are involved in every significant university and local cultural event.

Paying a token price of 50 euros each year, students can enrol on one course, one supplementary course and choose one foreign language among English, French, Spanish and German. Lessons start in November and continue until June, 8 hours a week. There is no homework and no exams but after three years of attendance, students can prepare and discuss in front of an academic committee a sort of thesis, without formal value, but usually developed very seriously, with the scientific support of an academic teacher.

In 2016, there were 1,200 students in Genoa UTA. It is interesting to observe their composition that reflects the local social and demographic structure of the population.

The average age of students is 60 years, continually decreasing in recent years. 70% of them are women (FIG. 17.2).

Average age in an important datum to consider to understand students' needs and to plan the cultural and learning offer. First, third age is not a single age: from their 60s onwards, people live at least three kinds



FRANCESCO SURDICH, MONICA SBRANA

of transition (from active professional life to retirement; from cohabiting children to couples: from couples to a single family); most of our *younger* students have to look after their grandchildren; they have very busy agendas and very clear ideas on what they want and appreciate. However, they pay special attention every year to complete the customer satisfaction survey, suggesting improvements in subjects and organisation.

Most of them are high-school and university graduates, though the only requirement to enrol is to be 45 years old, leaving aside educational levels. 80% enrol every year, some of them change area each year. Most of them enrol on courses far from their professional experiences, but near to their interests or passions that they can finally follow during their retirement.

40% of students worked in the public sector, such as health, education or institutional authorities (FIG. 17.5).

These students' data reflect, as mentioned above, the demographic structure of Ligurian inhabitants: healthy people, with good early pensions (especially previous public employees) but with a high percentage of aged single families, who are not simply looking for something to spend free time on, but for something to get involved in and to keep their brains in training.

 $(\blacklozenge$

17. UNIVERSITY OF THE THIRD AGE GENOA EXPERIENCE

17.3 Management of Learning Activities

The University of Genoa UTA is directed by a Scientific Committee, responsible for all learning activities, which is made up of a President and 13 other university professors, one for each subject area of our cultural and learning offer. They periodically meet to plan learning activities and social events, choose teachers, evaluate quality surveys and plan any UTA development programme. Over 350 teachers are involved in courses (most of them university professors, with the collaboration of many influential members of our community), over 50 teachers are involved in supplementary courses. All teachers work for free. Due to the University of Genoa's social engagement policy, UTA learning and cultural activities are organised in partnership with the most representative local associations and institutions, like museums, theatres, the Opera House, cinemas, cultural trusts, the music conservatory which offers services at special price and reserved events in close connection with topics learned in courses. The University of Genoa's lifelong learning office supports UTA for all organisational aspects (training materials, training units, tutorship, insurance, classrooms, devices, administrative procedures, etc.) with 2 employees and one coordinator. UTA students are involved in organisation too, since two students per course cooperate with the organisation, especially to facilitate the circulation of information and management of unexpected events.

The Scientific Committee starts planning activities in January for the next academic year; each area coordinator plans topics to deliver and looks for teachers among his/her colleagues. In July all information about the next academic year is available on the website as well as any news and learning materials. Students enrol on line from September to November. After more than 30 years of experience, Genoa UTA is now ready to improve, especially enhancing solidarity and support between generations: UTA will involve young secondary and university students to teach old people foreign languages, social media and ICT technologies in general, and the elderly offer them their professional experience and time for example for school and work guidance, support to study, lectures at University, etc.). The first tests on this kind of mutual learning in previous academic years had encouraging results.

18

۲

Specifics of Senior Education in Slovakia

Drahomíra Gracová, Erik Selecký

18.1

Introduction

Ageing population is an important demographic trend all over the world. Demographic forecasts speak about the increasing number of older people. Gradually, older people's lives, meeting their needs and vitality are better nowadays. An older person has great potential and many experiences that can be used effectively. Ageing is associated with maturity, responsibility, wisdom and respect. However, it also brings some negative points like weakening physical health, poverty, social isolation and social dependence. Therefore, society should offer older people programmes for active ageing and healthy ageing programmes. Our challenge is to expand an active lifestyle for older people. This lifestyle should put emphasis on physical, psychological and social health.

18.2

Education of Seniors

Ageing is a natural process, it is not a problem. It comes with biological, economic, social and health changes. An older person has the same desires in different periods of his life. He is anxious about safety, love and convenience. According to the WHO healthy ageing is a «process of taking the possibility and opportunity for physical, social and well-being to prolong life expectancy in good health». In terms of physiology, it is a gradual reduction of various organ functions, which reduces adaptability. These changes are seen inter-individually. It is important to say that if a person moves in a suitable environment without changing the external and internal environment, even reduced physiological functions can provide valuable and quality life at this age.

18. SPECIFICS OF SENIOR EDUCATION IN SLOVAKIA

Ageing is a lifelong process. The main goal is to minimise individual risks, negative influences and prepare a man for active old age in good health and a comfortable environment It is important to respect their human dignity, needs and values of autonomy and spiritual beliefs (Gracová, 2014).

A positive family environment can ensure quality and satisfied ageing in good health in a well-functioning health and welfare system. It is therefore necessary to actively help to maintain their physical and mental health by appropriate educational activities. Education is provided by several institutions. The well-known are the Universities of the Third Age (UTA). Educational activities bring a lot of new knowledge, social contacts and contribute to improving the quality of life. Education can be a hobby or interest in getting new information and experience. Education of seniors is often preventative, an elimination of and compensation for deficits.

Education of seniors differs from schools in that it is primarily based on voluntary work. The educational process means a lot for seniors, not only in the acquisition of new knowledge. In the implementation of the educational process, a senior's characteristics should be considered and respected. Biological changes of ageing, health and mental changes can also adversely affect the course of education (Beneš, 2003, p. 141).

An educational plan includes (Bašková, 2009, p. 142): goals of educational process, topics and sub-topics of education (according to degrees of prevention), organisational form (individual form, group form, and community form), types of learning, environment, timetable of education and specifics of educational strategies. In addition to these classical methods, we can use educational methods of motivation, activation, alternative methods like brainstorming, heuristic methods, role playing etc. In education we use many different material and non-material equipment and technical teaching tools. In a training needs analysis, the formulation of programmes, training and educational offers other characteristics are also to be understood.

Educating people of older age is one of the means to delay ageing. Education relates to relaying information. This is an important help (Prusáková, 1994, p. 106) to search for new horizons of life to overcome problems. It is important not to forget the fact that elderly people need more time to learn and therefore it is necessary to respect the standards and the pace of education. Education and training fulfils the essential function as well as the secondary one called *second chance*. It is important to develop a concept of education so that we take into account the availability, quality, adaptability and feasibility (Prusáková, 1996, p. 108). It is necessary in this regard to encourage people, provide them with support and develop

DRAHOMÍRA GRACOVÁ, ERIK SELECKÝ

andragogic theory. It is necessary to provide sufficient space for seniors and create conditions to participate actively in social and political life in our country. Seniors must themselves try to use all the opportunities offered to them (Prusáková *et al.*, 2001, p. 169).

18.3 System of Education of Seniors in Slovak Republic

Active ageing currently seen as a long-term process based primarily on changing people's minds. To change ageing to active ageing is not possible without the willingness of people to accept such a lifestyle that is a natural part of purposeful preparation for life in the senior age. Global ageing induces structural changes in various areas. It is necessary to create conditions for active ageing (Rychtaříková, 2011).

The main pillars of active ageing are education, health and social protection (Podmanická, 2012, p. 86).

Current society ask questions about the quality of life. In literature the concept of quality of life is interpreted in different ways. D. Popovič (2011, p. 32) says: «Quality of life reflects how people perceive their place in life, in the context of culture and value systems in which they live and in relation to their goals, expectations, standards and concerns». Efforts to improve the quality and application of the elderly in society should not remain only a topic of much debate but has to systematically result in concrete action. In this regard, it is appropriate to develop activities in various ways – to develop knowledge and skills, not to hesitate to acquire new knowledge in institutions that offer these opportunities.

As stated by Krystoň (2013, p. 21) «the area of education of seniors has come in the Slovak Republic in the past two decades in the spectrum of interest of the two government departments. It is in the competence of the Ministry of Education and the Ministry of Social affairs. In both these sectors, it is the issue of education of people in the post-productive age anchored in the documents, in which the intentions of the state education policy are expressed. The basic legislative norm about education of seniors is the Law on lifelong learning number 568/2009». In the documents "Lifelong Learning Strategy 2011 and the Action plan for lifelong learning strategy 2011", the issue of education of seniors touches only certain parts. In connection with the Ministry of Social Affairs, it established the Committee for the elderly in 2011, which is a permanent professional body

()
of the Government Council for Human Rights, National Minorities and Gender Equality. In 2011, this committee was appointed by the Ministry of Social Affairs and Family to prepare a national programme for active ageing to be part of a comprehensive innovation programme (Krystoň, Kariková, 2015, p. 46).

Another key document adopted by the government engaged in lifelong education is the European Commission document entitled Memorandum on lifelong learning and the Lisbon Strategy for Slovakia (2005).

There are also other organisations that take care of seniors in Slovakia: Universities of the Third Age, Academy of the Third age, retirement clubs and day centres. Now increasingly focused programmes on social organisations – education of clients in these organisations which further elaborate C. Határ (2008) have been implemented within the social facilities as part of the leisure and therapeutic activities, or custom of educational activities.

The University of the Third Age started its activities in 1990 (Hrapková, 2004). There are two models of education:

1. Segregation model – seniors do not study with young students.

2. Integration model – seniors study with young students.

In Europe, there are two basic models of senior education – French and English. The French model focuses on senior education at universities, and the English model focuses on education in the private sector (Selecký *et al.*, 2014).

18.4

Universities of the Third Age

The organisers of study at Universities of the Third Age offer seniors interesting education by using the segregation model. Education at UTA can be defined as education in senior age but considering the age of seniors and possibility of admission to UTA in Slovakia, we can talk about older adults and seniors. The managers of UTA have to communicate with students aged 45 to 80+. In spite of the many problems that UTA have had in Slovakia, many nationwide conferences and workshops have been realised. The benefit is the cooperation with the Association of UTA in Slovakia and the European Federation of Older Students (EFOS), since 1998 has been the seminar "Gain of education for older people for the psycho-physical health of the human body", as well as the seminar "Senior education and new trends in the third millennium" in 2002. UTA today leads several partnerships in



DRAHOMÍRA GRACOVÁ, ERIK SELECKÝ

۲

many projects. The range of educational activities continue to innovate, expand and complement. The basis for new contacts and partnerships are mutual associations, Exchange and retrieval of information, solutions to common problems and current issues. The main goal of the geragogic conferences realised is to enable specialists in this field to meet new colleagues and know their work and form new working teams. Researchers present their current projects and trends in senior education, application of specific educational methods but also their plans for the future. Good practices are beneficial for the development of geragogical theory as well as practice in this field. UTA in Slovakia cooperates actively with the International Association of the Universities of the Third age AIUTA. There are more than 23 countries associated all over the world. According to the author R. F. Swindell (2012) UTA exists in more than 60 countries. AIUTA organises an International Congress biennially and supports development and cooperation projects of education in the third age. Another very important organisation dealing with education for elderly is WorldU3A, established in 1997. It focuses on supporting e-education (Swindell, 2012).

 $(\mathbf{\Phi})$

We use our own data collection about the number of UTA students in Slovakia. We take them every year from members of the UTA Association.

18. SPECIFICS OF SENIOR EDUCATION IN SLOVAKIA



We can see that the number of students has risen slightly in the period of the last five years. The regional distribution of UTA in Slovakia is also interesting.

We can say that there is a very small location in southern and eastern Slovakia. However, there is a large choice for students in Bratislava and Nitra. The most widespread network is in Žilina region.

18.5 Conclusions

The creation of individual educational activities takes into account specific age, state of health and habits. A quality programme is not only a necessary complement to the care of a person, but also a highly effective therapeutic tool for maintaining mental and physical condition. Appropriate selection of activities can serve as prevention, often as a way of learning something new. The creation of individual programmes is based primarily on human needs. Each programme should contain a little bit of fun and therapeutic effect, because only such activities that fully meet the needs of people are very popular and sought after. Therefore, when compiling educational activities, one must take into account the organisational elements such as

DRAHOMÍRA GRACOVÁ, ERIK SELECKÝ

 (\blacklozenge)

administrative organisation which is very important. In institutions and organisations that deal with implementation of these activities, we expect that the creation of educational programmes will help to develop a positive attitude and to gain the necessary, skills and habits for active and healthy lifestyle. The main task is to know the opinions and attitudes of the population, not to be indifferent. To find the space to implement new practices in education and use them to work actively. Education needs to be moved towards activation of humans. Every new piece of information has tremendous value.

()

19

۲

Issues and Problems of Adult Learning in Ukraine

Artur Horbovyy

19.1

Introduction

Modern issues for sustainable human development have actualised new goals for society. The basis of this approach is the principle that the economy exists for the development of people, not people for the economy. This principle has identified a priority for adult learning that has evidently served for elaboration and implementation of educational programmes for adults. In this paper the author has investigated the issues and problems of adult learning according to the needs and specificity of the audience with regards to European standards.

The analysis states that in 1993 a man could master 1/1,000 of the existing information. In 2003 he could master 1/2,000 of it. Scholars say that in 2013 a man would be able to assimilate 1/4,000 of information. This means the increasing on the effective demand for scientific, technical knowledge to manage capabilities. In the 1970s the amount of scientific information doubled every 5-7 years. In the 80s this doubling took place every 1 year and 8 months. In the 21st century the amount of scientific information doubles in 1 year (http://www.idss.org.ua). We could see the rapid growth of scientific information from the end of the twentieth century until now. The aforementioned means that there is a need to modernise the system of education according to rapid changes and challenges that are constantly arising.

This paper aims to introduce the priorities for adult learning and new issues for the new quality that comes from the process of integration of formal and non-formal education in Ukraine.

ARTUR HORBOVYY

19.2 Analytical framework

The basics for adult learning come from structured correspondence schools, distance learning, and open universities. Correspondence schools were first mentioned in Germany in 1856.

Then they spread in England where in 1886 a graduate-studies correspondence course was introduced. The first formal experience of correspondence schools took place in New York in 1883 in the form of the Correspondence University (http://www.cedefop.europa.eu).

Distance learning was developing as courses were prepared on a high methodological level by multidisciplinary teachers and managed by an education institution with a wealth of materials presented, as well as learning tutorials for teachers and students who were at a distance from each other. A well-known example of adult learning was the open universities that were generally based on distance study through radio, TV and the printed press. This form of adult learning became a mixture of academic culture and business activity, a sort of a platform for cooperation of experts and professionals from different spheres with a high level of efficiency. Improvements of adult learning in systems of formal and non-formal education as well as the implementation of educational programmes could form partnerships for all education contractors (Schultz, 1961).

There was a range for transition from traditional education for young people to adults. Particularly in Ukraine the growth of interest in adult learning as well as in the concept of the creation of its institutional basis to some extent was explained by the increase of an ageing population.

Ukraine is among the 30 countries with the oldest population. According to the forecasts, in 2061 the proportion of children in the population of Ukraine will be 14.9%, and those aged 60 years and older - 31.2% (in 2013 - 21.4%). According to the forecasts, age structures have three clearly marked groups (0-28, 29-59 and 60 and older). The share of population of age structure of 0-28 years is 30.2%; 29-59 years - 38.6%, and 60 and older - 31.2%, i.e. persons aged 60 and older may be more numerous than children and young people in the very near future (http://www.unrisd.org).

Nowadays the challenge is due to the identification of the ageing as a new form of "risk" in society, its role in creating new structures in the system of education are on the agenda. Different forms of integration of formal and non-formal education, in particular for adults, are in great demand in Ukraine. A key aspect of this has been the move from debates

 $(\mathbf{0})$

that focused on ageing as a burden for national economies to perspectives that view population ageing as a worldwide socio-economic problem for human development. Education in the knowledge economy is a set of principles, decisions and actions of public facilities that are embodied in education programmes for adult learning and training/re-training practices to meet the needs and interests of social rights, social communities and society as a whole.

At each stage of development, the government sets special content and education policy priorities during the period of development of a state. Based on principles of quality of education, innovative learning is intended to ensure the development of the abilities, knowledge and skills of any person aimed at effective participation in society. It refers to the current goal to solve complex problems. Innovative lifelong learning focuses not on "yesterday's" supply but on "tomorrow's" demand.

This particular demand of tomorrow is caused by the development of non-formal education institutions that do not act systematically, often being in a situation of "survival" or "instability" in Ukraine. The well-known scientist V. Polterovich wrote: «We need to make institutional changes supported with measures to build institutional expectations and favourable government policy to stimulate growth» (Polterovich, 1999).

The problems of the quality of adult learning and its efficiency begin to be considered in the context of the changes that are occurring in society: - The growth of consumer dissatisfaction with the quality of services in the system of formal education.

 Transition to the non-formal education system with high standards of quality.

 Increased demand for innovative teaching methods (the use of new tools in conditions of "devaluation" of diplomas and certificates confirming qualifications in formal education).

 Interest of employers in knowledgeable, talented personnel, which requires qualitative changes in education, enhancing the role of "knowledge economy".

Ukraine is traditionally known as a leader in the number of educational institutions for people of all ages. According to the statistics, in Ukraine 45% of the workforce has been through higher education. Meanwhile, the quality of education raises questions. In the system of formal education there are the following indicators of its quality: knowledge, skills and availability.

ARTUR HORBOVYY

()

In this connection the new issues of adult learning in Ukraine rise on the basis of new quality, in particular:

- 1. Subjective indicators of quality of education of different ages:
- Maturity of reflection.
- Manifestation of the activity.
- Independence.
- Initiative.
- Desire to learn.
- Ability to learn, etc.
- 2. Objective indicators of these:

 Education in knowledge economy is a set of principles, decisions and actions of public facilities.

 These indicators of quality of education are embodied in education programmes for adult learning and training/re-training practices.

 Adult learning meets the needs and interests of social rights, social communities and society as a whole.

The new issues of the process for adult learning of new quality come from the process of the integration between Ukraine and European countries and require harmonisation of the approaches to formal and non-formal education.

In Ukraine there has been no national programme yet to support adult people in learning in following directions:

Comprehensive human development in retirement.

 Assistance to adults to adapt to modern conditions of life through learning.

Involvement of adult people in active life.

Communication, implementation of the principles of active ageing, etc.

Promoting adult learning in national and regional programmes in Ukraine is of great importance because of the low level of awareness of adult people on the content of such programmes, lack of readiness of society to attract adult people not only to educational programmes but to an age-friendly labour market, low level of intergenerational culture of younger and older generations, and discrimination of people at retirement age. The innovative educational approaches for adult learning are becoming the long-term investment in human development and quality assurance. Innovative development of society and economy involves primarily the growth and self-realisation of the intellectual potential of the nation, creating conditions for the development of lifelong learning for employment and active life for adult people.

The solutions for adult learning in Ukraine are suggested at the following levels:

On the international agenda:

 Integration requires the harmonisation of approaches, in particular to adult learning of Ukraine and European countries.

On the national agenda:

– To set special content and education policy priorities by the state.

 To provide innovative pedagogic approaches to ensure the development of the abilities, knowledge and skills of any person aimed at effective participation in society.

 Innovative lifelong education focuses not on "yesterday's" but on the "disturbing demand of tomorrow" to solve complex problems in society.

There is no national programme to support adult students in learning in the following directions: comprehensive human development in retirement; assistance to adults to adapt to modern conditions of life through education; involvement of adult people in active life; communication, implementation of the principles of active ageing, etc.

On the national and regional agenda:

Promoting adult learning in the national and regional programmes in Ukraine.

In conclusion some issues for formal and non-formal education for adults have been discussed. In Ukraine there are systems of post-diploma education for adults (in the system of formal education) and universities or centres for the "third age" (in a non-formal one). These forms are being developed as competitive, alternative systems. There is some adoption of formal educational institutions for the non-formal model. Sometimes formal and non-formal education are integrated into the broader concept and both serve for educational development.

It is necessary that formal education should analyse the reasons that led to this success and, if possible, incorporate many of its proposals, structures and programmes.

19.3

Closing Remarks

In view of these considerations, the problems of adult learning in Ukraine are to be solved by elaborating programmes for comprehensive human development in retirement; adults' adaptation to modern conditions of life

()

ARTUR HORBOVYY

by learning new modern knowledge; support for adults' inclusion into their active life; organisation of effective communication for them; implementation of principles of active ageing, etc. These issues are important for the Ukrainian present and timely, because now we are witnessing a policy of making social inclusion of those groups that are classified as excluded or are at risk of social exclusion.

In this paper the author could not say that only non-formal education is able to accumulate human capital and play a decisive role in the structure of the knowledge economy. Otherwise, on a historical scale it can be proved that today formal and non-formal education have not maintained their integrity for the system due to a lack of effective communication between them. At the same time, their modern forms of interaction precede the formation of a new system of education in a global context. Therefore, non-formal education is considered as very important in the context of its role in human development in the knowledge economy, not depending on its form or even its content.

In our opinion, the challenges for transformation of education to a holistic system (formal and non-formal) are closely connected with good governance performance. The aforementioned links are generated with the external socio-economic environment and inner motivation of a system of education new to institutionalisation. Therefore, non-formal education can serve as a persuasive package for the target citizens and make investments in human development. Viewed in this study, this approach is due to the fact that the formation of a link between formal and non-formal education as sustainable institution is a response to the socio-economic needs of society.

Anticipating education is based on new meanings of worldview, culture and training, which are relevant to a nonlinear world in its complexity and growing uncertainty. In this model of advanced lifelong learning knowledge, skills will find new content, in particular:

Concept of constructive-organising knowledge.

Ability to ensure survival, functioning and development of society in extreme conditions, including the ability to work in a team and independently.
Crisis management skills that are updated promptly, including unconventional and technology, instrumental and operational approaches.

 Values to economic liberalisation of public interest, independence and initiative of citizens with the objectives of improving the efficiency of an innovative model of education.

19. ISSUES AND PROBLEMS OF ADULT LEARNING IN UKRAINE

Ukraine has declared its desire to join the European concept of education that provides continuous training. The integration of Ukraine into the European Union requires the recognition of non-formal education. The importance of training skilled and educated citizens goes beyond formal education. There is a need for an improved system of non-formal education in the creative space of modern knowledge. Citizens should have access to a system that identifies documents and certification and evaluates and verifies the authenticity of learning.

The gradual link of formal and non-formal education, requires, on the one hand, the emergence of non-formal institutions or, on the other hand, the gradual introduction of non-formal elements into existing formal structures and requires organisational and human resources, strategic decision making, preparing training materials and development plans, monitoring and controlled state support.

Social Integration of Ukrainian Ageing People

Anna Chechel, Ievgeniia Dragomirova

20**.**I

Introduction

Ageing people is the long-term problem for Ukraine. According to the general proportion (67,68.9 thousand people) of the total population (42,590.9 thousand people) in 2015 the number of ageing people is not really growing (FIG. 20.1). Ukraine with regard to the proportion of the population over the age of 60 years is included in the thirty "oldest" countries of the world. Ukraine occupies the rank of 25-26 (which it shares with Norway) for this indicator. The percentage of persons aged 65 or more years lags behind the average indicator for EU countries together, and is significantly far from the leading countries in terms of age (Italy, Germany and Japan).

The indicator of longevity in Ukraine corresponds to the Russian Federation but is 5-6 percentage points lower than in countries such as Sweden, France or Spain (https://www.unece.org).

At the same time, those reaching retirement age are healthier and fitter than ever before. Increasing life expectancy and better health in old age are a major success and represent a potential in terms of working power, qualification and experience that societies need to use productively (https://www.unece.org).

European experience with "active ageing" shows that older persons who are integrated into society have a higher quality of life and longer and healthier lives. Societies need to consider more actively how to integrate older persons and ensure their participation in a cohesive society of all ages. At the same time, attention to older persons should not come at the expense of younger generations. Regardless of age, each person should be able to contribute to society (https://www.unece.org).

The modern situation in Ukraine shows that the older population might influence the new generation negatively because of their historical beliefs and





social effects. Even now, during the conflict between Russia and Ukraine, the large number of Ukrainians – 205,900 citizens, including tourists and refugees, moved to Russia in 2015 because there are no communication problems and not a big difference in legislation, mentality and rules of socialisation.

Universities of Third Age Education work collaboratively with others to help bring positive changes. According to a data base of the University of Third Age Education in Donetsk State University of Management, the authors notice it can be possible in only one way – by dialogue across the generations. Ageing people should be integrated into society by a process of building values, relations and institutions for a society where all individuals, regardless of race, sex, age, ethnicity, language or religion, can fully exercise their rights and responsibilities on an equal basis with others.

The Centre of Third Age Education practice intergenerational learning and activities with all grades of students in Donetsk State University of Management. TAB. 20.1 shows that intergenerational events that are most frequently attended.

Intergenerational workshops and events help to collaborate with ageing people, leave them feeling isolated and depressed, so it is fitting to work with Universities and Local Centres that work tirelessly to alleviate loneliness through communication and conversation, medical and social insurance.

()

Source: http://www.ukrstat.gov.ua/.

ANNA CHECHEL, IEVGENIIA DRAGOMIROVA

TABLE 20.1

The percentage of events attended by all students

	Intergenerational events (100 %)		Events for ageing students only (% of the total number of students)	
Ageing students (%)	60	80	40	50
Bachelor's degree (%)	40	20	-	-

Donetsk State University of Management deals with all local centres in Mariupol which provide the following services:

 Social and personal services – stationary and home care, social adaptation and prevention, mediation and consultancy.

Socio-economic services – providing humanitarian and financial assistance, natural resources and transport.

 Information services – providing the information/assistance in solving a difficult situation, cultural and educational knowledge (education services), dissemination of objective information about consumer properties and types of social services.

 Other social services (the order of the service list is determined by Mariupol city council).

The charitable assistance of the department implements municipal social programmes which cover 519 low-income citizens.

A monthly commission to identify people in need of a daily hot meal and receiving targeted assistance food packages at the district administration, considering the documents submitted, defines the right to and the period of receiving hot meals, according to the lists of needy citizens; for the period2016-17, 17 needy citizens in the district received 514 hot lunches. Every person should be allowed to age in security and with dignity and be in a position to contribute to society in the most meaningful way. Such conditions are at the root of stable, safe and just societies where all members, including vulnerable ones, enjoy equality of opportunities. Integration and participation are therefore closely linked to the notion of social cohesion, a vital element of a healthy society. It denotes society's ability to ensure the welfare of its members, minimising disparities and avoiding polarisation and conflict, and it requires fostering solidarity and reciprocity between generations.

 (\bullet)

Innovation programmes for ageing people in the Local Centres in Mariupol include 3 faculties or directions: "Healthy Lifestyle", "World of Cinema", "Computers for Idiots". These directions based on traditional methods of teaching and training methods, presuppose 44 classes that were attended by 55 students.

The experience of collaboration between Local Centres and Donetsk State University of Management shows the need for mutual synergies in supporting an ageing generation activity. However, the mutual-synergy effect can be reached in cooperation work that should be divided in two directions: socio-medical and socio-educational. The territory and professional staff of the Local Centre can be useful for realisation of the socio-medical direction, which will extend active longevity and physical activity in society. Their work will help to select the participants for educational programmes which suggest the physical ability to participate in them.

Lecturers of Donetsk State University of Management can help to improve ageing people's literacy rate and upgrade existing knowledge and bring them up to the new generation. The teaching staff, modern computers and other technical equipment, new international teaching methods with the scientific language of mass communication could open new possibilities for ageing people. First of all, to those with children and grandchildren. Nowadays, there is a process of inter-generational distancing in family relations in Ukrainian society. The life strategies of older generations are perceived as insufficiently effective.

Socio-educational direction of work in the Centre of Third-Age Education in Donetsk State University of Management will help to increase the intergenerational interaction which helps to select, preserve, transfer, assign and proceed with experience of previous social activity, specific achievement of material and spiritual production, forms of communication, cultural values with a view to their further development and enhancement.

Intergenerational cooperation can be considered as the process of enriching experiences, diverse activities, contributing to the knowledge of themselves and others, to create an additional sphere of socialisation.

At the same time the formation of youth with respect for the cultural heritage as a factor of Ukrainian society development is one of the main tasks in the socio-educational direction of work in the Centre of Third-Age Education in Donetsk State University of Management. The constructive, emotionally refrained dialogue between elderly and young people requires the original bilateral openness and goodwill, desire to listen, understand and accept each other.

ANNA CHECHEL, IEVGENIIA DRAGOMIROVA

Public authorities can fully take advantage of the possibility of dialogue between the generational dialogue and form a package of social needs and requirements to increase the efficiency of social programmes.

Since the Ukrainian Government approved the Concept of the State targeted social programme "Youth of Ukraine" for 2016-2020 (30th September 2015). The purpose of the Concept is to create an enabling environment for youth development and self-realisation, the formation of its citizenship and national-patriotic consciousness (http://zakons.rada.gov.ua/ laws). Collaboration work between Government, Local Centres and Centre of Third-Age Education in Donetsk State University of Management will help to reduce the non-acceptance of the previous generations' experience and follow priorities of older people in existing social and political conditions. The goals of these actors should be concentrated first of all on: The formation of citizenship and national-patriotic education – implementation of measures aimed at the revival of the national-patriotic education, civic awareness and approval of an active vital position of young people. Healthy youth lifestyle – the implementation of measures aimed at the 2. promotion and affirmation of healthy and safe lifestyle and "health culture" of young people.

3. Development of non-formal education – the implementation of measures aimed at young people acquiring knowledge, skills and other competencies outside the education system, in particular by participating in volunteer activities directed to ageing people.

Local Centres and Universities as government institutions should promote and protect all human rights and fundamental freedoms, including the right to development, which is essential for the creation of an inclusive society for all ages in which older persons participate fully and without discrimination and on the basis of equality.

Combating discrimination based on age and promoting the dignity of older persons is fundamental to ensuring the respect that older persons deserve. Promotion and protection of all human rights and fundamental freedoms is important in order to achieve a society for all ages. In this, the reciprocal relationship between and among generations must be nurtured, emphasised and encouraged through a comprehensive and effective dialogue (http://www.un.org).

Dialogue is the main way of communication but it has barriers and in the ageing case there can even be the language. Ageing people in Ukraine hardly understand slang and IT-generation goals. At the same time, we have to admit that considerable obstacles to further integration and full

participation in the global economy remain for Ukraine. Unless the benefits of social and economic development are extended to all countries, a growing number of people, particularly older persons in all countries and even entire regions, will remain marginalised from the global economy.

As has been said in The Madrid International Plan of Action on Ageing and the Political Declaration, for this reason, researchers recognise the importance of placing ageing in development agendas, as well as in strategies for the eradication of poverty and in seeking to achieve full participation in the global economy of all developing countries.

Implementation process of the Madrid International Plan of Action on Ageing and the Political Declaration measures in Ukraine is carried forward by the Ministry of Social Policy, the Ministry of Economic Development and Trade, the Ministry of Education and Science, the Ministry of Health, the State Statistics Service, the State Service for the disabled and veterans and the State Centre for employment. The main commitment of this implementation process is summarised in FIG. 20.2.

FIG. 20.2 shows that promotion of lifelong learning and adapting the education system to the changing economic, social and demographic conditions is one of the main commitments and the Universities of Third Age Education can embody it in life and increase the level of old people's education.

The case studies covering Donbass region of Ukraine discovered 3 main goals of lifelong learning for ageing people (FIG. 20.3). The study course "Social work with third age people: international experience" launched by lecturers of Donetsk State University of Management presents certain aspects of foreign experience of social work connected with both social policy and social work.

The study materials introduce the historical and comparative approaches towards social work with older people in various countries. Scientists find out the goals of lifelong learning for ageing people in Ukraine (FIG. 20.3) which can help to solve the intergenerational problems and: – Create conditions and promote the comprehensive development of the elderly.

Reintegration of older people in active life.

 Helping older people to adapt to modern conditions of life through the mastery of new knowledge, including the ageing process, its characteristics, legal framework concerning the elderly and others.

Higher education received by older people in the Third-Age University, indicates the particular importance of this new socio-cultural phe-

ANNA CHECHEL, IEVGENIIA DRAGOMIROVA

 (\blacklozenge)



۲

Main commitment of implementation process of the Madrid International Plan of Action on Ageing and the Political Declaration measures in Ukraine





nomenon – the needs of older people in improving their intellectual level (Stoyka, Dragomirova, 2016).

There are 3 goals to complete the functional integration. Social participation refers to the integration of older persons into social networks of family and friends as well as their integration into the communities they live in and into society as a whole. Older persons play important social roles in assisting their children, taking on care responsibilities, performing household tasks or working as volunteers in the community. Their contributions in providing wisdom and advice to younger generations and the society as a whole should be acknowledged (https://www.unece.org).

Functional integration is the part of UNECE strategy on ageing: to ensure full integration and participation of older persons in society. Mentioned strategies presume intergenerational relationships. To make productive use of resources and competencies available in society, older persons should be positively valued for the contributions they make. Ageing should be considered as an opportunity, and negative stereotypes should be addressed proactively. Rather than portraying older persons as a drain on the economy in terms of escalating health care and pension costs, the

ANNA CHECHEL, IEVGENIIA DRAGOMIROVA

positive contribution of an active, healthy and productive older population should be highlighted – from caregiving to starting entrepreneurial activities or becoming volunteers in their communities. Older persons are important repositories of a society's history and values. Such messages can be transported through special days or even weeks dedicated to older persons, via image campaigns or popular movies and through the mass media. Journalists may be trained and educated about how to avoid undesirable stereotypes and how to use appropriate language. Ultimately, the view of older persons will depend on their own actions. The way they are seen by others will also depend on how they see themselves. Ageing stereotypes are very often also self-stereotypes. Therefore, older persons themselves should be empowered to be self-confident and positive about their role, thus inspiring the related discourse (https://www.unece.org).

The success of Ukrainian ageing people's integration in modern society has to be based on intergenerational relationships: media coverage and volunteering. For the practical integration of older persons, it seems warranted to pay more attention to the voluntary sector as a vehicle to facilitate intergenerational exchange. European countries offer financial support to volunteer organisations that offer help to older persons. Volunteers can play an important role in caring for older persons without close relatives. Voluntary initiatives may at the same time encourage older persons to use their knowledge and skills by volunteering themselves. Older persons make important contributions in the sector of unpaid support services in the family or in their communities. Some of these initiatives offer intergenerational art courses (Lithuania) or encourage the production of an intergenerational newspaper (Estonia) (https://www.unece.org).

Ukrainian voluntary initiatives have developed nowadays and have political support. But in time it can be developed in great social motion in Ukraine and help the government in modern socio-economical renovation.

20.2

Conclusion

On the basis of the foregoing the Universities of Third Age Education may profit from international experiences and provide a platform for discussion between policy-makers, researchers and society. They will help to identify lessons for policy-makers and service providers to help them address the challenges ahead in Ukraine and bring the Ukrainian society to a new higher level.

۲

Training-Needs Assessment as a Basis for Creation of Study Programmes for Third Age Persons

Diana Spulber, Tatiana Tereshkina, Svetlana Tereschenko

21.1 Demographic Situation in St. Petersburg

St. Petersburg is the third largest city (after Moscow and London) and the most populous city, which is not the capital of the state, in Europe. About 40% of residents have a high-level of education. In St. Petersburg, as well as in most European cities, the number of older people is increasing. This is connected with demographics and with the improvement of medical care of the older generation. connected with demographics and with the improvement of medical care of the older generation. In St. Petersburg on 1st



Source: Federal State Statistics Service Russia (ROSSTAT); www.gks.ru.

()

DIANA SPULBER, TATIANA TERESHKINA, SVETLANA TERESCHENKO

۲



January 2016, 1,540.42 thousand people aged over 55 years lived, which is 29.48% of the population (http://www.petrostat.gks.ru). The division of this group by age and sex is presented in FIG. 21.1.

Data presented in figure 1 show that the maximum number of people is in the group older than 70 years. There are more women in all age groups than men. Then, if the number of women in the age group 55-59 years is 1.5 times more than men, in the group older than 70 years, this figure is more than 2.5 times. According to the demographic forecast until 2031, the population of retirement age will grow (FIG. 21.2). The dependency ratio showing how many persons in the age more than working age will be for 1,000 persons of working age will be 453 in 2030.

21.2

Main Providers of Education for "Third-Age" People in St. Petersburg

Much work for third-age people is organised by complex centres for social services and concentrated in Social-Leisure Departments. Such centres are organised in each district of St. Petersburg. Social and Leisure Department of complex centres of social services focus on the elderly by place of residence. Their task is leisure activities, socialisation and socio-psychological

21. TRAINING-NEEDS ASSESSMENT

support, overcoming the isolation of certain parts of the population, the preservation of the continuity of the work day-care centres etc.

The main features of these centres are: the proximity to the place of residence, practically free for population services of the professionals, the emphasis on group work and events and a good knowledge of their needs. Educational programmes for third-age persons in St. Petersburg on the basis of the Social-Leisure Departments of complex centres for social services are organised by providing different courses. Most popular are: Computer Literacy, Handicrafts, Dances, Singing and Foreign languages. The government of St. Petersburg pays special attention to the training of senior citizens' computer literacy. In 2009, the city began to organise computer courses for older people in Social-Leisure Departments of complex centres for social services. In August 2013, courses, schools, clubs and advice on computer literacy for older people were organised in 37 Social-Leisure Departments of complex centres for social services. Computer courses in the district accepted the senior citizens living in the area. Electronic manuals provide all the necessary information about existing computer schools and courses for older people on the basis of Social-Leisure departments in different parts of the city.

Libraries began to organise educational programmes for third-age persons about 10 years ago. During the last four years, the public libraries of St. Petersburg have paid special attention to the training of computer literacy in citizens of the older generation. There were functioning computer courses in schools in 76 public libraries in St. Petersburg in June 2014. Residents of all districts of St. Petersburg and the Leningrad region can learn how to use a computer in the city central public library named after. V. V. Mayakovsky, in the central city children's library named after Pushkin and in the state library for the blind. Computer courses are also organised in the centralised library systems (CBS) in which senior citizens, regardless of area of residence can take part. On the basis of libraries, different clubs and courses are also organised, such as literature lovers, poetry lovers, singing and so on.

21.3 Schools for Third-Age Education

The most popular school for people of the third age in St. Petersburg is located in the Nevsky district. For 9 years it has been engaged in third-age persons' education and has tried to involve them in an active social life. The students are free to participate in various activities: from painting to

biking. In September 2004, a charitable non-governmental organisation for civic education "House projects" began by creating a "School for the third age" in Nevsky district of St. Petersburg.

It represents an innovative model of social work with older people. The relevance of the programme contributed to the fact that it has been included in the new unit "Complex centre of social services of the population of the Nevsky district" – social and leisure department for elderly citizens. On 28th February 2005, the "School of the third age" celebrated the day of its birthday. Any retired person living in Nevsky district may become a student and attend those classes that are interesting to him (her). The school has undergone many changes since its foundation.

Educational programmes tailored specifically to work with older people. In addition to training sessions, tours around historical and cultural places of St. Petersburg, Leningrad region and to other places are organised. A great number of social projects have been implemented for elderly people with the support of the school. The students of this school have been involved in numerous city events. The research participants took part in the project of the film festival "Third age - new opportunities". Artists, who graduated from applied art courses, participated in the annual festival of crafts in the framework of the international forum "Senior generation". In January 2014, the members of the school took part in the charity event "The mitten. Give heat", which was organised by the foundation for assistance to children-orphans, the association "Help" and the museum "The mitten". The school has its own print edition "Wosr@stu.net". The materials printed in the magazine are written by the students about how they live, what interests them, what inspires them. Different interesting people, whose life is full of events and impressions, study at the school of the third age. The attraction of enormous life experience of older people in the educational process is a feature of the school.

The other school, which is working with elderly people, is the school of the third age in Central District. It is designed to provide an opportunity for participants to feel able to learn something new, to be future-oriented, to become modern and to keep up with society (http://www.seniorschool. ru/) There are several faculties in the University: 1. Faculty of Information Technologies; 2. Faculty of foreign languages; 3. Faculty of Handicrafts; 4. Faculty of art and culture; 5. Faculty of health.

The courses that are suggested:

1. The course "Competent user of mobile communication" and "Photoshop". At the faculty of information technology training is not limited to

learning the basics of computers. Here, they are also studying graphic programmes, rules on the Internet that may become a new fun hobby or even a new profession.

2. Courses of foreign languages. Knowledge of foreign languages significantly expands communication skills no matter whether you are going on a trip or are in correspondence with a foreign friend from home. This also allows memory training in this way. In any case, learning a language will become indispensable.

3. Courses "Discover the artist in you". If there is unspent creative potential in a retired person, s/he may discover a little known, but interesting details of the history of his/her native area.

4. Course "Basics of a healthy lifestyle". This course is interesting for those who lead an active lifestyle, who are not ready to become old. Teachers of the Department of health-educational work will offer this and other courses that help maintain good physical shape, good spirit and good mood.

Online, the University of the Third Age was created on the basis of the St. Petersburg national research university of information technologies, mechanics and optics (NRU ITMO) which is one of the leading universities in Russia in the field of information and communication technologies (ICT). The main objectives of the university: formation of information culture of the older generations in Russia; creation of high quality and affordable distance education for adults; bridging the digital divide and socio-cultural exclusion of older citizens. The basis of the university is the first Russian learning portal for the elderly (http://www.u3a.niuitmo.ru).

Currently, the university is developing in the direction of creating in St. Petersburg the National resource centre for distance education for various categories of the adult population. One of the most important functions of the resource centre is to disseminate the best practices of involving representatives of all ages in cultural and social life through education using ICT. The resource centre aims at providing methodological assistance to social workers, organisers and practices of education, volunteers and staff of non-governmental organisations working with seniors, so in the future it will contain a description of the methods, techniques and innovative approaches in the work with the target audience.

The other university of third-age people in St. Petersburg is called "Silver age". It is organised for seniors over the age of 55 years. It is designed to address key challenges facing any elderly person who has attained a venerable age.

In conditions of economic crisis, when reduction of staff becomes inevitable, candidates who first lose their jobs are persons of retirement and

DIANA SPULBER, TATIANA TERESHKINA, SVETLANA TERESCHENKO

pre-retirement age. Of course, responsible employers provide their employees with financial support. However, the main problem they have is not money, but the fact that after many years, when they had been in a team and in demand, some kind of "emptiness" has been formed. It is difficult for such people to find a new direction in their lives and have something to do. The ability to focus on private life (raising grandchildren, family chores and gardening) do not cover the internal needs and interests of older people. An adaptive learning programme was developed for retirees and people approaching retirement age in the University for third-age people "silver age" to solve these problems. Simultaneously at the university in St. Petersburg there are more than 300 people who continue their education for 6 months, and then most of the students of the university become members of the "club of volunteers", alumni and other forms of post-graduate work. Thus, to date, the number of graduates who continue contacts with the university is estimated at about 1,000-2,000 people. The educational activities of the university include: activity in the choice of subjects of study; the ability to take the initiative; development of creative abilities and curiosity; development of new fields of activity, suitable for the current needs of the elderly and the current time; the opportunity to participate actively in the social life of the country, acting as a volunteer that promotes self-determination and self-realisation of the elderly.

The university helps senior people to be involved in an active life and to use their professional experience, which they had in working life. The solutions to the problems of third-age persons in the classroom at the university contribute to a culture of adult education, cultural activity, and self-acceptance in the "silver age", on the one hand, and form a positive attitude towards age as full and interesting. University helps to understand that old people can be useful in the life of society, because of their life experience. It is a factor of improving quality of life and longevity.

The training programme uses interactive methods, modern technologies and learning tools, which enable older people in a circle of like-minded people to find new meaning in life, to acquire the knowledge needed to improve the quality of life, to assess their own internal resources and on their basis to build new life goals.

In accordance with students' feedback, the programme allows students to learn the discipline necessary to improve the quality of life in old age and to develop ideas for future cooperation with fellow students, to develop and implement, in accordance with the needs and interests of the students, socially significant projects. The training helps them to improve

21. TRAINING-NEEDS ASSESSMENT

their health, have a more positive life attitude and to continue life under the motto at "60 years life is just beginning!"

The contribution of the elderly in the scientific-technical, social, cultural and educational creative potential of St. Petersburg can hardly be overestimated. The use of the creative potential of older people is not only associated with obtaining socio-economic and socio-cultural effects, but with the possibility of solving the problem of sustainable development of St. Petersburg. This requires knowledge of the laws of interaction of generations in a transforming society. The opportunity to increase the adaptive capacity of different generations depends on the social controls and social mechanisms of interaction between generations. Unfortunately, this problem is poorly studied from a scientific perspective, but practice is always ahead of theory, and offers new and effective solutions. Programmes aimed at the connection of generations have been actively developing and implemented in St. Petersburg in recent years. They, of course, require scientific analysis and further development.

In the frame of sustainable development of St. Petersburg, not only should the features of adaptation of different generations to the conditions of developing city and society be taken into account, but also multi-dimensional, multivariate relationships existing between generations. It is especially important because the city needs to use the personal and professional experience of third-age persons in St. Petersburg. That is why it is necessary to take into account the following factors:

 Society is currently faced with a shortage of labour; this trend will dramatically increase in the future.

A significant proportion of older people has invaluable personal and professional potential, the use of which is economically and socially important.
Many older people are still learning and their motivation is a need to make practical use of new knowledge in combination with their former professional potential, which creates conditions for the prevention of intellectual decay and strengthens a more productive independent position in society.

Analysing the behaviour of older people in St. Petersburg, it can be concluded that a large group of third-age people has a need to continue learning, gaining new knowledge. They are actively participating in different courses and universities for third-age persons. The programmes for such people are made in connection with such important factors as education of adult learners, professional status of the person in the present and the past, gender differences, reflective capacity to adequately assess the possibility of their participation in specific social and socio-educational

programmes. The providers of the development and implementation of such programmes in St. Petersburg are state organisations, public organisations, including veteran organisations, universities of the third age, folk high schools, clubs and libraries.

Ideas for active ageing in St. Petersburg can be developed only under conditions of adequate perception of ageing and images of older persons. Among the main tendencies in active ageing in St. Petersburg we can mention: a reduction in discrimination against old people working, expanding their opportunities for education, retraining, and new incentives for formal and non-formal education and more intensive use of the potential of informal learning in recent years. In this framework, third-age education is developing in St. Petersburg nowadays.

21.4

Analyses of the Training Needs of Elderly Generation in St. Petersburg

Based on the existing activities in the framework of education for thirdage persons, before organising an educational process in the Institute for Third-Age education of SPSUITD a training needs assessment of the needs of the people from the third-age generation was organised based on a questionnaire. It was given to the participants of the St. Petersburg International Forum "Elderly generation" in 2015 and 2016. The respondents who answered the questionnaire were those who came to the exhibition stand of the Institute for Third-Age education of SPSUITD.

The first result of the investigation is that the number of respondents increased in 2016 compared with 2015. The number of respondents rose 9,5 %. This shows that education for third-age people is becoming more and more demanded by elderly people.

The age structure of the respondents in 2015 and 2016 year is presented in FIG. 21.3. It can be seen that in 2016 people whose age was more than 80 years old did not participate in the investigation. The main reason for this is that in 2016 the venue of St. Petersburg International Forum "Elderly generation" was changed. In 2016 this event was organised outside the city and it was difficult for the people who are 80 years old to get there.

It can be concluded that the total number of respondents increased because the number of respondents increased in such age groups as 55-60, 61-

21. TRAINING-NEEDS ASSESSMENT

۲



FIGURE 21.3 Age structure of the respondents who participated in the investigation

65 and 66-70 years old. But in the younger and older age groups the number of respondents in 2016 was less than in 2015.

One of the main aims of the investigation was to understand which courses may be interesting to third-age people. In the questionnaire there was a list of courses that could be organised by the Institute for Third-age education of SPSUITD. The results are shown in FIG. 21.4.

The survey showed that the most popular educational courses in 2015 and 2016 were the same: healthy longevity, computer skills, foreign languages, exchange programmes with foreign universities of the third age. The investigation conducted in 2016 showed a large increase in the number of people who would like to participate in the courses "Computer skills" and "Drawing for development". It can be concluded that despite the amount of offers for computer courses for elderly people in St. Petersburg, there is still demand for such educational courses.

To organise the educational process effectively in the Institute for Third-Age education of SPSUITD it was decided to try to understand how often old people would like to study. That is why the question "How many days per week you would like to study" was included in the questionnaire.



۲



Respondents' preferences for the educational courses in the Institute for Third-Age

The investigation showed that the largest group of respondents is ready to study either 1 or 2 times a week. Both in 2015 and 2016 the situation is the same. The preferable time when elderly people would like to study in the Institute for Third-Age education of SPSUITD is shown in FIG. 21.6.

(�)

Preferably, the time for elderly people is day time both for men and women. The largest group of them would like to study in the period from 12.00 to 17.00. In 2016 it was a new question in the questionnaire, connected with the willingness to participate in the intergenerational programmes. The results of the investigation based on the answers of the respondents are shown in FIG. 21.7 and FIG. 21.8.

The largest share of those who would like to participate in the intergenerational programmes are in the group of 56-60 and 61-65 years old for women. For men the largest group of those who would like to participate in the intergenerational programmes is 65-70 years old. But the share of those who would like to participate in the intergenerational programmes is not so large as it is about 30% for both men and women.

21. TRAINING-NEEDS ASSESSMENT

۲



Preferences of respondents in number of study days per week in the Institute for Third-Age education of SPSUITD



Source: elaborated by the author.

FIGURE 21.6

۲

Respondents' preferable time for organising courses for elderly people in 2016 in the Institute for Third-Age education of SPSUITD

 $(\mathbf{\Phi})$



DIANA SPULBER, TATIANA TERESHKINA, SVETLANA TERESCHENKO

۲



Men, participating in the investigation, who would like to participate in the intergenerational programmes

Source: elaborated by the author.

<50

50-55

FIGURE 21.8

۲

0

FIGURE 21.7

Women, participating in the investigation, who would like to participate in the intergenerational programmes

61-65

□ Working

66-70

71-75 Want to partecipate

in intergenerational progrsmmes

76-80

>80

 (\bullet)

56-60

Total amount

of men



Source: elaborated by the author.

21. TRAINING-NEEDS ASSESSMENT

۲

21.5 Conclusions

The results of the investigation were used in planning the educational process in the Institute for Third-Age education of SPSUITD for the 2016-2017 academic year. All courses that are needed for the educational market by third-age persons were included in the curriculum. The number of courses "Computer skills" and "Drawing for development" were increased per year in 2016 because they are more in demand by persons of the third age. After each educational course, the questionnaire was given to each participant to have the opportunity to receive feedback from him or her. The results were used for the development of the educational process in the Institute for Third-Age education of SPSUITD.

(�)

()

۲

Centre for Third Age Education in VRSUS: First Experience

Anna Kara, Elena Kuznetcova

22.I

Introduction

Age is an important characteristic for each person. However, very often the elderly do not fear the ageing process. They worry about age-related stereotypes which are prevalent in society and limit their abilities. Old age is not an obstacle to the personality's preservation and development, its spiritual and physical health. A dignified anility depends mainly on people's efforts at self-development throughout life and cultural level reached. It can be characterised as a complex and diverse condition of a person, reflecting his own feeling about age, development capacity and environment enabling its implementation.

Humanity seriously began to think about the population ageing process in the late 1950's of the 20th century, namely in 1959, when the experts of the Demography Department of the United Nations Organisation adopted the limit of 65 years to measure demographic ageing processes. It is connected with the fact that in Western Europe and some other countries, the majority of the population retires at this age. It should be noted that concern for the social consequences that emerged at the first signs of population ageing, has been revealed by the Western European countries' governments since the 1960's of the last century, and at the beginning of the 1980's of the same century, signs of concern began to be noticed in almost all countries of the world (Yatsemirskaya, 2006).

Population ageing is an irreversible global process, which demographers have defined as a phenomenon of the 20th century, saying that the world has entered "the age of the elderly". In 1982, the first world Assembly of the United Nations Organisation dedicated to ageing was hosted in Vienna. In the framework of the Assembly it was recognised for the first time, that the process of population ageing had adopted a global charac-

 (\bullet)

22. CENTRE FOR THIRD AGE EDUCATION IN VRSUS: FIRST EXPERIENCE

ter and could be seen as one of the primary problems for humanity. For economically prosperous countries, this problem has been at the centre of all discussions and speeches. The idea adopted by the Assembly for an International plan of active ageing contained recommendations in six areas: health and nutrition; protection of elderly consumers; housing and environment; social security; the provision of income and employment; and education.

The main obstacle in the implementation of these recommendations for many countries was the lack of funding. However, it can surely be said that the Assembly greatly increased interest in the elderly, and more importantly, a need was recognised for the development of state social policy in respect of the older generation.

From 8th to 12th April 2002 in Madrid the Second World Assembly dedicated to ageing was held. Demographic data presented testified that the world was undergoing a demographic transformation: today every 10th person in the world is older than 65 years, so the number in this age group is about 629 million people. In 22 developed countries, the share of seniors in a similar population will exceed 17%. According to forecasts, by 2050 every 5th person will relate to this age group and for the first time in the history of mankind their number will exceed the number of children under the age of 15 years (Yatsemirskaya, 2006).

At present, Russia is in 135th place for life expectancy for men and 100th place for women; 125th place on the increase in life expectancy and 198th place in the rate of natural population increase in the world. In 2016, Russia's overall life expectancy was 70.93 years, including 65.29 years for men and 76.47 years for women.

Hence, age and sex difference in life expectancy is more than 11 years, which is completely abnormal. There is a unique phenomenon in the country – the excessive mortality, which is caused by mass poverty, civil and ethnic conflicts, with a sharp increase in the incidence. There is a significant mortality growth among young people aged 15-19 years.

If this demographic situation in Russia continues, only 54% of the current 16-year-old boys will live to 60 years, which is less than 100 years ago when it was 56% (Alifanova, 2014).

In these conditions, society's ageing makes new demands on older people. The current level of socio-cultural development of Russian society suggests, and in some areas requires, their participation. The problem of old age is relevant not only for the elderly but for society as a whole, which

ANNA KARA, ELENA KUZNETCOVA

is seeking ways to harmonise the natural processes of population ageing with economic and social objectives in conditions of demographic crisis.

Currently, in most countries some progress has been made in the development of national infrastructure which is associated with ageing: improving health and housing conditions, financial security of elderly people and their participation in society. Needless to say, in different countries the level of these achievements is different: the richer the country is, the better living conditions created for old people are. However, almost everywhere laws, programmes and projects are put into action related to the elderly's welfare improvement. An undoubted success is the fact that after the First World Assembly dedicated to ageing, many universities, institutes and secondary schools introduced the study of gerontology and expanded the scope of research on ageing (Yatsemirskaya, 2006).

Due to the trends mentioned above in relation to the growing number of third-age persons and economic and social difficulties, the problem of seniors' socialisation has great importance not only globally, but also at the level of separate countries. Russia is one of the largest countries in the world geographically, so in terms of population, where the share of retired persons is more than 20% with stable growth. This necessitates the development and implementation of economic and social support measures for older people to ensure their active life position and form their "necessary" status in society.

As we noted, due to limited financial resources, Russia does not have sufficient capacities for the full implementation of activities aimed at improving the older generation's situation. In this regard, the assistance of the European Union with financing, organisational and informational support for social and educational projects and programmes' realisation, particularly for third-age persons, is invaluable. The special importance of such projects is acquired due to the global implementation of the concept of continuing education throughout life.

22.2

Creation of Third-Age Education Centre at Volga Region State University of Service

Since 2013 the Economics and Management Department of FSBEI HE "Volga Region State University of Service" among the partners from Italy, Scotland, Portugal, Slovakia, Malta, Poland, Spain, Ukraine, Azerbaijan
22. CENTRE FOR THIRD AGE EDUCATION IN VRSUS: FIRST EXPERIENCE

and universities from Saint Petersburg and Samara has been a member of the international grant "TEMPUS" (project number: 544517 – TEMPUS-1-2013-1-IT-TEMPUS-JPHES "CTAE"), whose main goal is the development of universities of the third age on the basis of higher educational institutions.

The Centre for Third-Age Education – a structure which is focused on working with older people through the organisation of educational and training courses, creative workshops, course training on various programmes, assistance in obtaining services through the disclosure of internal capabilities and needs for forming active life position and satisfaction – was created by the decision of the Academic Council of FSBEI HE "Volga Region State University of Service" of 15.10.2014 No. 3.

Our study showed that the most popular faculties for teaching students in the Centre for Third Age Education in VRSUS are:

- I. Law and Economics.
- 2. Basics of computer literacy.
- 3. Basics of Internet communications.
- 4. Culture and applied arts.
- 5. Orthodox culture.
- 6. Sport and health.

These faculties of the Centre for Third Age Education in VRSUS are fixed in the position of structural unit.

The staff from VRSUS' Centre for Third Age Education studied the experience of the Centres for third-age education of the TEMPUS project CTAE partner-countries provided by the project educational mobilities. So, it was decided to base training programmes and course preparation and implementation in VRSUS' CTAE on it with the following aspects: – Third-age Europeans are active users of Internet and computer technologies, which positively distinguishes them from Russian seniors and facilitates socialisation. Computer literacy and Internet technology courses are among the most popular in the European Centres for third-age education. – A significant place among activities of the Centres for third-age education.

ucation belongs to cultural and leisure activities, including sporting and entertainment events.

 There is an element of payment as a registration fee or for additional specialised courses, academic year or semester.

– CTAE students' self-organisation, assuming the next questions' decision: information exchange about Centre's events and activities, participation in their organisation and conduction, fee collection, course selection, advertising the centre and its activities, forming study groups.

ANNA KARA, ELENA KUZNETCOVA

 $(\mathbf{0})$

We believe it is important to note that in all Centres for third-age education, which we visited with training purposes in the framework of EU TEMPUS project CTAE, all courses are developed according to the students' interests. Firstly, a survey was conducted to identify priority areas and topics for study and then the programmes are developed. This is a very rational approach because it allows avoiding unnecessary teachers' and centre's staff time expenditure to develop programmes that will not be popular among students.

Based on the acquired experience within the European Centres for third-age education, at the beginning of the first VRSUS' CTAE academic year we took the following steps to organise its activities:

We created a page Centre for Third Age Education (http://www.tol-gas.ru/activities/tretii_vozrast/) on the vrsus' website. It contains a post-ed questionnaire, so filling it in allowed students to enrol themselves in the faculty concerned.

 Information with CTAE director's contacts about students' admission was posted in the district centres of social services, public reception offices of the deputies and the "United Russia" party, city polyclinics and on means of transport.

 VRSUS' staff and students were told about the beginning of CTAE work and students' admission.

After the groups had been formed, we carried out a questionnaire survey to identify students' interests and develop training programmes. The results showed that the majority of respondents expressed an interest in faculties "Basics of Internet communications" and "Basics of computer literacy" because of the realisation that training in a computer class allows not only to spend free time, but, above all, faster adaptation to modern conditions of life, gaining confidence in their abilities and realising their potential.

The second ranked faculty, which the seniors showed interest in, is the faculty "Sport and health". Its programmes were planned to realise with the participation of teachers from VRSUS' Physical training Department and the Department of disease prevention, open lectures with the representatives of the health system in Togliatti according to a prior agreement and Alifanova, candidate of medical sciences, associate professor, who has practical medical experience and is a teacher from the Social-cultural activity Department in VRSUS.

The interest of the respondents in the faculties "Economics and law" and "Culture and applied art" within our study was marked as 30%.

()

22. CENTRE FOR THIRD AGE EDUCATION IN VRSUS: FIRST EXPERIENCE

However, while forming groups to enrol students in a course there was a situation when the results of the survey and a real interest of an audience for the programme did not correspond. So, admission of trainees to the faculties "Sport and health" and "Economics and law" did not happen because those who participated in the survey, a real desire and willingness to attend the programme showed in fact only 2 people per faculty. Students abandoned as a practical component of the courses (exercises and gymnastics, analysis of economic situations) and so the theoretical block (lectures). Such a size of groups is economically inappropriate for the university, so it was decided not to pursue courses.

As for the faculty "Culture and applied art", the initial small group of 7 people within the educational process expanded to 14 people for master-classes of the creative workshop "Granny's chest" held by its leader Marina Ostroushko and separated as an independent group of the same number for the course "Basics of art".

We decided that students of the Centre for Third Age Education in VRSUS could visit different faculties and training programmes which may include lectures, seminars, excursions, workshops and other educational forms.

At the end of the first academic year at the Centre for Third Age Education in VRSUS a repeated survey was held that helped to identify the audience's interest in the history of the Samara region and its cultural and historical places. In this regard, the second year in VRSUS' CTAE began with a trip to the Kazan Holy Mother of God's men's monastery (Vinnovka village, Samara Region) and is currently being implemented through students' participation in a free programme "Public guide", which is focused on combining wellness and hiking trips around the city with the "Finnish walk" technique with specially trained guides. The programme is supported by VRSUS. During the 2016-2017 academic year according to the students' wishes, it is also planned to hold the course "Rural tourism", developed by the teachers from the Tourism and Hospitality Department.

22.3

Conclusion

However, as any undertaking, the functioning of the Centre for Third-Age Education in VRSUS in the first year faced a number of problems. The main ones in this case are the following:

ANNA KARA, ELENA KUZNETCOVA

- The appropriate period to conduct classes in CTAE is from the beginning of October to the beginning of May. In Togliatti, the older generation attaches particular importance to maintaining subsistence farming-dacha. Dacha's season in our region begins in April and ends in early October. Practical experience showed that despite the results of the participants' preliminary survey about optimal timing for the classes within CTAE and seniors' will-ingness to attend them after the 5th May, even the most active students began to miss classes because they needed to work on their dacha and wanted to use summer vacation in order to visit family and friends in other regions.

Limited financial resources of potential target audience that is especially important in conditions of economic crisis. At the first meeting with potential students of the centre they were informed that the establishment of the centre and its work was only possible due to a grant of the European Union TEMPUS, which is implemented in VRSUS by the Economics and Management Department. Seniors were also informed that the first group in the framework of project would be trained free of charge. In the long term to ensure payback of the centre's classes, it will likely be conducted on a paid basis. The cost of training in a specific programme will be calculated based on the number of students enrolled and the possibilities of attracting sponsors or volunteers. In this regard, to determine the financial capacity of potential listeners, we carried out a survey that was focused on obtaining information about the possible amount of payment for the older generation for the training programmes. As shown, in the first year of operation, most students (about 90%) are not ready to attend training programmes on a fee basis, preferring low cost options.

Lack of motivation to volunteering among teachers, also due to the economic crisis in the country. Because of the excessive employment on their main job university teachers are not ready to work in the centre on a free basis, unless it gives the opportunity to earn an additional income, which is particularly urgent within the background of general economic crisis and declining living standards in Togliatti. In such circumstances people are looking for additional income opportunities, including teachers, because they also have families and a number of financial obligations requiring execution. Therefore, in tightened financial circumstances, people will definitely choose the job that in addition to moral satisfaction will be able to obtain an additional source of income and thereby increase their well-being.

Low level of students' responsibility for the discipline of attending classes.
Experience showed that, despite a positive attitude and the joy of attending

22. CENTRE FOR THIRD AGE EDUCATION IN VRSUS: FIRST EXPERIENCE

class, students can easily neglect them, without notifying the CTAE's staff and teachers about missing the class. This phenomenon seems especially negative in the case of a small group that can lead to a situation where the teacher comes for the lesson and the audience no.

- Ignoring e-mails and the need for repeated messages. Despite the preliminary agreement with the audience about the provision of information regarding the work of CTAE and the studies conducted by e-mail, experience has shown that outside the classroom on the basis of computer literacy, seniors do not check their e-mail and, consequently, miss important information about the classes timing, changes in schedule, new course proposals, etc. In addition, experience showed that students subconsciously expect to be reminded or re-confirmed the already achieved agreements about lessons. This encourages the CTAE's staff to call students more often than is required by the need. That leads to an excessive work time of its employees without a corresponding increase in remuneration, i.e., to economic irrationality of these actions.

However, despite a number of problems, the first-year operation of the Centre for Third-Age Education in VRSUS can be considered as quite successful because according to the students' opinion that was also voiced to European experts when they visited CTAE classes as part of the financial documents' examination under the grant, and at the end of the academic year, they look forward to the beginning of the new academic year in CTAE and new, interesting courses.

۲

Peculiarities of Management of Labour Potential in Third Age Individuals

Galina Pavlovna Gagarinskaia, Irina Garriyevna Kuznetcova, Diana Spulber

23.1

Introduction

Labour potential of both an individual employee and any set of workers being used in production is a very dynamic value, constantly changing not only quantitatively but also qualitatively under the influence of a complex of socio-economic, scientific-technical, psycho-physiological and many other factors. That is why the assessment of the level and extent of the use of human labour potential is now considered one of the most complex and insufficiently developed production problems. In this article the authors examine labour potential as a major resource of an enterprise because it is only due to human intelligence that new, competitive products can be created. Analysis and monitoring of personnel management problems of third-age personnel in different areas of work makes it possible to draw conclusions about the need to develop a methodology to assess how efficiently the labour potential of third-age workers is used.

23.2

Methodological Approach to the Problem of Management of the Labour Potential of Third-Age Individuals

Human resource management of the national economy is closely linked to the introduction of innovations in the social and labour spheres. Conceptually, it has three aspects to it: formation, development, and use of labour resources, where their formation is stipulated, above all, by human potential, and the use – by social capital of the organisation and society. In accordance with this, innovations targeting human resources may have as their object directly both human capital and social capital, or human potential.

()

23. PECULIARITIES OF MANAGEMENT OF LABOUR POTENTIAL

FIGURE 23.1

Main directions of implementation of social and labour innovations depending on the characteristics of the third age



Source: Gagarinskaia (2016).

()

A key role in HR management is played by the social mechanisms such as a system of social relations (structures, specific forms and methods of activity, as well as institutions), providing solutions to social and labour problems (groups of problems). When improving these mechanisms, the state, commercial and non-profit organisations pose as the subjects of innovation activity. The study proposed to break social and labour innovations into those directed at the human resources of the organisation (human resources of a company), at the social relations of workers in the external environment, and at the external environment. It is proposed to subdivide innovative approaches to the management of labour into the following areas of implementation: planning, recruitment and accounting, legal and information support, line management, motivation and incentives, training and development, recreation, working conditions, social policy and public relations, thus allowing us to take into account the specifics of the implementation tools inherent to them.

Solving HR management problems through social and labour innovation should be to the point, otherwise social changes are not of an innovative sort. The purpose of social and labour innovations is defined by urgent problems existing in HR management with the main trends of their development in view.

The specifics in the human resource management of different categories of workers can be considered in two areas of comparative analysis representing independent fields of study:

1. The age and gender structure of the labour resources.

2. The skill-professional qualification structure of the labour resources.

23.3

Analysis of Skill-Professional Structure of HR in Russia

The analysis shows that the skill structure of the Russian workforce has undergone changes in recent years due to transition to a new layered system of vocational education. In turn, the gender and age structure of the labour force is characterised in sufficient detail by available primary statistics that are used to forecast employment. However, the traditional approach to the analysis of gender and age structure (for aggregated age groups) does not disclose the details of the use of labour resources in full, distorting the age peculiarities of their management. This is due to the fact that workers of working age are considered as a single age category (16-54/59 years), or as broken into groups (18-24, 25-29, 30-39, 40-59 years). Such an approach could be considered reasonable if by reaching a certain age people abruptly lost all the properties of accumulated human capital or ceased to use it. In practice, on the contrary, disability (both by medical and skill parameters) occurs gradually. Some workers lose their real productivity long before retirement age, while others remain in the labour market after retirement.

In men, this trend begins from age 40 and is clearly manifested in the 50-54 age group, i.e. 10 years before the intended retirement. The trend cannot be linked to early retirement as the number of citizens eligible for early appointment of work pension is not so great. Despite the presence of the downturn in the employment rate, the older age group of employees is becoming increasingly important to the national economy due to population ageing. This process has two manifestations (FIG. 23.4):

 The ratio of working age population to the pensioners changes in the direction of increasing demographic burden.

23. PECULIARITIES OF MANAGEMENT OF LABOUR POTENTIAL







There is a trend towards increased numbers of older workers (over 50 years) among the population of working age.

For a more precise delineation of the aggregated age groups, both traditionally recognised and offered by us, they are visually compared in FIG. 23.2.

Let's consider the dynamics of the age groups in the Samara region. FIG. 23.3 shows that the share of the age group younger than working age decreased in the total population from 26.5% in 1991 to 17.2% in 2008; later years saw a slight increase of this group and in 2014 it was 19.5%. As for the working age population in the total population of the Samara region, we can see the growth of the share of this group in the period 1991-2006 from 55.6% to 62.8%; since 2007, there has been a steady decline and in 2014 its share dropped to 55.9%.

On the one hand, young people at this age have not yet reached the peak of their work activity, many continue their education and are not yet active in the labour market. On the other hand, at this age they are most able to make innovations and are most mobile both socially and geographically.

According to the forecast, the 15-72 age group of the population of the Samara region will decrease continuously until 2020. The region will have lost 78,300 people or 5.2%, arriving at 94.8% compared to 2014. In the meantime, the share of persons of more active age (20-29 years) will



۲





FIGURE 23.4

۲

Predictive assessment of future changes in proportion of population of different age groups in %

(�)



Source: calculated and compiled by the authors using data from Rosstat.

Source: compiled by the authors.

23. PECULIARITIES OF MANAGEMENT OF LABOUR POTENTIAL

steadily decline and by 2020 will have reached a level of 189,200, which is 110,500 or 36.9% less than in 2014. The number of persons aged 30-49 by will be on the rise and by 2018 will have increased by 0.8% compared to 2014. The following years will see a significant reduction of the group and by 2020 it will shrink to almost the 2014 level, which will lead to a reduction of more experienced labour potential, and which may adversely affect the economic development of the region. The 50-59 age group will also decrease throughout the forecast period analysed. Since each age group has a different economic activity and a different level of employment, it is necessary to take into account changes in the age structure of the economically active population (TAB. 23.1) for the assessment of labour potential.

During the period from 2014 to 2020 the population structure will be mainly dominated by the 50-72 age group. By 2020, its share will be 39.9%, which is 4.1 percentage points more than in 2014. This could affect the quality characteristics of the labour potential, reduce the overall level of economic activity and employment. The category aged 15-29 will also continuously decrease and by 2020 will be 20.7%, which is 6.2% less than the values of 2014. The share of those aged 30-49 will increase before 2020 (increase of 2.1 percentage points to 39.4%). Changes in the age structure of the economically active population should be considered when assessing the labour potential.

Year / Age, years	2014 (actual)	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	Deviation, +/- to 2014
15-19	6.9	6.6	6.6	6.8	7.0	7.2	7.4	+0.5
20-29	20.0	18.1	17.0	15.8	14.8	14.0	13.3	-6.7
30-39	19.8	20.5	20.7	20.9	21.0	21.0	20.9	+ 1.1
40-49	17.5	17.5	17.6	17.7	17.9	18.2	18.5	+ 1.0
50-59	21.2	20.9	20.5	19.9	19.2	18.6	18.1	-3.1
60-72	14.6	16.4	17.6	18.9	20.1	21.0	21.8	+ 7.2
Total 15-72	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	-

TABLE 23.1 Predictive structure of the population aged 15-72 for the period up to 2020

Source: calculated by the authors using the data from Rosstat.

G. P. GAGARINSKAIA, I. G. KUZNETCOVA, D. SPULBER

23.4 Use and Development Factors for Elderly HR

Improvement of HR management mechanism brings about the need to assess the results of social and labour innovations in the field. In this regard, it is necessary to clarify the methods of evaluation of innovative HR management mechanisms. This problem should be solved taking into account the research priorities – third-age HR management mechanism.

The main objectives in solving this problem are:

1. Classification of HR management factors that can be influenced by social and labour innovations.

2. Analysis of indicator systems to assess the efficiency of social and labour innovations in HR management.

3. Clarifying the typology of indicators to measure the results of social and labour innovations in HR management.

4. Setting up the criteria to assess the results of social and labour innovations in HR management.

Defining the structure of HR management factors (the first of the problems studied) is a complex theoretical task. This is due to the fact that the set of related statistics, investigated in the preceding paragraph, call for systematisation and classification.

HR management can be done in age-gender and skill-qualification aspects. In this study, we will consider its factors against age features. Based on the reviewed features, four main groups of factors can be distinguished: development, quality, quantity and use of HR. The number of workforce depends on the demographic situation, laws and trends. Within these the aspects of fertility and health status (morbidity, mortality) are distinguished. This group of factors is linked to the health market. Quality of the workforce characterises the possession by employees of the competence needed for work activities. The main aspects of the problem are the quality of general education, qualification of workers, and loss of competence for various reasons.

As was shown above, the subjects whose activity influences the HR management are the state, the organisation and the employees themselves. In the process, the impact of the subjects can be both long-term and short-term, thereby causing relatively stable and dynamic factors of influence. The second base is distinguished by the two-level classification: by the subject and impact stability. Correlating these levels produces six groups:

		Forecasting	Education market	Human capital quality	Demography	Employment	
	Macroenvironment	Infrastructure (steady factors)	Condition of training infrastructure	Quality of basic and vocational education	Condition of healthcare and recreation structure	Condition of employment infrastructure	
	Macroenv	Business climate (dynamic factors)	Education market condition	sTP and obsolescence of workers' competences	Demographic situation	Macroeconomic situation	
]
	Microenvironment	Market (steady factors)	Employers' interaction with educational institutions	Loss of qualification by unemployed	Workforce migration	Spatial and qualification structure of work places	
	Microenv	Enterprise (dynamic factors)	Training of personnel by employer	Personnel placement	Working conditions and occupational injury rate	Recruitment motivation	
						0	1
	Internal (personal)	Objective (steady factors)	Age-related specifics of ability to learn	Age-related physiological characteristics	Age-related morbidity	Family structure	
	Internal (Subjective (dynamic factors)	Self motivation	Professionalism	Disability degree	Work motivation	
I		Classification of HR management factors	Human capital development factors	Human capital quality factors	Human capital quantity factors	Human capital use factor	

н сике 23.5 The Matrix of HR of older age workforce

23. PECULIARITIES OF MANAGEMENT OF LABOUR POTENTIAL

1. Subjective internal factors (depending on the employee's decision).

2. Objective internal factors (characterise an employee, but hardly susceptible to his/her control; reflect objectively the existing age and other regularities).

3. Microenvironment of the enterprise (depends of the decisions taken at company level).

4. Market microenvironment (reflects objective regularities in the market's behaviour).

5. Macro-economic situation (balance of market forces exposed to the state's socio-economic policies).

6. Macro-environment infrastructure (social institutions and organisation of markets, a change of which would require long-term reforms).

Balance of the markets, entities, and sustainable impact on the workforce of older ages allows us to create a matrix of 24 elements.

23.5

Classification of Social-Labour Innovation Indicators in HR Management Mechanisms

Quality workforce indicators are associated primarily with features of the professional and qualification structure. This structure is affected by many factors, some of which are also shown in age context. For example, an employee's professionalism is associated with his/her experience, increasing with age. The loss of unused competencies under unemployment and due to placement of personnel also accumulates over time. In turn, macro factors influence the characteristics of different generations of workers. For example, a change in general education standards causes a change in the general competencies of school graduates. All these factors must be taken into account when predicting changes in the quality of human resources. This group of factors is not related to the current state of any market, except the general education system, which in some cases (in certain segments or countries) can be regarded from the market point of view.

Workforce development as an independent vector is mostly related to the peculiarities of the human potential of the organisation, region and country. It is defined by a system of vocational education and its relationship with the state and regional policy, and direct activities of the companies. The education market is distinctive in that it is irregular in relation to the workers' age. So, at the age of about 25 many workers continue vocational

()

23. PECULIARITIES OF MANAGEMENT OF LABOUR POTENTIAL



FIGURE 23.6 The indicators of social and labour innovations

()

education or combine it with regular education, while at the age of over 50 only the vast minority of workers undergoes vocational training, retraining or skill improvement. However, the results of HR development are affected by intrapersonal factors such as employee's motivation for the development of age-related psycho-physiological and learning opportunities.

The last aspect of HR management investigated is their use manifested in employment (self-employment). Although occasional studies on the impact of domestic work on the welfare of society emerge under the aegis of the new institutional economic theory, the dominant approach to human resources is still concentrated on the issues of employment and, to a lesser extent, is associated with entrepreneurial activity. Job finding and employment are influenced by such factors as motivation of employment by employers and space-qualification structure of work places, economic cycles, sophistication of employment services and other labour market institutions. It is impossible to ignore the subjective factors: the desire (reluctance) on the part of a person to continue his/her career, his/her family structure, that creates additional obligations on domestic work. The importance of these factors varies depending on the gender and age of the worker. The specifics of human resource use factors are that they are direct-

G. P. GAGARINSKAIA, I. G. KUZNETCOVA, D. SPULBER

ly reflected in the labour market and allow traditional indicators, such as employment and productivity, to be used for their analysis.

23.6 Conclusion

Summarising the study, it must be emphasised that the evaluation of the results of innovative social mechanisms is a complex methodological problem. Its solution is possible only in the context of particularities of labour potential management of various categories of workers depending on the objectives of innovation and overall policy of the national economy's labour potential management. In the Russian context, heterogeneity of the demographic situation and incomplete reproduction of generations predetermine the study of the condition of third-age labour potential, which is less used and developed, to be the most relevant path of research. It is exactly this unfortunate situation that contains unrealised potential for improving HR management through social and labour innovations.

The factor analysis performed allows us to consider labour potential management as a complex field of activity, investigated in aspect of gender and age at the employee level, organisation, and state in the aspects of use, development, as well as the quantity and quality of labour potential. With all that, the impact of the subjects can be both long-term and short-term, thereby causing relatively dynamic and relatively stable factors of influence.

When creating a system of indicators, this complexity of the innovative mechanisms can be taken into account by including the target compliance principles, factor interdependence, completeness and integration of the indicator system in the methodical approach to assessment of innovations. The elements used within such indicators can be classified based on presentation form, object of measurement, and decision-making subject. The main stages of creating an indicator system should include defining of the objective of change in the social mechanism, identifying necessary attributes of human resources, substantiating the target indicators of socio-economic results, defining the financial indicators comparable to those reflecting the socio-economic results, generating the integrated indicators for social and labour innovation results and defining criteria to assess the results.

Closing Remarks

 $(\mathbf{0})$

Guido Amoretti, Diana Spulber, Nicoletta Varani

A first reflection on the papers presented bring us to emphasise how all should be traced in different measure, also those referring to a specific casestudy, in a broad context such as that of the ageing of the planet's population, a deep theme that need studies and new areas of investigation.

Particularly, new areas of research are oriented to management of ageing through policies and best practices of active ageing, which for a long time have taken on a particular relevance, as the papers' originality and results show.

Population ageing is an achievement, but because of the tendency to the increase of the phenomenon in all countries of the planet it is also a concern and a challenge for states and society.

Indeed, as evidenced by the contributions referred to in the section *Value of Ageing and the Challenge of the Third Age*, in which a general picture is provided of the relationships between ageing and health, emphasising some aspects of social character, on the model of active ageing and health promoted in 2012 by the World Health Organisation and the European Union, you can find a whole series of implications which need a brief summary.

The first section examines the ageing phenomenon as a whole. It starts from the analysis of the elderly concept in time and around the world from an anthropological point of view, mentioning also mythology of ageing and reviewing the concept of ageing in different cultures.

The elderly condition in less developed countries has been also stressed where ageing people numerically are less relevant as in Africa. The elderly condition in Africa was dealt with by verifying whether a correspondence exists between a tribe's wise man concept, that can be assimilated to old people's role in pre-industrial societies, and how modern African societies take ageing into account.

Definitions of elders in a historical key have been brought again, in fact the "elders" have been split into "young elderly", "late adults" and "grand

()

old age". The importance of self-realisation through the labour market, workplace and re-orienteering courses were focused on.

The problems that we are going to face because of demographic evolution was analysed with special focus in the EU and the EU social policy as a reply to this urgent question. The evolution of UTE was considered as an impulse to Lifelong Learning and demographic evolution as an impulse to welfare systems. The improvement of how the social policy around EU countries and changing of welfare systems has had a real effect on the social integration of ageing people and consequently on active ageing was shown.

After the analysis of demographic and cultural evolution of elderly as a concept and as a phenomenon the section also includes measures provided by the European Commission through several kinds of calls and financing projects, an evaluation of some projects and calls is made. Social work is analysed in keys of improvement of well-being of elderly people, and as a multidimensional construct, in particular what should be considered when working with elders.

Quality of Life and Lifelong Learning are the common denominators of the articles in Section two. Quality of life is examined both from an objective point of view as a subjective perception: both contribute to promote the maintenance of self-sufficiency, with the easily imaginable positive impact on national economies and on the related social and health care systems. The centrality of learning in the life of each of us is a fact: lifelong learning is no longer limited to the working period but extends itself throughout the entire life-span, constituting an essential component of active ageing. The positive functioning and self-sufficiency has been demonstrated by several studies: it is difficult to talk about active ageing in the absence of lifelong learning activities.

Besides the second section focused attention on the well-being of elders around the world, their employability and the role of sport and education on active ageing. As we saw from this section, economic status is an important factor for ageing and inequality in this field is a social disadvantage with which we should deal. Poverty represents a cause of reduction of life expectancy. The picture of poverty and health conditions of old people in Sub-Saharan African countries throws light on how the "old people" concept has passed from "inexhaustible sources of wisdom" to "more mouths to feed". This fact happened because of loss of family ties as a micro-system and if we check at the macro-system level, this also happened because of changes relating to globalisation processes, armed conflicts, structural ad-

CLOSING REMARKS

justments, urbanisation, natural disasters such as droughts and floods, the HIV/AIDS pandemic. Unlike Sub-Saharan African countries, in Brazil life expectancy is increasing in a giddy way and the Brazilian government is trying to solve the problem of social inequalities through girls' schooling, that might also be a solution or some know-how for African countries. The analysis of the status of elderly in the EU was done examining Genoa, the EU city with the oldest people with a particular focus on the elderly's frail-ty. The association of different vulnerability conditions and possible social factors such as occupational status, education, cultural fruition, social activation was brought to light. The decline in frailty resulted more evident in socially disadvantaged conditions.

Northern countries were analysed from the point of view of ageing-friendly universities (AFU) citing the case of Dublin City and Strathclyde City: it was shown how higher education institutions need not only to consider alternatives to many geared systems towards full-time students but must also look outside many conventional benchmarks which fail to capture the rich and diverse activities encompassed within the vision of the AFU.

From East European countries Ukraine, Russian Federation and Azerbaijan were taken into consideration. Employability factor and a more "friendly economy" were seen as an impulse for active ageing even through training and retraining for retired people. An analysis of the Ukrainian situation has shown that small steps have been made in this direction citing the platform work.ua and how the Ukrainian policy should take into consideration the economic recovery, re-launching the economy in an ageing society. Other analyses have been made on veteran athletes and their physiological ageing: this research has shown how the algorithm that joins sex and age should be used in order to preview how the performances and the role of adaptive mechanisms on sport results have been enhanced.

The role of education in later life has been analysed as a political reply of Azerbaijan to increase the social integration of ageing people. Even for Azerbaijan, education in later life is a new trend and serious attention should be paid to adult education. To provide this condition, a relevant legislative basis should be created in Azerbaijan and people who work in this field should be encouraged.

Finally, the section concludes with an international and historical analysis of the development of Universities of the Third Age (UTA or U3A) and stressed the difficulties that the U3A movement is currently experiencing, and the possible and actual biases that centres may incur.

GUIDO AMORETTI, DIANA SPULBER, NICOLETTA VARANI

Some suggestions have been provided for the future role of U3As, ranging from embracing a broader vision of learning, improving the quality of learning, instruction, and curricula, as well as a wider participation in the agenda that attracts elders experiencing physical and cognitive challenges.

The articles that make up the third section of the volume (*Third Age and Activity Hypothesis and Experiences*) have highlighted a series of case studies and concrete experiences in which the adjective "active" is considered the interdependence between changes in old people's lives and changes in social structures. So, social determinants acquire a fundamental role in the ageing process of people. Emphasis shifts from the concept of "productivity" (typical of working age) to that of "commitment in life" (as participation in social life), to which is attributed the ability to help preserve the cognitive function and social relationships.

The peculiarity of this section was that although in the others we can see a more theoretical and empirical approach, this one is made up of different case studies.

The section has underlined the EU experience in organisation of the University of Third-Age Education, as in Slovakia and in Italy, and how it was implemented/used in eastern European countries like Ukraine and Russian Federation. From the Italian side an analysis of the role of Lifelong Learning on active ageing was provided and how Italian policy responds to this social need citing the law regarding public and private organisations that deal with seniors. The case of the UTE of Genoa University underlined the importance of intergeneration communication and provided a synthetic description of learners, of the courses and of the organisation of the academic year. The experience of Slovakia highlights how the organisation of the courses should have a personalised approach and that each activity organised within programmes for older people should contain a little bit of fun and therapeutic effect, because only such activities, that fully meet people's needs, will be very popular and sought after.

The intention of Ukraine to join the European concept of education that provides continuous training has stressed the importance of formal and non-formal education with special focus on adult people, the importance of promotion of adult learning at the national and regional level and the importance of social integration of the elderly of Ukraine. On the integration of ageing people, the case study of Donetsk (moved to Mariupol) was cited where integration of ageing people is done through promotion of education, education courses and intergenerational collaboration.

CLOSING REMARKS

The analysis of micro-realities like the experiences of St. Petersburg and Togliatti on organisation of Institute/Centre of Third-Age Education has underlined the role of analysis of future needs of learners and the role of designing courses with particular attention to the peculiarities of new alumni. Unlike St. Petersburg, Togliatti met more difficulties in promoting the courses and in finding volunteer teachers. This fact was explained by the economic crisis (in Russia family incomes are varied in different regions).

Finally, this section underlined the peculiarities on HR management on old workers by taking into account their bio-psychological changes and has shown how Russian Federation is in the same demographic trend as the EU and how the new indicators should be considered for the best use of the capital that old workers represent.

In summary, from the articles we can evince, directly or indirectly, how the pillars of active ageing are related to three main thematic areas: health, social participation and security. As to these areas specific initiatives have been illustrated such as: prevention and promotion (health); socio-economic activities, cultural-formative activities (social), social, physical and financial protection (security). In a world inhabited by an ageing population, this volume offers a series of reflections, moving from general to particular, that suggest the assumption of social policies intended to encourage the maintenance of a good activity level to prevent the onset of pathological states and disabling the implementation of interventions in health and social able to contain the loss of self-sufficiency. The articles collected in this volume provide guidance on the forms of intervention which are most appropriate for active ageing: educational programmes, Lifelong Learning and cognitive enhancement programmes on the one hand, policies of social intervention and health on the other. Verification of the actual effectiveness of these measures offers incentives to researchers who deal with the planet's elders, whose task is to propose, plan and manage, in concert with the legislative, medical and social systems, actions promoting an active lifestyle, to influence the preservation of self-sufficiency in the elderly and reduce, consequently, the periods of non-reliance and the economic and social costs associated with it. The hope is that reading this volume increases the sensitivity of political decision-makers towards a policy of prevention for the ageing with the understanding that the resources invested in this sector can represent a savings in the future, as well as improve the quality of life of millions of people.

References

 $(\mathbf{0})$

Foreword

- ALTHOFF T., SOSIČ R., HICKS. J. L., KING A. C., DELP S. L., LESKOVEC J. (2017), *Large-Scale Physical Activity Data Reveal Worldwide Activity Inequality*, in "Nature", 23018, pp. 1-4.
- BENEDICT XVI POPE (2007), Enciclica Spe Salvi, Vatican City, November 30.
- BERNABEI R. (2012), Anziani. Italia Longeva presenta le 5 regole per invecchiare bene, in "quotidianosanità.it", November 23 (http://www.quotidianosanita. it/cronache/articolo.php?articolo_id=12089 9).
- BRAIBANTI P., ZUNINO A., DE AGOSTINI V. (2005), *Psicologia della salute e modello bio-psico-sociale*, in P. Braibanti, A. Zunino (a cura di), *Lo sguardo di Igea. Soggetti, contesti e azioni di psicologia della salute*, Franco Angeli, Milano, pp. 15-44.
- CEMBRANI F. (in press), Il disegno di legge "Norme in materia di consenso informato e di disposizioni anticipate di trattamento", Statement of AIP (Italian Society of Psychogeriatrics).
- GRISERI P. (2017), Intervista a Enzo Bianchi, in "la Repubblica", January 27.

MAGRIS C. (2016), *Editoriale*, in "Corriere della Sera", November 23.

MAJANI G. (2015), *Psicologia dell'invecchiamento attivo*, Paper presented at meeting of AIP (Italian Society of Psychogeriatrics), Firenze.

TRABUCCHI M. (2016), *I volti dell'invecchiare*, San Paolo, Cinisello Balsamo (MI). VASSANELLI C. (2017), *La fatica di essere normale*, in "la Repubblica", July 4.

- wно (2002), *Active Ageing: A Policy Framework*, World Health Organisation, Geneva (http://www.who.int/ageing/publications/active_ageing/en/).
- ZANETIDOU S., BELVEDERI MURRI M., MENCHETTI M., TONI M., ASIOLI F., BA-GNOLI L. et al. (2016), Physical Exercise for Late Life Depression: Customizing an Intervention for Primary Care, in "Journal of the American Geriatrics Society", 65, pp. 348-55.

The Framework

EUROSTAT (2016), Statistic Explained: Population Statistics at Regional Level, Brussels (https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php/ Population_statistics_at_regional_level).

۲

- MARTIN J. PRINCE et al. (2014), The Burden of Disease in Older People and Implications for Health Policy and Practice, in "The Lancet", November 6 (http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61347-7).
- MATHERS C. D. et al. (2014), Causes of International Increases in Older Age Life Expectancy, in "The Lancet", 385, 9967, pp. 540-8 (https://www.thelancet. com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(14)60569-9/fulltext).
- UNFPA (2013), *Aging in the Twenty-First Century*, HelpAge-UNFPA, London-New York,
- UNITED NATIONS (2013), Intergovernmental Meeting on the Second Review and Appraisal of the Madrid International Plan of Action on Ageing (10-12 September 2012, Bangkok), Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific (ESCAP), Bangkok.
- (2017), 2016 Demographic Yearbook, United Nations, New York.

 $(\mathbf{\Phi})$

- wно (2015), World Report on Aging and Health, World Health Organization, Geneva.
- (2016), Study on Global Ageing and Adult Health (SAGE), World Health Organization, Geneva.

Section I

Value of Ageing and Challenge of the Third Age

- ALBERICI A. (1994), *Imparare sempre nella società della conoscenza*, Mondadori, Milano.
- AMALDI P., MORI A., PIERACCINI G. (1957), *La vecchiaia tarda, lenta, sana*, Serena Edizioni, Istituto Medicina Sociale, Roma.
- AMORETTI G., RATTI M. T. (1994), *Psicologia e terza età. Prospettive psicologiche sul tema dell'invecchiamento*, Carocci, Roma.
- АРХІПОВА С. (ARCHIPOVA S.) (2011), Osvita dlia sotsialino-nezasciscenih kategoriy naselenia: teoria, metodolighia, practica, Cherkasy (UKR).
- BAUMAN Z. (2009), *Lives on the Run. How to Save Oneself by the Tyranny of the Ephemer*, Lectio Magistralis at the University of Bologna in 2007, il Mulino, Bologna.
- BERNARDI B. (2006), Africanistica. Le culture orali dell'Africa, Franco Angeli, Milano.
- BOURDIEU P. (1995), Ragioni pratiche. Sulla teoria dell'azione, il Mulino, Bologna.
- BRANSON P. M., BYKLA O. V., DRAGOMIROVA E. S. (2016), Sotsialina rabota s liudimi tritiegoviku mechjnarodniy dosvid dlia Ukraini//Navchialino-metodichnyi posibnik, DINDU, Mariupoli (UKR).
- BRANSTON B. (1962), Gli dei del Nord, Il Saggiatore, Milano.
- BRUSCAGLIONI M. (2007), Persona empowerment, Franco Angeli, Milano.

()

۲

- CAPOZZI E. (2015), *Il fantasma dell'Occidente nel mondo globalizzato*, in "L'Acropoli", vol. 16, pp. 37-52.
- CHIESA ISNARDI (2004), *Racconti popolari e fiabe islandesi*, Tascabili Bompiani, Varese.
- (2008), *I miti nordici*, Longanesi, Milano.
- (2015), Storia e cultura della Scandinavia. Uomini e mondi del Nord, Bompiani, Milano.
- CIA (2017), *The CIA World Factbook 2017*, Skyhorse Publishing, New York.
- COSTA F. J. (1994), International Development in the Self-Help Education Movement – the University of the Third Age, in "Education and Ageing", 9, 1, pp. 41-3.
- CUFINO M. (2010), *Islanda. Terra, acqua, aria, fuoco*, Polaris, Faenza (RA).
- (2011), *Norvegia. La via del Nord*, Polaris, Faenza (RA).
- DAVIDSON H. E. (1988), Roles of the Northern Goddess, Routledge, London.
- (1993), *The Lost Beliefs of Northern Europe*, Routledge, London.
- DEL CORE P., FERRAROLI S., FONTANA U. (a cura di) (2005), Orientare alle scelte. Percorsi evolutivi, strategie e strumenti operativi, LAS, Roma.
- DEL ZOTTO C. (a cura di) (2003), *Edda poetica. Il carme di Sigrdrifa*, Scheiwiller, Milano.
- DI FABIO A. (1998), *Psicologia dell'orientamento*, Giunti, Firenze.
- DI FRANCESCO G. (a cura di) (2014), *Rapporto nazionale sulle competenze degli adulti*, PIAAC-OCSE, ISFOL, Roma.
- ERMOLINA A. (2016), Social Capital as the Source of Subjective Well-Being in the Late Life in Central and Eastern European Countries, https://www.europeansocialsurvey.org/docs/about/conference/ERMOLINA_Social-capitalas-the-source-of-SWB-in-the-late-life-in-Central-and-Eastern-Europeancounries.pdf.
- EUROPEAN COMMISSION (2014), *The 2015 Ageing Report. Underlying Assumptions* and Projection Methodologies, European Economy 8, European Union, Brussels.
- (2015), The 2015 Ageing Report: Economic and budgetary Projections for the EU28 Member States (2013-2060), European Economy 3, European Union, Brussels.
- EUROSTAT (2016), *Annual Activity Report 2015*, https://ec.europa.eu/info/publications/annual-activity-report-2015-eurostat_en.

FESTINGER L. (1997), *La dissonanza cognitiva*, Franco Angeli, Milano.

- FIGUS A. (2009), *Sustainable "University Enterprise" Partnership*, LUDES University Press, CD Book, Lugano, Switzerland.
- FIGUS A., SPULBER D., MARTYNENKO E., CHEPURKO Y. (2009), *European Perspectives*, PFUR, Moscow.
- FREEDMAN M. (2012), *The Big Shift: Navigating the New Stage Beyond Midlife*, Public Affairs, New York.
- GHILARDUCCI T. (2008), *The Future of Retirement in Ageing Societie*, http://www.univ-paris13.fr/cepn/IMG/pdf/.
- GOLDSTEIN S. (1971), *The Biology of Ageing*, in "The New England Journal of Medicine", 285, 20, pp. 1120-9.

(�)

- GRAMMATICUS S. (2006), *The Danish History, Books I-IX*, Project Gutenberg eBook (https://www.gutenberg.org/files/1150/1150-h/1150-h.htm).
- GREPPI E. (1956), *Longevità e senescenza, patologia eredo-costituzionale tardiva*, in "Archivio di medicina mutualistica", III, pp. 37-67.
- (2005), La trasformazione della vecchiaia e le utopie possibili, in R. Marra (ed.), Diritti degli anziani e politiche sociali, G. Giappichelli Editore, Torino, pp. 9-24.
- (2007), *Dall'antropologia all'antropopoiesi*, C. Lucisano Editore, Milano.
- GUERCI A., CONSIGLIERE S. (a cura di) (2002), Vivere e "curare" la vecchiaia nel mondo. Technical report, Erga Edizioni, Genova.
- (2004), Ageing: From Bioethics to Social Ethics, in "Journal of Human Ecology" Special Issue" n. 12, pp. 205-11.
- GUGLIELMI D., D'ANGELO M. G. (a cura di) (2011), Prospettive per l'orientamento. Studi ed esperienze in onore di Maria Luisa Pombeni, Carocci, Roma.
- HE W., GOODKIND D., KOWAL P. (2016), An Ageing World: 2015. International Population Reports, United States Census Bureau, U.S. Government Publishing Office, Washington DC.
- INTERNATIONAL FEDERATION OF SOCIAL WORKERS (2018), *Global Social Work Statement of Ethical Principles*, http://ifsw.org/policies/statement-of-ethical-principles/.
- ISFOL (2003), Apprendimento di competenze strategiche, Franco Angeli, Milano.
- ISTAT (2015), Il tuo accesso diretto alla statistica italiana, http://dati.istat.it/.
- KASSMANN M. (2012), A metà della vita. Quale avvenire dopo i cinquant'anni, Claudiana, Torino.
- KLEINMAN M. (2002), A European Welfare State? European Union Social Policy in Context, Palgrave Macmillan, Basingstoke (UK).
- кубіцький С. (кивітѕкіч s.) (2010), Istoria sotsialinoi raboty v zarubejnykh stranakh v skhemakh i tablitsakh:navchialinyi posibnik, DAKKIM, Kiev.
- LASSEN A. (2000), Hoðr's Blindness and the Pledging of Óðinn's Eye: The Symbolic Value of the Eyes of Hoðr, Óðinn and Þórr, in G. Barnes, M. Clunies Ross (eds.), The 11th International Saga Conference: Old Norse Myths, Literature & Society, Sydney, Australia, pp. 220-8.
- LINDOW J. (2000), Norse Mythology: A Guide to Gods, Heroes, Rituals, and Beliefs, Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- MANCINELLI M. R. (2000), *L'orientamento dalla A alla Z*, Vita e Pensiero, Milano.
- MUCCHIELLI R. (1987), Apprendere il counseling, Erickson, Trento.
- MURA A. (2005), L'orientamento formativo. Questioni storico-tematiche, problemi educativi e prospettive pedagogico-didattiche, Franco Angeli, Milano.
- OREFICE P. (2000), Educazione e formazione. La prospettiva del processo formativo nel lifelong learning, in R. Piazza, C. Tuozzi (a cura di), La formazione diffusa. Il processo educativo in età adulta, Pensa MultiMedia, Lecce.

۲

- PERUCCA A. (a cura di) (2003), *L'orientamento tra miti, mode e grandi silenzi*, Amaltea, L'Aquila.
- PIAZZA R., TUOZZI C. (a cura di) (2000), *La formazione diffusa. Il processo educativo in età adulta*, Pensa MultiMedia, Lecce.
- PICCARDO C. (1995), Empowerment, Raffaello Cortina, Milano.
- PULVIRENTI D. (2014), *Isole Faroe. Un arcipelago verde ai confini dell'Artico*, Polaris, Faenza (RA).
- ROGERS C. (1994), La terapia centrata sul cliente, Martinelli, Firenze.
- ROWE J. W., KAHN R. L. (1998), *Successful Ageing*, Dell Trade Paperback, New York.
- SARACENO C. (2013), *Il welfare. Modelli e dilemmi della cittadinanza sociale*, il Mulino, Bologna.
- SCARPA A. (1980), Etnomedicina, F. Lucisano Editore, Milano.
- SCORTEGAGNA R. (2005), *Invecchiare*, il Mulino, Bologna.
- SENNETT R. (1999), L'uomo flessibile. Le conseguenze del nuovo capitalismo sulla vita personale, Feltrinelli, Milano.
- SOLLITTO M. (2013), Ageism: Discrimination Against the Elderly, http://www. ageingcare.com/Articles/discrimination-against-elderly-150458.htm.

SONNET A., OLSEN H., MANFREDI T. (2014), Towards More Inclusive Ageing and Employment Policies: The Lessons from France, The Netherlands, Norway and Switzerland, in "De Economist", 162, pp. 315-39.

- STRIANO M. (a cura di) (2010), *Pratiche educative per l'inclusione sociale*, Franco Angeli, Milano.
- STURLUSON S. (1975), *Edda*, Adelphi, Milano.
- TEBANO E. (2013), Le nuove (mezze) stagioni della vita. Aumentano le fasce di età: tra giovani-adulti e grandi-anziani oggi sono nove, in "Corriere della Sera", March 29.
- TIMONEN V. (2016), Beyond Successful and Active Ageing: A Theory of Model Ageing, Policy Press, Bristol (UK).

UNDESA (United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs) (2015), *World Population Prospects. The 2015 Revision*, United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs/Population Division, New York.

- UNITED NATIONS (2015), *World Population Ageing 2015*, United Nations, New York.
- (2017), Word Population Prospects. The 2017 Revision, DESA-Population Division, New York.
- VALLOIS H. V. (1946), Les Hommes fossiles, éléments de paléontologie humaine, Masson, Paris.
- VAN DYK S., LESSENICH S. (hrsg.) (2009), *Die jungen Alten. Analysen einer neuen Sozialfigur*, Campus, Frankfurt-New York.
- VAN WEENEN H. (2000), *Towards a Vision of a Sustainable University*, in "International Journal of Sustainability in Higher Education", 1, 1, pp. 20-34.

()

- VATTOVANI P. (2011), *La governance dell'orientamento*, in D. Guglielmi, M. G. D'Angelo (a cura di), *Prospettive per l'orientamento. Studi ed esperienze in onore di Maria Luisa Pompeani*, Carocci, Roma.
- VERZAR F., SIRTORI C. (1975), *Premises for a Long, Young, Healthy Life*, Minerva Medica, Roma.
- WALLS T. A., LITTLE T. D. (2005), Relations Among Personal Agency, Motivation, and School Adjustment in Early Adolescence, in "Journal of Educational Psychology", 97, 1, pp. 23-31.
- wно (2002), *Active Ageing: A Policy Framework*, World Health Organisation, Geneva (http://www.who.int/ageing/publications/active_ageing/en/).
- (2014), The Health of the People: What Works The African Regional Health Report 2014, wно Regional Office for Africa, Luxembourg (http://apps.who. int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/137377/9789290232612.pdf?sequence=4).
- WHO-OMS (1999), *Ageing. Exploding the Myths*, World Health Organization, Geneva.

WEB REFERENCES

http://europa.eu/ey2012/BlobServlet?docId=9611&langId=en

http://cordis.europa.eu/projects/result_it?

http://eacea.ec.europa.eu/index_en.php

http://ec.europa.eu/dgs/health_food-safety/

http://ec.europa.eu/economy_finance/structural_reforms/ageing/index_en.htm http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained

http://ec.europa.eu/health/health_structural_funds/used_for_health/info_ sheets/index en.htm

http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/

http://europa.eu/geninfo/query/resultaction.jsp?

http://www.endoflifecare.nhs.uk/search-resources/resources-search/publications/the-routeto-success-in-end-of-life-care-%E2%80%93-achieving-quality-for-social-work.aspx

http://www.esifforhealth.eu/pdf/Mapping_Report_Final.pdf

http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2012/12/16104017/40201

http://www.socialwork.uw.edu/research

http://www1.unece.org/stat/platform/display/AAI/Active+Ageing+Index+Home https://cor.europa.eu/

https://ec.europa.eu/eip/ageing/funding_en

https://ec.europa.eu/health//sites/health/files/health_structural_funds/docs/ watson report.pdf

https://ec.europa.eu/programmes/horizon2020

https://www.un.org/development/desa/ageing/resources

https://www.unfpa.org/sites/default/files/pub-pdf/Older_Persons_Report.pdf www.europeansocialsurvey.org/conference/abstract-book

(�)

Section 11 Quality of Life and Lifelong Learning

- ABIDEMI A. R. (2005), *Elderly family care situation, daily activities, housing and physical wellbeing in Nigeria*, Paper submitted for presentation as poster at the International Union for the Scientific Study of Population (IUSSP/UIESP) XXV International Population Conference Tours, France, 18-23, 2005.
- ABODERIN I. (2008), Advancing health service provision for older persons and age-related non-communicable disease in Sub-Saharan Africa, A report presented at a conference on African Research on Ageing, Abuja, Nigeria, http://www.instituteofageing.uct (accessed July 16, 2017).
- ABODERIN I., BEARD J. R. (2015), Older People's Health in Sub-Saharan Africa, in "The Lancet", 385, 9968, pp. e9-e11.
- ABODERIN I., KIZITO P. (2010), *Dimensions and determinants of health in old age in Kenya*, National Coordinating Agency for Population and Development, Nairobi.
- AFRICAN UNION (2014), Fourth Session of the AU Conference of Ministers of Social Development (CAMSD4), Addis Ababa, 26-30 May 2014.
- AFU (2012), Age Friendly University, http://www.dcu.ie/agefriendly/.
- ALFAGEME A. (2007), The Clients and Functions of Spanish University Programmes for Older People: A Sociological Analysis, in "Ageing & Society", 27, 3, pp. 343-61.
- ALLEY D., CRIMMINS E. (2013), *Epidemiology of Ageing*, in D. Dannefer, C. Philipson (eds.), *The SAGE Handbook of Social Gerontology*, SAGE, London, pp. 75-95.
- ALPEROVICH V. (2004), *Demografiya, psikhologiya, sotsiologiya* [Demography, *Psychology, Sociology*], Astrel Publish, Moscow.
- ALTIERI G. (2015), L'Unione africana e le prospettive del continente in ambito sanitario, September 13, http://www.grazianoaltieri.it/2015/09/13/557/.
- AUC AFRICAN UNION COMMISSION (2015), *Agenda 2063*. *The Africa We Want*, Final Edition, Addis Abeba (http://www.un.org/en/africa/osaa/pdf/au/ agenda2063-first10yearimplementation.pdf).
- BALL S., LAMBERT M., LOMBARD J. (2015), *The Value Proposition of Age-Friendly Communities*, Grantmakers in Ageing, Arlington.
- BENEKE R. et al. (2011), Blood Lactate Diagnostics in Exercise Testing and Training, in "International Journal of Sports Physiology and Performance", 6, 1, pp. 8-24.
- BENNETT W. L., WELLS C. (2009), *Civic engagement: Bridging differences to build a field of civic learning*, in "International Journal of Learning and Media", 1, 3, pp. 1-10.
- BERGMAN H., FERRUCCI L., GURALNIK J. (2007), Frailty: An Emerging Research and Clinical Paradigm: Issues and Controversies, in "J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci", 62, 7, pp. 731-7.
- BERKOWSKY R. W., COTTON S. R., YOST E. A., WINSTEAD V. P. (2013), Attitudes Towards and Limitations to ICT Use in Assisted and Independent Living Com-

(�)

munities: Findings from a Specially-Designed Technological Intervention, in "Educational Gerontology", 39, 11, pp. 797-811.

- BLAIKIE A. (1999), *Ageing and Popular Culture*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- BORG C., FORMOSA M. (2016), When University Meets Community in Later Life, in J. Field, B. Schmidt-Hertha, A. Waxenegger (eds.), Universities and Engagement: International Perspectives on Higher Education and Lifelong Learning, Routledge, New York, pp. 105-16.
- BOULTON-LEWIS G. M. (2010), *Education and Learning for the Elderly: Why, How, What*, in "Educational Gerontology", 36, 3, pp. 213-28.
- BRADY E. M., HOLT S., WELT B. (2003), *Peer Teaching in Lifelong Learning Institutes*, in "Educational Gerontology", 29, 10, pp. 851-68.
- BRAZIL (2003), Lei nº 10.741 (Lei Ordinária), de 1º de outubro de 2003. O Estatuto do Idoso e legislação correlate, Brasília.
- BREEN R. (2007), Foundations of Neo-Weberian Class Analysis, in E. O. Wright (ed.), Approaches to Class Analysis, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 31-50.
- BROWNLIE K. (2005), Self-Help Groups, in F. J. Turner (ed.), Encyclopaedia of Canadian Social Work, Wilfred Laurier University Press, Ontario, Canada, pp. 336-7.
- BUNYAN K., JORDAN A. (2005), *Too Late for the Learning: Lessons from Older Learners*, in "Research in Post-Compulsory Education", 10, 2, pp. 267-81.
- BYNUM L. L., SEAMAN M. A. (1993), Motivations of Third-Age Students in Learning-in-Retirement Institutes, in "Continuing Higher Education Review", 57, 1-2, pp. 12-22.
- CAVAZZA G., MALVI C. (a cura di) (2014), *La fragilità degli anziani. Strategie, progetti, strumenti per invecchiare bene*, Maggioli, Santarcangelo di Romagna (RA).
- CESAREO V. (a cura di) (2007), *La distanza sociale: una ricerca nelle aree urbane italiane*, Franco Angeli, Milano.
- СОНЕN G. D. (2006), *The Mature Mind: The Positive Power of the Ageing Brain*, Basic Books, New York.
- COMUNE DI GENOVA (2013), *Notiziario Statistico. Andamento statistico della popolazione al 31 dicembre 2013*, Comune di Genova, Genova.
- CORRIGAN T., MCNAMARA G., O'HARA J. (2013), *Intergenerational Learning: A Valuable Learning Experience for Higher Education Students*, in "Eurasian Journal of Educational Research", 52, pp. 117-36.
- COX A. (2011), Age of Opportunity: Older People, Volunteering and Big Society, ResPublica, London.
- CREWTHER B. T. et al. (2015), The Effect of Oral Contraceptive Use on Salivary Testosterone Concentrations and Athlete Performance during International Field Hockey Matches, in "Physiology & Behavior", 147, pp. 84-90.
- CUMMING E., HENRY W. E. (1961), *Growing Old, the Process of Disengagement*, Basic Books, New York.

(�)

- DE LILLO A., SCHIZZEROTTO A. (1985), La valutazione sociale delle occupazioni. Una scala di stratificazione occupazionale per l'Italia contemporanea, il Mulino, Bologna.
- ELLIS B. J. (2009), University and Seniors Working Together: Engagement in a Regional Community, in "Australasian Journal of University-Community Engagement", 4, 2, pp. 6-19.
- ELLIS B. J., LEAHY M. (2009), A Mutually Beneficial Relationship: University of the Third Age and a Regional University Campus, in "Gateways: International Journal of Community Research and Engagement", 4, pp. 154-67.
- FEINSTEIN L., HAMMOND C. (2004), *The contribution of adult learning to health and social capital*, Institute of Education, University of London, London.
- FERRUCCI L., GIALLAURIA F., GURALNIK J. M. (2008), *Epidemiology of Ageing*, in "Radiologic Clinics of North America", 46, 4, pp. 643-52.
- FIELD J., SCHULLER T. (1999), *Investigating the Learning Society*, in "Studies in the Education of Adults", 31, 1, pp. 1-9.
- FINDSEN B. (2005), *Learning Later*, Krieger, Malabar (FL).
- FORMOSA M. (2000), Older Adult Education in a Maltese University of the Third Age: A Critical Perspective, in "Education and Ageing", 15, 3, pp. 315-39.
- (2005), Feminism and Critical Educational Gerontology: An Agenda for Good Practice, in "Ageing International", 30, 4, pp. 396-411.
- (2007), A Bourdieusian Interpretation of the University of the Third Age in Malta, in "Journal of Maltese Education Research", 4, 2, pp. 1-16.
- (2010), Lifelong Learning in Later Life: The Universities of the Third Age, in "Lifelong Learning Institute Review", 5, pp. 1-12.
- (2012), Education and Older Adults at the University of the Third Age, in "Educational Gerontology", 38, 1, pp. 1-13.
- FREEDMAN M. (1999), Prime Time: How Baby Boomers will Revolutionise Retirement and Transform America, Public Affairs, New York.
- GEYETS V. (2009), *Society, State, Economy: Phenomenology of Interaction*, in V. Geyets, *NAS of Ukraine*, Institute of Economics, Kiev.
- GIARELLI G. (2013), Politiche per la salute basate sull'evidenza: il caso dell'invecchiamento sano e attivo, in "Famiglia e comunità", 89.
- GILLEARD C., HIGGS P. (2000), *Cultures of Ageing: Self, Citizen and the Body*, Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, New Jersey.
- GLADDISH L. (2010), Learning, Participation and Choice: A Guide for Facilitating Older Learners, NIACE, Leicester.
- GLENDENNING F. (2001), *Education for Older Adults*, in "International Journal of Lifelong Education", 20, 1-2, pp. 63-70.
- HE W., GOODKIND D., KOWAL P. (2016), *An Ageing World: 2015*, United States Census Bureau, U.S. Government Publishing Office, Washington DC.
- HEBESTREIT L. (2008), *The Role of the University of the Third Age in Meeting the Needs of Adult Learners In Victoria, Australia*, in "Australian Journal of Adult Learning", 48, 3, pp. 547-65.

۲

- HELPAGE INTERNATIONAL (2016), *The Global AgeWatch Index 2015. Report,* available from http://www.helpage.org (accessed June 2017).
- HIRSHOREN N. et al. (2002), Menstrual Cycle Effects on the Neurohumoral and Autonomic Nervous Systems Regulating the Cardiovascular System, in "The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism", 87, 4, pp. 1569-75.
- HUANG C. (2006), *The University of the Third Age in the UK: an interpretative and critical study*, in "Educational Gerontology", 35, 10, pp. 825-42.
- ILO INTERNATIONAL LABOUR ORGANISATION (2014), World Social Protection. Report 2014/15: Building Economic Recovery, Inclusive Development and Social Justice, ILO, Geneva.
- ILOSTAT (2916), *Database*, available from http://www.ilo.org/ilostat/ (accessed October 2016).
- ILYIN E. P. (2011), Rabota i lichnost. Trudogolizm, perfektsionizm, len [Work and Personality. Workaholism, Perfectionism and Laziness], Peter, Sankt-Peterburg.
- (2012), Psikhologiya vzroslosty [The Psychology of Adulthood], Peter, Sankt-Peterburg.
- INTERNATIONAL LABOUR ORGANISATION (ILO)(1958), Discrimination (Employment and Occupation) Convention No.111, 1958, available at http://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=NORMLEXPUB:12100:0::NO::P12100_ILO_CODE:C111.
- INTERNATIONAL LONGEVITY CENTRE BRAZIL (2015), *Active Ageing: A Policy Framework in Response to the Longevity Revolution*, Elphos, Rio de Janeiro.
- JAMES K. T. (2008), *Rethinking Art Education for Older Adults: An Ethnographic Study of the University of the Third Age*, A dissertation in art education submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy, The Pennsylvania State University, College of Arts and Architecture.
- JARVIS P. (2001), *Learning in Later Life: An Introduction for Educators and Car*ers, Kogan Page, London.
- JENKINS A. (2011), *Participation in Learning and Wellbeing Among Older Adults*, in "International Journal of Lifelong Education", 30, 3, pp. 403-20.
- (2012), *Participation in Learning and Depressive Symptoms*, in "Educational Gerontology", 38, 9, pp. 595-603.
- JENKINS A., MOSTAFA T. (2015), *The Effects of Learning on Wellbeing for Older Adults in England*, in "Ageing and Society", 35, 10, pp. 2053-70.
- JENKINS A., WIGGINS R. D. (2015), *Pathways from Adult Education to Wellbeing: The Tuijnman Model Revisited*, in "International Review of Education", 61, 1, pp. 79-97.
- KAKWANI N., SUBBARAO K. (2007), *Poverty Among the Elderly in Sub-Saharan Africa and the Role of Social Pensions*, in "The Journal of Development Studies", 43, 6, pp. 987-1008.

(�)

- KATZ S. (1983), Assessing Self-maintenance: Activities of Daily Living, Mobility, and Instrumental Activities of Daily Living, in "JAGS", 31, 12, pp. 721-6.
- (2007), Cultural Ageing: Life Course, Lifestyles, and Senior Worlds, University of Toronto Press, Toronto.
- KELLER C. (2014), Experience Matters: The University Opens Doors to Serve, Learn from Older Adults, in "Arizona State University [ASU] Magazine", 17, 3, pp. 32-41.
- KIM A., MERRIAM S. B. (2004), Motivations for Learning Among Older Adults in a Learning in Retirement Institute, in "Educational Gerontology", 30, 6, pp. 441-55.
- KIMOKOTI R. W., HAMER D. H. (2008), *Nutrition, Health, and Ageing in Sub-Saharan Africa*, in "Nutrition Reviews", 66, 11, pp. 611-23.
- KIVNICK H. Q., PRUCHNO R. (2011), *Bridges and Boundaries: Humanities and Arts Enhance Gerontology*, in "The Gerontologist", 51, 2, pp. 142-4.
- KOLLAND F., LUDESCHER M., WAXENEGGER A. (2016), Research-Practice Partnership, in J. Field, B. Schmidt-Hertha, A. Waxenegger (eds.), Universities and Engagement: International Perspectives on Higher Education and Lifelong Learning, Routledge, New York, pp. 24-36.
- KOWAL P. (2012), Data Resource Profile: The World Health Organisation Study on Global AGEing and Adult Health (SAGE), in "International Journal Epidemiology", 41, 6, pp. 1639-49.
- KUMP S., KRAŠOVEC S. J. (2007), *Education: a Possibility for Empowering Older Adults*, in "International Journal of Lifelong Education", 26, 6, pp. 635-49.
- *Labour Code of Ukraine* (2017), available at http://urist-ua.net/кодекси кодекс_ законів_ про_ працю_ україни/.
- LAMB R., BRADY E. M. (2005), *Participation in Lifelong Learning Institutes: What Turns Members on?*, in "Educational Gerontology", 31, 3, pp. 207-24.
- LASLETT P. (1989), A Fresh Map of Life: The Emergence of the Third Age, Macmillan Press, London.
- LAWTON M., BRODY E. (1969), Assessment of Older People: Self-Maintaining and Instrumental Activities of Daily Living, in "The Gerontologist", 9, 2, pp. 179-86.
- LAZOVIC B. et al. (2015), Respiratory Adaptations in Different Types of Sport, in "European Review for Medical and Pharmacological Sciences, 19, 12, pp. 2269-74.
- LEMIEUX A. (1995), *The University of the Third Age: Role of Senior Citizens*, in "Educational Gerontology", 21, 4, pp. 337-44.
- LEVESQUE J.-L. (2006), *What Kinds of Futures for U3As?*, available at http://www.aiuta.org/documents/workshopfederici.pdf (accessed June 7 2011).
- LIVI BACCI M. (2015), *Il pianeta stretto*, il Mulino, Bologna.
- LUDESCHER M. (2016), Something for Older People? Research-Based General Education and University Lifelong Learning, in J. Field, B. Schmidt-Hertha, A. Waxenegger (eds.), Universities and engagement: International perspectives on higher education and lifelong learning, Routledge, New York, pp. 179-91.

 (\clubsuit)

- MACUT D. et al. (2015), The Influence of Combined Oral Contraceptives Containing Drospirenone on Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Adrenocortical Axis Activity and Glucocorticoid Receptor Expression and Function in Women with Polycystic Ovary Syndrome, in "Hormones (Athens)", 14, 1, pp. 109-17.
- MAMMADZADE R. H. (2005), *Tehsilde keyfiyyet aparıjı istiqametlerden biri kimi*, Bakı, Musllim, "Yashlıların tehsili" movzusunda kecirilmish beynalkhalq ve milli konfransların beyannameleri, Sherqin sesi, Bakı (in Azerbaijani).
- MANHEIMER R. J. (1998), *The Promise and Politics of Older Adult Education*, in "Research on Ageing", 20, 4, pp. 391-414.
- (2005), The Older Learner's Journey to an Ageless Society Lifelong Learning on the Brink of a Crisis, in "Journal of Transformative Education", 3, 3, pp. 198-220.
- MARK R., BISSLAND V., HART L. (2016), Unlocking Potential for Later Life Learning: Engaging Adults in Their Own Learning in a University Lifelong Learning Setting, in J. Field, B. Schmidt-Hertha, A. Waxenegger (eds.), Universities and engagement: International Perspectives on Higher Education and Lifelong Learning, Routledge, New York, pp. 192-202.
- MARK R., HART L. (2013), 25 Years Learning in Later Life, University of Strathclyde, Glasgow.
- MEHRABOV A. O. (2010), *Muasir tehsilin konseptual problemleri*, Muterjim, Bakı (in Azerbaijani).
- MERRILL S. S., SEEMAN T. E., KASL S. V., BERKMAN L. F. (1997), Gender Differences in the Comparison of Self-Reported Disability and Performance Measures, in "Journal of Gerontology. Medical Sciences", 52, 1, pp. 19-26.
- METZELTHIN S. F. et al. (2010), The Psychometric Properties of Three Self-Report Screening Instruments for Identifying Frail Older People in the Community, in "BMC Public Health", 10, 1, p. 176.
- MIDWINTER E. (1984), *Universities of the Third Age: English Version*, in E. Midwinter (ed.), *Mutual Aid Universities*, Croom Helm Ltd., Kent, pp. 3-19.
- (1996), *U3A Thriving People*, The Third Age Trust, London.
- (2004), 500 Beacons: The U3A Story, Third Age Trust, London.
- MOORMAN C., MATULICH E. (1993), A Model of Consumers' Preventive Health Behaviors: The Role of Health Motivation and Health Ability, in "Journal of Consumer Research", 20, 2, pp. 208-28.
- MORLEY J., MALMSTROM T. K., MILLER D. K. (2012), A Simple Frailty Questionnaire (FRAIL) Predicts Outcomes in Middle Aged African Americans, in "The Journal of Nutrition, Health & Ageing", 16, 7, pp. 601-8.
- MORRIS D. (1984), Universities of the Third Age, in "Adult Education", 57, 2, pp. 135-9.
- MUELLER T. (2014), Experience Matters: The University Opens Doors to Serve, Learn from Older Adults, in "Arizona State University [ASU] Magazine", 17, 3, pp. 32-41.

(�)

- MURPHY E. (2015), An Exploration of UDL and Interaction Design to Enhance the Experiences of Older Adult Learners, in proceedings, "AHEAD Universal Design for Learning: A License to Learn", Dublin Castle, March 19-20.
- NATIONAL OFFICE OF STATISTICS (2009), *Demographic Review 2008*, National Statistics Office, Valletta.
- NATIONAL SENIORS AUSTRALIA (2010), *Later Life Learning: Unlocking the Potential for Productive Ageing*, National Seniors Australia Productive Ageing Centre, Canberra.
- OECD (2015), *Youth Unemployment Rate*, available at https://data.oecd.org/unemp/youth-unemployment-rate.html.
- OMAN D., REED D., FERRARA A. (1999), *Do Elderly Women Have More Physical Disability than Men Do?*, in "American Journal of Epidemiology", 150, 8, pp. 834-42.
- OPPONG C. (2006), Familial Roles and Social Transformations. Older Men and Women in Sub-Saharan Africa, in "SAGE Journal", 28, 6, pp. 654-68.
- ORDONEZ T. N., LIMA-SILVA T. B., CACHIONI M. (2011), Subjective and psychological well-being of students of a University of the Third Age, in "Dementia e Neuropsychologia", 5, 3, pp. 216-25.
- ORGANIZAÇÃO PAN-AMERICANA DA SAÚDE OPAS OMS (2005), *Envelhecimento Ativo: uma Política De Saúde*, Brasília.
- PARKS R., EVANS B., GETCH Y. (2013), *Motivations and Enculturation of older Students Returning to a Traditional University*, in "New Horizons in Adult Education and Human Resource Development", 25, 3, pp. 62-75.
- PERCY K. (1993), Working and Learning Together: European Initiatives with Older People, A report of the annual conference of the Association of Educational Gerontology held in 1993, the European Year of Older People and Solidarity between Generations, Glasgow, Scotland, United Kingdom, July, 1-4, 1993.
- PHILIBERT M. (1984), Contemplating the Universities of the Third Age, in E. Midwinter (ed.), Mutual Aid Universities, Croom Helm Ltd., Kent, pp. 51-60.
- PICTON C., LIDGARD C. (1997), *Developing U3.A*, in "Third Age Learning International Studies", 7, pp. 219-24.
- POGODINA S. V., ALEKSANYANTS G. D. (2015), The Heart Rate Variability and Hemodynamic Response of the Female Athletes in the Age Range of 17-45 Years, in Materialy v mezhdunarodnoi nauchno-prakticheskoi konferencii "Fundamental'nye i prikladnye nauki segodnya, March 30-31, North Charleston (USA).
- (2016), Adaptive Changes in Glucocorticoid Activity in Elite Athletes of Different Sex and Age Groups, in "Teoriya i pracktika fizicheskoy kultury", 9, pp. 49-52.
- POLI S. (2014), *Beyond Stereotypes Talent Resources and Social Activity among the Postmodern Elderly*, in "Research on Ageing and Social Policies", 2, 1, July, pp. 58-86.
- POLI S. et al. (2016), Frailty is Asociated with Socioeconomic and Lifestyle Factors in Community-Dwelling Older Subjects, in "Ageing Clinical and Experimental Research", August, pp. 1-8.

(�)

- POLI S., PANDOLFINI V. (2016), The Incidence of Social Factors on Elderly Frailty Evidences from a First Methodological Application of the Frail Scale in Italy, in "Bulletin of Sociological Methodology/Bulletin de Méthodologie Sociologique", May, pp. 1-9.
- PRESIDÊNCIA DA REPÚBLICA, SECRETARIA ESPECIAL DOS DIREITOS HUMA-NOS (2005), *Direitos Humanos e Pessoa Idosa*, LGE Editora, Brasília.
- (2010), Anais da 2ª CNDPI Conferência Nacional dos Direitos da Pessoa Idosa: Avaliação da Rede Nacional de Proteção e Defesa dos Direitos da Pessoa Idosa –Avanços e Desafios, Brasília.
- (2012), *Dados sobre o envelhecimento no Brasil*, Brasília.
- (2013), Dez Anos do Conselho Nacional dos Direitos do Idoso. Repertórios e Implicações de um Processo Democrático, Brasília.
- (2015), Balanço Semestral do Disque Direitos Humanos. Disque 100, Brasília.
- PRINCIPI A., LAMURA G. (2009), *Education for Older People in Italy*, in "Educational Gerontology", 35, 3, pp. 246-59.
- PUTNAM R. (2000), Bowling Alone: The Collapse and Revival of American Community, Simon and Schuster, New York.
- RADCLIFFE D. (1984), *The International Perspective of U3As*, in E. Midwinter (ed.), *Mutual Aid Universities*, Croom Helm Ltd., Kent, pp. 61-71.
- RAZAFINDRAKOTO G. (2016), *Gender Equity in Madagascar*, in "World Policy Journal", March 15 (https://worldpolicy.org/2016/03/15/gender-equity-in-madagascar/).
- RILEY M. W., RILEY J. W. JR (1994), *Structural Lag: Past and Future*, in M. W. Riley, R. L. Kahn, A. Foner (eds.), *Age and Structural Lag*, John Wiley & Sons, New York, Inc., pp. 15-36.
- ROSE A. (2004). Defining and measuring economic resilience to disasters, *Disaster Prevention and Management*, 13, pp. 307-14.
- (2007), Economic Resilience to Disasters: Multidisciplinary Origins and Contextual Dimensions, in "Environmental Hazards: Human and Social Dimensions", 7, 4, pp. 383-98.
- ROSEN J. L., NEUGARTEN B. L. (1960), *Ego Functions in Middle and Later Years: A Thematic Apperception Study of Normal Adults*, in "Journal of Gerontology", 15, pp. 62-7.
- ROWE J. W., KAHN R. L. (1987), *Human Ageing: Useful and Successful*, in "Science", 237, 4811, pp. 143-9.
- RUBENSON K. (1998), *Adults' Readiness to Learn: Questioning lifelong learning for all*, in "Proceedings of the Adult Education Research Conference", 39, pp. 257-62.
- SACHS J. D. (2011), *Macroeconomics and Health: Investing in Health for Economic Development*. World Health Organisation, Marketing and Dissemination, Geneva.
- SCHMIDT-HERTHA B. (2016), Intergenerational Learning at the University, in J. Field J., B. Schmidt-Hertha, A. Waxenegger (eds.), Universities and Engage-

۲

ment: International Perspectives on Higher Education and Lifelong Learning, Routledge, New York, pp. 165-78.

- SCHULLER T., WATSON D. (2003), *Learning Through Life: Inquiry into Future for Lifelong Learning*, National Institute of Adult Continuing Education (England and Wales), Leicester.
- SCOTT A., WENGER G. C. (1995), Gender and Social Support Networks in Later Life, in S. Arber, J. Ginn (eds.), Connecting Gender and Ageing: A Sociological Approach, Open University Press, Buckingham, pp. 158-72.
- SELWYN N., GORARD S., FURLONG J., MADDEN L. (2003), Older Adults' Use of Information and Communications Technology in Everyday Life, in "Ageing and Society", 23, 5, pp. 561-82.
- SLOWEY M. (2015), Intergenerational Equality and Higher Education: Towards an Age-Friendly Higher Education?, in P. Zaga, U. Teichler, H. G. Schuetze, A. Wolter (eds.), Higher Education Reform: Looking Back: Looking Forward, Peter Lang, Frankfurt am Main.
- (2008), Age Is Just a Number? Rethinking Learning over the Lifecourse, in "Ageing Horizons", 8, pp. 22-30.
- SLOWEY M., MURPHY E., POLITIS Y. (2014), Contributing to an Evidence Base for the Enhancement of the Experiences and Outcomes of Mature Students at an Irish University, in B. Culum, Y. Politis, F. M. Ribeiro (eds.), New Voices in Higher Education Research and Scholarship, IGI Global, Hershey, pp. 191-212.
- SONATI J. G., MODENEZEA D. M., VILARTAA R., MACIELB E. S., BOCCALETTOA E., DA SILVA C. (2011), *Body Composition and Quality of Life of the Elderly Offered by the 'University Third Age' in Brazil*, in "Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics", 52, pp. 32-5.
- STESSMAN J. et al. (2009), Physical Activity, Function, and Longevity Among the Very Old, in "Archives of Internal Medicine", 169, 16, pp. 1476-83.
- STUART-HAMILTON I. (2012), *The Psychology of Ageing*, Jessika Kingsley Publisher, London-Philadelphia.
- SWINDELL R. F. (1993), *U3A in Australia: A Model for Successful Ageing*, in "Ageing & Society", 13, 2, pp. 245-66.
- (1999), New Directions, Opportunities and Challenges for New Zealand U3As, in "New Zealand Journal of Adult Learning", 27, 1, pp. 41-57.
- (2012), Successful Ageing and International Approaches to Later-Life Learning, in G. Boulton-Lewis, M. Tam (eds.), Active Ageing, Active Learning: Issues and Challenges, Springer, Dordrecht (Netherlands), pp. 35-63.
- SWINDELL R. F., VASSELLA K., MORGAN L., SAYER T. (2010), Universities of the Third Age in Australia and New Zealand: Capitalising on the cognitive resources of older volunteers, in "Australasian Journal on Ageing", early view – online version of record published before inclusion in an issue.
- TIMMERMANN S. (1998), *The Role of Information Technology in Older Adult Learning*, in "New Directions for Adult and Continuing Education", 77, pp. 61-71.

()

۲

- TOWNSEND P. (2007), Using Human Rights to Defeat Ageism: Dealing with Policy-induced 'Structured Dependency', in M. Bernard, T. Scharf (eds.), Critical Perspectives on Ageing Societies, The Policy Press, Bristol, pp. 27-44.
- UNITED NATIONS (1948), *Universal Declaration of Human Rights*, Resolution 217A, Paris.
- (2002), Political Declaration Madrid International Plan of Action on Ageing, United Nations, Madrid-New York.
- (2002a), Report of the Second World Assembly on Issues of Ageing, Madrid, 8-12 April, New York (available at http://www.un.org/en/events/pastevents/ageing_assembly2.shtml).
- (2012), Population Ageing and Development 2012. United Nations Population Division, New York.
- (2013), Africa Regional Consultative Meeting on the Sustainable Development Goals. Outcome Document, United Nations Economic Commission for Africa, Addis Ababa.
- (2015), *World Population Ageing 2015*, United Nations, New York.
- (2015a), The Millennium Development Goals, Report 2015, United Nations, New York.
- (2015b), 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development and Its 17 Sustainable Development Goals.
- (2016), As Ageing Population Rapidly Grows, Rights of Older Women Must Be Prioritized, Speakers Say on Commission Session's Third Day, WOM/2072, 16 March 2016.
- (2016a), Population Division, Sub-Saharan Africa's Growing Population of Older Persons, in "Population Facts", 1, pp. 1-2.
- (2017), Word Population Prospect: The 2017 Revision, DESA-Population Division, New York.
- VELLAS P. (1997), *Genesis and Aims of the Universities of the Third Age*, in "European Network Bulletin", 1, pp. 9-12.
- WEISS R. S., BASS S. A. (2002), *Introduction*, in R. S. Weiss, S. A. Bass (eds.), *Challenges of the Third Age: Meaning and Purpose in Later Life*, Oxford University Press, New York, pp. 3-12.
- WELLS G. (1999), *Dialogic Inquiry: Towards a Sociocultural Practice and Theory of Education*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- WHO (2002), *Active Ageing: A Policy Framework*, World Health Organisation, Geneva (http://www.who.int/ageing/publications/active_ageing/en/).
- (2014), The Health of the People: What Works The African Regional Health Report 2014, wно Regional Office for Africa, Luxembourg (http://apps.who. int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/137377/9789290232612.pdf?sequence=4).
- WILLIAMSON A. (1997), 'You're never old to learn': third-age perspectives on lifelong Learning, in "International Journal of Lifelong Learning", 16, 1, pp. 173-84.

(�)

- (2000), Gender differences in older adults' participation in learning: Viewpoints and experiences of learners at the University of the Third Age (U3A), in "Educational Gerontology", 26, 1, pp. 49-66.
- WITHNALL A. (2002), *Three Decades of Educational Gerontology: Achievements* and Challenges, in "Education and Ageing", 17, 1, pp. 87-102.
- (2010), *Improving Learning in Later Life*, Routledge, London.
- (2016), Learning in Later Life: What Can Universities Do?, in J. Field, B. Schmidt-Hertha, A. Waxenegger (eds.), Universities and Engagement: International Perspectives on Higher Education and Lifelong Learning, Routledge, New York, pp. 156-66.
- WROSCH C., SCHULZ R. (2008), *Health-Engagement Control Strategies and 2-Year Changes in Older Adults' Physical Health*, in "Psychological Science", 19, 6, pp. 537-41.
- YENERALL J. (2003), *Educating an ageing society: The University of the Third Age in Finland*, in "Educational Gerontology", 29, 8, pp. 703-16.
- ZIELIŃSKA-WIĘCZKOWSKA H., CIEMNOCZOŁOWSKI W., KEDZIORA-KORNA-TOWSKA K., MARTA MUSZALIK M. (2012), The Sense of Coherence (SOC) as an Important Determinant of Life Satisfaction, Based on Own Research, and Exemplified by the Students of University of the Third Age, in "Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics", 54, pp. 238-41.
- ZIELIŃSKA-WIĘCZKOWSKA H., KEDZIORA-KORNATOWSKA K., CIEMNOCZO-ŁOWSKIC W. (2011), Evaluation of quality of life of students of the University of Third Age on the basis of socio-demographic factors and health status, in "Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics", 53, pp. 198-202.
- ZINCHENKO A. U., ALEKSANYANTS G. D. (2015), *Basic Hemodynamic Parameters in Highly Skilled Acrobats*, proceeding "International Scientific Conference 'Modern science technologies'", Spain (Tenerife), November 20-27, in "European Journal of Natural History", 5, p. 39.
- ZRINŠČAK S., LAWRENCE S. (2017), *Active Ageing and Demographic Change*, Routledge, London.

WEB REFERENCES

https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/

http.//www.helpage.org

https://www.dcu.ie/

http://dcu.ie/agefriendly/principles.shtml/.

http://dspace.nbuv.gov.ua/xmlui/handle/123456789/11874.

http://encore.org/encoreu/.

http://ilcbrazil.org/

http://m.lent.az/news/229391

http://olaylar.az/news/sosial/156034

()

۲

http://www.brasil.gov.br/cidadania-e-justica/2014/11/escolaridade-das-mul-
heres-aumenta-em-relacao-a-dos-homens
http://www.geopolitica-online.com
http://www.ibge.gov.br/apps/snig/v1/?loc=0&cat=&tema=4691
http://www.idss.org.ua/
http://www.mlsp.gov.ua/labour/control/uk/index.
http://www.planalto.gov.br/ccivil_03/leis/2003/L10.741.htm
http://www.sdh.gov.br/assuntos/pessoa-idosa/dados-estatisticos/Dadossobre- oenvelhecimentonoBrasil.pdf
http://www.sdh.gov.br/disque-direitos-humanos/disque-direitos-humanos
http://www.sdh.gov.br/sobre/participacao-social/conselho-nacional-dos-di- reitos-do-Idoso-CNDI
http://www.un.org/en/development/desa/population/publications/pdf/age- ing/WPA2015_Report.pdf
http://www.unrisd.org/80256B3C005BCCF9/(httpAuxPages)/ 692F0A3443IA3D78CI257D08003FBD40/\$file/Sidorenko.pdf
http://www.worldpolicy.org
http://www2.camara.leg.br/responsabilidade-social/acessibilidade/legislacao- pdf/Legislaoidoso.pdf
https://www.cia.gov/library
https://www.dcu.ie/researchsupport/index.shtml/.
https://www.populationpyramid.net
www.africa-union.org

Section III

Third Age and Activity: Hypothesis and Experiences

- AKAYEV A. A. (2009), Modern Financial and Economic Crisis in Light of the Theory of Innovative and Technological Development of Economy and Management of Innovative Process. System Monitoring: Global and Regional Development, LIBROKOM Book house, Moscow (in Russian).
- ALIFANOVA L. I. (2014), *Educational-Methodical Allowance on Discipline Gerontology*, Volga Region State University of Service, VRSUS, pp. 52-4 (http://elib. tolgas.ru).
- ALPEROVICH V. D. (1998), Starost'. Sotsialno-filosofskiy Analiz [The Old Age. Socio-Philosophical Analysis], SKNTS VSh, Rostov-na-Donu.
- ALTRAETÀ (2015), *La formazione e l'Università della Terza Età*, in "Altraeta.it", September 8 (http://www.altraeta.it/la-formazione-e-luniversita-della-terza-eta/).
- ASHENFELTER O. C. (1981), *The Economic Impact of an Older Population: A Brief Survey*, in A. J. J. Gilmore *et al.* (eds.). *Aging: A Challenge to Science and Society*, Oxford University Press, Oxford, vol. 2, pp. 333-40.

(�)

BAŠKOVÁ M. *et al.* (2009), *Výchova k zdraviu*, Osveta, Martin.

BENEŠ M. (2003), Andragogika teoretické základy, Eurolex Bohemia, Praha.

- BLUNDELL R., BOZIO A., LAROQUE G. (2013), *Extensive and Intensive Margins of Labour Supply*, in "Fiscal Studies", 34, 1, pp. 1-29.
- CEDEFOP (2007), Sharing Knowledge About Vocational Education and Training, available at http://www.cedefop.europa.eu/files/8105_en.pdf.

Constitution of the Russian Federation: official text as amended, with introduced RF Laws on amendments to the RF Constitution from 30.12.2008. No. 6-FKZ, No. 7-FKZ, from 05.02.2014 No. 2-FKZ, from 21.07.2014, No. 11-FKZ. (2015), Norma, Moskow.

DIPARTIMENTO PER LE POLITICHE DEL PERSONALE DELL'AMMINISTRAZIONE CIVILE E PER LE RISORSE STRUMENTALI E FINANZIARIE (2014), *Censimento delle strutture per anziani*, http://culturaprofessionale.interno.gov.it/FILES/ docs/1260/Censimento%20strutture%20di%20accoglienza%20per%20anziani%20anno%202014%20-%20Quadro%20completo%20.pdf.

EUROPEAN COMMISSION (2010), *Empowering People, Driving Change: Social Innovation in the European Union*, Bureau of European Policy Advisers (BEPA), Brussels.

- FREEMAN R. B. (1987), Labour Economics, in J. Eatwell, M. Milgate, P. Newman (eds.), The New Palgrave: A Dictionary of Economics, Macmillan, London, vol. 3, pp. 72-6.
- GAGARINSKAIA G. P. (2016), Peculiarities of Management of Labour Potential of People of Third Age, in D. Spulber (ed.), Innovative Approach to the Labour of People of Third Age Education Labour Potential and Entrepreneurship, University press SAMSTU, Samara, pp. 93-110.

GAGARINSKAIA G. P., KUZNETCOVA I. G., SPULBER D. (2015), System for Motivation and Encouragement of the Work Activity of the Workers in Organisations: Theoretical and Practical Aspects: Monograph, Samarsky Gos. Tekhn. Univ., Samara.

GRACOVÁ D. (2014), Charakteristika systému edukácie seniorov v SR so zameraním na aktívne starnutie, in M. Krystoň, M. Šerák, L. Tomczyk, Nové trendy ve vzdělávání seniorů, AIVD ČR Stowarzyszenie Gerontologów Spolecznych, Banská Bystrica-Praha-Kraków.

HARRISSON D., BOURQUE R., SZELL G. (2009), Social Innovation, the Social Economy and World Economic Development. Democracy and Labour Rights in the Era of Globalisation, Peter Lang, Frankfurt am Main.

HATÁR C. (2008), Edukácia seniorov v sociálnych zariadeniach, EFETA, Nitra.

- HOWALDT J., SCHWARZ M. (2010), Social Innovation: Concepts, Research Fields and International Trends, IMA/ ZLW, Dortmund.
- HRAPKOVÁ N. (2004), *Myšlienky k metodike vyučovania seniorov*, in *Vzdelávanie seniorov na Univerzite tretieho veku*, Zborník príspevkov z metodickéhos eminára, STU, Bratislava.

(�)

- ISTAT (2012), *Popolazione per classe di età quinquennali e sesso, indicatori di vecchiaia e di dipendenza strutturale ai censimenti 1861-2011 ai confini dell'epoca*, seriesto-riche.istat.it/fileadmin/documenti/Tavola_2.2.1.xls.
- (2016), *Indicatori demografici. Stime per l'anno 2015*, 19 febbraio 2016.

JAMES W. B., BLANK W. E. (1993), *Review and Critique of Available Learning Style Instruments for Adults*, in D. D. Flannery (ed.), *Applying Cognitive Learning Theory to Adult Learning*, New Directions for Adult and Continuing Education, n. 59, Jossey-Bass, San Francisco, pp. 47-8.

JARVIS P. (2010), *Adult Education and Lifelong Learning. Theory and Practice*, 4th edition, Routledge, New York.

KAMENEV I. G. (2014), *K voprosu o structure investitsii v chelovecheskie resursy*, 5, 89, pp. 47-56, https://creativeconomy.ru/lib/5112 (in Russian).

 (2015), Sotsialnye innovatsii v upravlenii chelovechesckimi resursami, Conference proceedengs Proceedings of the International Scientific-Practical Conference No. 2 "Aktualinye voprosy economiki i svremennogo mendjementa", ITSRON, Samara, pp. 47-57 (in Russian).

(2016), Sotsialino trudovye innovatsii kak osnova upravlenia trudovymi resursami starshikh vozvrastov, Thesis, Associate Prof. PhD (in Russian).

Концепція демографічного розвитку України на 2005-2015 роки [Concept of Demographic Development of Ukraine in 2005-2015 years] (2005), draft, available at http://dspace.nbuv.gov.ua/xmlui/handle/123456789/11874.

- KRASNOVA O. V., LIDERS A. G. (2002), Sotsial'naya psikhologi stareniya [Social Psychology of Ageing], Akademiya, Moscow.
- KRYSTOŇ M. (2013), Systémové charakteristiky edukácie seniorov v Slovenskej republike, in R. Kocianová, M. Dvořáková (eds.), Vzdělávání a rozvoj seniorů, Filozofická fakulta Univerzity Karlovy, Praha, pp. 16-27.
- KRYSTOŇ M., KARIKOVÁ S. (2015), *Vzdelávanie seniorov: andragogické, geragogické a psychologické východiská*, UMB Belianum, Banská Bystrica.
- MENARD C., SHIRLEY M. (2008), *Handbook of New Institutional Economics*, Springer, Boston-New York-Berlin-Dordrecht.
- MUOVERSINSIEME (2014), Vivere la terza età. E se mi iscrivessi all'Università?, in "Muoversinsieme.it" November 2, http://www.muoversinsieme.it/vivere-terza-eta/e-se-mi-iscrivessi-alluniversita/.
- OECD (2017), *Measuring Innovation in Education*, available at http://www.oecd. org/education/measuring-innovation-in-education.htm#ES.
- PODMANICKÁ Z. (2012), *Rešpektujme ľudský život v jeho celistvosti*, in *Obyvateľstvo Slovenskej republiky v kontexte Európskeho roku aktívneho starnutia*, Štatistický úrad SR, Bratislava, available at http://www.statistics.sk.
- POLTEROVICH V. M. (1999), *Institutional Catches in the Reform*, http://members. tripod.com/VM_Polterovich/ep99001.pdf (in Russian).
- POPOVIČ D. (2011), *Teoretické východiská skúmania kvality života*, in *Kvalita života v podmienkach globalizácie*, Zborník príspevkov z vedeckej konferencie Štatistického úradu SR, Bratislava.

(�)

- POTASHNIKOVA G. I. (2012), *Demograficheskiy portret Rosii XXI veca*, Samara (in Russian).
- PRUSÁKOVÁ V. (1994), Osobitosti vzdelávania ľudí staršieho veku, in Obohacovanie života starších ľudí edukatívnymi aktivitami, NOC, Bratislava.
- (1996), Andragogika súčasný stav a perspektívy vývoja na Slovensku, in "Pedagogická revue", 48, 3-4, pp. 106-7.
- PRUSÁKOVÁ V. *et al.* (2001), *Vzdelávanie dospelých v pôsobnosti miest a obcí*, STIMUL, Bratislava.
- *Ptukha Institute of Demography and Social Studies*, available at http://www.idss.org. ua/ (in Russian).
- REGIONE PIEMONTE (2016), Censimento 2015 (estensione 2016) delle attività delle "Università popolari e della Terza Età" e dei servizi comunali affini. Relazione ed analisi dei dati, http://www.unitrepiemonte.it/Documenti/analisicensim2016. pdf.
- RYCHTAŘÍKOVÁ J. (2011), *Demografické faktory stárnutí*, in "Demografická revue pro výzkum populačního vývoje", 2, 53, pp. 97-108, Český Statistický úřad.
- SELECKÝ E. et al. (2014), Univerzity tretieho veku na Slovensku, TU, Zvolen.
- SHARAN B. M., CAFFARELLA R. S. (1999), *Learning in Adulthood: A Comprehensive Guide*, 2rd edition, Wiley, San Francisco.
- SCHULTZ T. W. (1961), *Investment in Human Capital*, in "The American Economic Review", 51, 1, pp. 1-17.
- SIDORENKO A. (2014), Social Policy in the CIS+ Countries: the Area of Ageing, available at http://www.unrisd.org/80256B3C005BCCF9/(httpAuxPages)/ 692F0A3443IA3D78CI257D08003FBD40/\$file/Sidorenko.pdf.
- STOYKA A. (2016), *Liderstvo "Universitetov tretiego viku" v ekologizatsii osviti, economiki, navcolishnego seredovischia* / A. Stoyka, E Dragomirova // Mijnarodniy naucoviy jurnal "Universitet i liderstvo", No. 2, pp 24-9.
- SWINDELL R. F. (2012), Successful Ageing and International Approaches to Later-life Learning, in G. Boulton-Lewis, M. Tam (eds.), Active Ageing, Active Learning, Springer, New York, pp. 35-65.
- TERESHKINA T. R., TERESHCHENKO S. V. (2012), Main tendencies and methods in adult education, Innovative educational technologies in the training of economic and management personnel: Proceedings of the International methodological and scientific-practical conference, St. Petersburg, 17-18 May.
- UNDP (2002), Human Development: Definition, Concept and Larger Context, in Arab Human Development Report 2002, United Nations Publications, New York (http://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/rbas_ahdr2002_en.pdf).
- UNITED NATIONS (2002), *Report of the Second World Assembly on Issues of Ageing*, Madrid, 8-12 April, New York (available at http://www.un.org/en/events/ pastevents/ageing_assembly2.shtml).
- UNITED NATIONS DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME (2015), *The UNDP's Human Development Report 2015*, available at hdr.undp.org/en/rethinking-work-for-human-development.

۲

- UNITED NATIONS ECONOMIC COMMISSION FOR EUROPE (2009), Integration and Participation of Older Persons in Society, in "UNECE Policy Brief on Ageing", 4, November, // http://www.unece.org/fileadmin/DAM/pau/_docs/ age/2009/Policy_briefs/4-Policybrief_Participation_Eng.pdf.
- UNITRE (2015), *Regolamento allo statuto nazionale*, http://www.unitre.net/unitre/ Chi_Siamo_files/REGOLAMENTO%20STATUTO%20NAZIONALE%20-%20 approvato%207%2011%202015.pdf).
- VISHNEVSKY A. G., BOBYLEV S. N. (2009), Doclad o razvitii chelovecheskogo potentsiala v Rossiiscoy Federatsii za 2008, Moscow (in Russian).
- WHO (2000), In a Society for all Ages Active Ageing Makes the Difference, http:// www.who.int/ageing/publications/alc_embrace2001_en.pdf
- (2002), Active Ageing: A Policy Framework, World Health Organisation, Geneva (http://www.who.int/ageing/publications/active_ageing/en/).
- YATSEMIRSKAYA R. S., KHOKHLOVAL N. (2006), *Sotsialino demografichescaya situatsia v sovremenoy Rossii*, http://sir35.narod.ru/Karla/S_0806.htm#N1.
- ZELIKOVA YU. A. (2014), *Ageing Europe: Demography, Politics, Sociology*, Norma, Sankt-Peterburg.

WEB REFERENCES

http://www.senato.it http://www.unieda.it/ http://www.unitre.net/ www.auser.it/ www.federuni.it/ www.gov.spb.ru www.interno.gov.it www.istat.it/ www.kino3age.ru www.petrostat.gks.ru www.regione.piemonte.it/ www.seniorschool.ru/?page_id=42 http://www.ukrstat.gov.ua/ https://www.unece.org/fileadmin/DAM/pau/age/country_rpts/ukr_report.pdf www.u3a.niuitmo.ru http://zakon5.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/148-2016-%D0%BF.

()

